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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (stock code: 3320) is a leading
integrated pharmaceutical company in China. Our business encompasses
manufacturing, distribution and retail of pharmaceutical and healthcare
products. Since the establishment in 2007, the Group has developed into one
of the fifth largest pharmaceutical manufacturers and one of the third largest
pharmaceutical distributors (by revenue) in China.

In October 2016, the Company successfully completed its global offering in
Hong Kong. Our manufacturing business encompasses the research and
development, manufacturing and sale of pharmaceutical products. We
manufacture 796 products comprising chemical drugs, Chinese medicines and
biological drugs as well as nutritional and healthcare products, covering a
wide range of therapeutic areas including cardiovascular, alimentary tract and
metabolism, large-volume IV infusion, pediatrics, respiratory system,
dermatology, etc. Moreover, we own a range of famous brands, such as
“999", "Dong-E-E-Jiao”, “Double Crane”, “Zizhu”, “Jiangzhong”, “Boya”
and "KPC", covering therapeutic areas including cold, gastroenterology,
dermatology, pediatrics, orthopedics, plasma products, among others. In
future, we will actively expand into health management and products for
chronic disease management to meet the full-cycle and multi-dimensional
healthcare needs of Chinese households from prevention, healthcare, therapy
to recovery.

We regard R&D and product innovation as important drivers for our long-term
growth and consistently increase the investment in R&D activities. We operate
one national key laboratory, five national engineering technology research
centers, one national industrial innovation center, three national enterprise
technology centers and over 70 provincial R&D platforms, with a R&D team
comprising over 2,700 staff members.

Leveraging our comprehensive product supply and wide distribution networks,
we directly distribute products to hospitals and other medical institutions
across the country. We operate a national distribution network comprising
over 230 logistics centers strategically across 28 provinces, municipalities and
autonomous regions in China, with around 240,000 clients, including 10,667
second- and third-class hospitals and approximately 100,000 primary medical
institution clients. In addition, we operate one of the largest retail pharmacy
networks in China, comprising 790 retail pharmacies under national or
regional premium brands — “CR Care (¥ 8 %) " and “Teck Soon Hong (12
{£77) ", including 272 DTP specialty pharmacies (which cover 153 “dual
channel (#3#38) " pharmacies).
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Han Yuewei

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong
(appointed Chief Financial Officer on 13 June 2023)
(appointed Executive Director on 27 December 2023)

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
Mdm. Weng Jingwen
(resigned on 13 June 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mdm. Guo Wei

(appointed on 13 February 2023)
Mr. Sun Yonggiang

(appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mr. Hou Bo
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang
Mr. Lin Guolong

(resigned on 27 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne (Chairman)
Mdm. Guo Wei
(appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun
Mr. Fu Tingmei
Mr. Zhang Kejian
Mr. Lin Guolong
(resigned on 27 December 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Han Yuewei (Chairman)
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Yonggiang
(appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
Mr. Fu Tingmei
Mr. Zhang Kejian
Mr. Lin Guolong
(resigned on 27 December 2023)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Fu Tingmei (Chairman)

Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Zhang Kejian

Mdm. Weng Jingwen
(resigned on 13 June 2023)
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Corporate Information

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman)
Mdm. Deng Rong
(appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mr. Tao Ran
Mdm. Weng Jingwen
(resigned on 13 June 2023)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Bai Xiaosong
Mr. So Yiu Fung

(appointed on 13 June 2023)
Mdm. Weng Jingwen

(resigned on 13 June 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. So Yiu Fung

(appointed on 13 June 2023)
Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter

(resigned on 13 June 2023)

LEGAL ADVISORS

Clifford Chance
Jia Yuan Law Offices

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with the Accounting
and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

REGISTERED OFFICE
41/F, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
Agricultural Bank of China Beijing Xicheng Sub-Branch
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Beijing Haidian Sub-Branch

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China Construction Bank Beijing Railway Sub-Branch
China Development Bank Beijing Branch

China Merchants Bank Beijing Branch

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Wangfujing Sub-Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

MUFG Bank, Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Overseas-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Postal Savings Bank of China, Beijing Haidian Sub-branch
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

The Export-Import Bank of China

The Export-Import Bank of China Beijing Branch

United Overseas Bank Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Strategic Financial Relations Limited

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

http://www.crpharm.com

STOCK CODE
3320
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BATRE -

RRBFAE ]
‘AGM”

[MAMERAA

“Articles of Association”

ERBEBEEEARETIRA

“Beijing Pharmaceutical”

-

“Board”
[HEREE |

“BSCcomMC”

[{EERSTAI]
“CG Code”

[ |
“China” or “PRC”

[ B & ]
“Companies Ordinance”

[ZRDA) [0 a5

“Company” or “CR Pharmaceutical”

[ ERT]

“CR Bank”

[FEBEYBE]

“CR Biopharm”

Definitions

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the following
meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

RABBRFBEFRE

annual general meeting of the Company

ARRR B ZFRAAZTHAREIARERRANABZEMA (K
TEHERT)

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to time),
adopted by a special resolution passed on 27 May 2022

IRBEEEERETELA —KRFBEKUNERAR - RARFTNE
BB A

Beijing Pharmaceutical Group Company Limited (It R E ZEEE AR ST A
Al), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

Exg

board of Directors

IREEERELEREARAA  AIBIEREBERALEEEFRL  —K
RABEGFEMRIHESRE  BRERMOEZRE

Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management Company Limited
(ItREEEABEEEER A, formerly known as Beijing State-Owned
Capital Operation And Management Center (1t REl B & R EEE IR A L),
a state-owned enterprise incorporated in the PRC and our substantial
Shareholder

LR A ERC1 M R E AT R

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

i ARSAE  RAFHME - FOEES  RPIRIITHERAE
People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report
only, Hong Kong, Macau SAR and Taiwan

DENED (BB EDE 622 Z)AETEHER])
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (as
amended from time to time)

EHBHEEEGRAA
China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

WEERRITROER AR —KRFEKIBKROBERABL A —K
BRCRKSNATRT  RAFHAB  RERHEE R 149.77%
e

China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (ZX/8ZE BIETRMHBR A A)), a
company limited by shares established in the PRC and a municipal bank
headquartered in Zhuhai, in which CRI holds approximately 49.77% interest
as at the date of this annual report

EHEYMBEERLR  AEEREMEZCORY) ARAA —KRF
B ERAR - REARRINEZENERA]

China Resources Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (EEE M E 2GR A 7)),
formerly known as China Resources Biopharmaceutical (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
(FEHEWEZECFRIN)AER A A]), a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, and a non-wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2023 07
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[FEEEHLEY )

“CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical”

[EH 8

“CR Digital”

[EHEEH )

“CR Double-Crane”

[FEEMR]

“CR Gas”

[HE M EE R AR

“CR Gas Chenzhou”

[ H R

“CR Health”

[EFEHEE]

“CR Holdings”

[ E

“CRI"
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EHEREDRESEROERAR  FIBEHREYHEEERNHER
AR —RIBRBEPEDEEFMKR IO AR - EROERNEBELRZ S LT
(B th 5% - 300294) » WARARAIHEZENE R R

China Resources Boya Bio-pharmaceutical Group Company Limited (=818 #
A ) B B i 1) B BR /2 &), formerly known as Boya Bio-pharmaceutical
Group Company Limited (15 7 4= 7 2 22 &= B & {» 5 R 2 &), a company
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300294) and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

EHHRHERBERQAR(AIHEEMEERNEARAA)
VWERAT - BAEHERMHEEWB AR

China Resources Digital Holding Co., Ltd. (formerly known as China Resources
Resolink Co., Ltd. (EEFE ZRHEZ AR A7), a company incorporated in the
PRC with limited liability, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRI

— KRR BEEMK

EHEBEERNEBERAT  —KBEHPEVEEFMAIHNAT - HikGH
EEBEBEAFRZ S ET(RMHAS : 600062) ' WARAG ZIEEZENBA
Al

China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (B & 88 B 2[5 ()
ABR/AF]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC, the shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600062) and a
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

FRMRERERAR - —RKPOBREXZABRDF] - E D RO PR
(RS : 1193) AR EREENAFREBEE H61.46% En

China Resources Gas Group Limited (ZE B ¥ 7% % B R 2 71), a company
incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, the shares of which are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1193) in which CR Holdings holds
61.46% interest as at the date of this annual report

WM ZE IR BB IR A A
ZEEZENBERR]
Chenzhou China Resources Gas Company Limited (81 Z= B k@ AR A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Gas

KR PEEMRIZERAF - A RERRR

ERREEEERAR  AIHAEHEREBARAF
A BR AT AEHEENEENE R A

China Resources Healthcare Group Limited (¥ H i@ FEEBEER A 7,
formerly known as ZE B & & £ B AR A §), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR
Holdings

RN EF R EM

EREE)ARRA —KREBTMALHERLDGF  REBRGOER
NAZEM R R KRB P EARAR R

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRI
and our controlling Shareholder

EERMDERAT  —FKRAP B ARG AR A RN AT A 2 AR AR
£

China Resources Inc., a joint stock limited liability company established in the
PRC and our controlling Shareholder



[FEEIF]

“CR Jiangzhong”

[EHHEE]

“CR Leasing”

[FEHEER]

“CR Medical”

[FEHEEmE]

“CR Pharmaceutical Commercial”

ol Eoedivdl

“CR Pharmaceutical Holdings”

[EHBREXED

“CR Pharmaceutical Industry Fund”

[EHBEREGRARF]

“CR Pharmaceutical Investment”

[FEE=N1]

“CR Sanjiu”

Definitions

FRIRREEHEERET LT —KNTBEKINRF] - BIIREED
TR - WARRATZIEEEWB AR

China Resources Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (ZE T & & 2%
£ B EMRE TR, a company established in the PRC, the controlling
Shareholder of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

EHMEHEERAR AIBEHEEBRAT  —RAPBEKIMBR
HEAERQA - RAFERAH  EHROBEEREHE60% R

China Resources Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (B AR EER D A),
formerly known as China Resources Leasing Co., Ltd. (ZEBHTHEER A ), a
limited liability company established in the PRC, in which CRI holds 60%
indirect interest as at the date of this annual report

FERERZERERAA  —KPRFA=HESEMKINBERAR - BRH
BT Em (RS - 1515)  ERERHEBERAFHRAPFHEE
36.58% 7

China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the share of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1515), in which CR
Holdings holds 36.58% interest as at the date of this annual report

EHRENMESEERAT AL RBEEROHBRAR  —RR_ZTZE
ZEF_AZ+EARBEFEEETMK IO RG] - BERRAIFEZEN
J& 7]

China Resources Pharmaceutical Commercial Group Company Limited ( 2 ) 28 4%
FEEEAR A A]), formerly known as Beijing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (£ 5
Bz A PR A 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 27
December 2000 and a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EHBEZRARAQR - AIBHI=ZNERERAF - —KBHBRPEEET
MR HRT] - BAREIZENEB AR

China Resources Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited (2 B &5 %2 7 i%
AR A A, formerly known as New Sanjiu Holdings Co., Ltd (¥1 = LiEMR A
R 7~ &), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company

EHBRECOLE)EXREESABLEAERER) —KRFBEKINA
Bl REESBERT  NERENAFRBARAFEE275% Ea

China Resources Pharmaceutical (Shantou) Industry Investment Fund
Partnership (LLP) ((E MBI EXZREE S AR LEERER)),
established in the PRC, an associate of the Group, in which the Group holds
27.5% interest as at the date of this annual report

EHBEKREERAR  —KRFEKRIHERAR - BRARTHNEZEM
BA

China Resources Pharmaceutical Investment Company Limited (& 28 24 &
AR A 7)), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

FRH-NBERMERRE  —KBEFBUEETMAZHRE - HRH
FERYIEHZ G LT (RGBS : 000999) - WAERLRRZEEEWNBE L
=l

China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Company Limited (&
= NEERHBBRAF), a company incorporated under the laws of the
PRC, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock
code: 000999) and a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2023 09
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[FEE=N8M)]

“CR Sanjiu Chenzhou”

[ EEE]

“CR Trust”

[EHE7)

“CR Zizhu”

(%]

“Director(s)”
[ 5% o] Bl 2 |

“Dong-E-E-Jiao”

[RE&EHE |
“Group”

[ o]k [BE ]
"HK$" or "HK dollars”

(&%)
“Hong Kong”

[xFEEY]

“Immunotech”

PARCE -+

“Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical”

i
pit
i
i)

“KPC”
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FRH= (M) REEBR QT
NANMBEIETENERF
China Resources Sanjiu (Chenzhou) Pharmaceutical Company Limited (% &
= N(HBM)RLBEH R A F]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability and an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

FRRAREGEHEERRAR  —KRPEKZIHEREEAR - RAFHRAE
H ZEEROBEERCEREGRAFMEREEFS1% En

China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (ZEE AR IREL AR A A]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC, in which CRI indirectly holds 51%
interest through China Resources Capital Holdings Investment Co., Ltd. (%)
SR EBR A R]) as at the date of this annual report

EREMEEERAA —KRFBEKIMAR - RAFHRAE  EHE
LmBE RNEHBAEEE60.19% B

China Resources Zizhu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (3B & 4T B 5 A R A 7)),
established in the PRC, in which CR Pharmaceutical indirectly holds 60.19%
interest through CR double-Crane as at the date of this annual report

ARAES

director(s) of the Company

—HZRPEFMRIZBR LA AR

REFBROERAT - —RKIREBEPBEUEZEMK LN AR - ARG ER
IBEHZ 5 L (BRD AR : 000423) W ARAR ZIE2EMBRR]
Dong-E-E-Jiao Company Limited (3P fif 2 J& 15 8 BR 2 &), a company
incorporated under the laws of the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000423) and a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

ARAIREMB AR
the Company and its subsidiaries

BT BEETEHN
the lawful currency of Hong Kong

REEBEFRITTRR
the Hong Kong SAR of the PRC

KEEYHEERAR]  —KAFASHESTMRIN AR - ERGERR
Fr £ (IR K5% - 6978) - HAR AR BIRAFRA BB H 10% fEm
Immunotech Biopharm Ltd (Gk RAEME B R A F), a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands, the share of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6978), in which the Company holds
10% interest as at the date of this annual report

THREXEBROHBERAR - —KPERPEKIHRGE - HRHE LEEFRS
Fir £ (B2 5% 600750)30 A2EETIH 22 EME R A

Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (JT # 222 j% 5 B R 2 7)), a company
established in the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600750) and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CR
Jiangzhong

BHEEBROHERDR  —KRHPEXIHAGE  HROELBEFR S
Fr £ (R R5E - 600422) - WAREE= L ZIE2ERB AT

KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (225 B %5 B BR 2 7)), a company established
in the PRC, the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600422) and a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Sanjiu



[ET R A

“Listing Rules”

[Z%E=<F A ]
“Model Code”

(B &2 ]

“Prospectus”

[ ¥ 5 HAfA
“Reporting Period”

[ BT B[R )
“SAR”

[ 75 & K 1 ]
“SFO”

[A%15 |
“Share(s)”

[A% 3R
“Shareholder(s)”

[ B 22 P

“Stock Exchange”
[BTlek B
“HK$” or "HKD”

N
“RMB”

EZHA
“USs$” or “USD”

[%]
“op”

RERA  NREKZEN QAR
EHRNPXARARRXEFLMETMEE

BAP X BT R%E -

Definitions

Bt 2 PraE 2 BT R B (A RHEET)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (as
amended from time to time)

FTARAIMEE CIPEM ETREITAESTETEFRXHNIFELETA
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

ARABIBEMAZZE—RE+ATLtENBRER
the prospectus of the Company dated 17 October 2016

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HIWBFE
the financial year ended 31 December 2023

B B 55 BT R
Special Administrative Region, PRC

EREME ST BFEF KB GO (ETRHEET)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(as amended from time to time)

PN g0
share(s) of the Company

ZA/NEIE L SR ES TN
holder(s) of Shares of the Company

ERBMERGMBRAT
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BT BAEEEES

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

AREBT  pBEEES

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

T XBUEEES

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

EliNsd
per cent

In the event of any inconsistency in the Chinese and English versions of the
names of the PRC established companies or entities, laws or regulations in this
annual report, the Chinese version shall prevail.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2023 11
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Dear Shareholders,

We sincerely appreciate all Shareholders and stakeholders for your continuous
attention and supports to CR Pharmaceutical. | hereby report the performance
of the Group for 2023 and for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the
Shareholders as the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

In 2023, the global economy overcame the impacts of the COVID-19
pandemic and achieved a slow recovery. China played a significant role in the
economic growth of the Asia-Pacific region and the world. In the past year,
China’s economy has withstood external pressures, continued to rebound,
and made steady progress towards high-quality development. According to
data from the National Bureau of Statistics in 2023, China’s GDP reached
RMB126.0582 trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 5.2% at
constant prices. China’s growth rate continued to lead the world’s major
economies and served as the primary engine of global growth.
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Chairman’s Statement

With the comprehensive promotion of the “Healthy China” initiative, the
healthcare industry is transitioning from a focus on disease treatment to a
“people-centered” approach, driving the all-round development of the
pharmaceutical and healthcare industry, covering prevention, health
maintenance, treatment, and rehabilitation. Active health consumption is on
the rise, the size of the “Silver Economy” is growing rapidly, and the bio-
economy market has enormous potential. On the industry side, iterations of
technological innovation are accelerating, deeply integrated with information
technology. Drug evaluation and approval emphasize a clinical value-oriented
approach, promoting the expedited market entry of new and effective drugs.
Policies supporting the innovation and inheritance of TCM continue to be
introduced, continuously releasing policy dividends. Centralized procurement
rules are becoming more scientific, and the marginal impact of policies is
gradually weakening. Compliance and long-term mechanisms are further
improved, guiding the industry towards sustainable and healthy development.
The pharmaceutical industry as a whole has entered a high-value development
phase, which is conducive to the growth of leading pharmaceutical companies
and industry concentration.

In 2023, the Group conducted an interim review of its “14th Five-Year Plan”
strategy through a systematic approach, optimizing the development strategy
and refining relevant sub-strategies to formulate development initiatives,
laying a solid foundation for achieving the goals of the “14th Five-Year Plan.”
During the year, the Group accelerated external expansion and international
cooperation, actively promoted the integration of specialized platforms, and
optimized business layout. We systematically carried out all-round
management of the value chain of the entire TCM industry, establishing a
leading advantage in the field of Chinese medicine. We continued to
strengthen R&D innovation, increasing R&D investment intensity. We
expedited the introduction of high-end talent in biopharmaceuticals, and
extensively engaged in strategic cooperation with external innovation hubs,
deeply integrating industry, academia, research, application, and sales to
empower high-quality development. Meanwhile, we deepened the reform of
mixed ownership in state-owned enterprises, implementing market-oriented
incentive mechanisms to effectively stimulate the intrinsic motivation of
enterprises.
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In the past year, the Group has actively responded to policy changes and
market challenges, persisting in the development model driven by organic
growth and external development and steadfastly promoted high-quality
development. In the face of a complex and challenging industry environment,
the Board, management, and all employees have once again returned the
trust and support of its Shareholders with solid performance. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s key operating indicators have shown steady
growth, with its overall strength further enhanced. The Group achieved
revenue of RMB244,703.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
12.2% compared to 2022. The profit attributable to the owners of the
Company was RMB3,854.2 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
10.1%. During the Reporting Period, excluding one-off impacts such as the
disposal of subsidiaries and impairment related to investments, the profit
attributable to the owners of the Company showed a steady year-on-year
growth of 21.7%.

Looking forward to 2024, China’s economy is expected to remain resilient,
with vast potential, strong vitality, and upward long-term fundamentals. The
international community continues to hold an optimistic view of the Chinese
economy for the upcoming year. China is set to continue playing a crucial role
as a key driver of global economic growth, providing stability and positive
momentum to the global economy full of uncertainties. With the
comprehensive advancement of the “Healthy China” initiative, further reforms
in the healthcare system will promote the coordinated development and
governance of medical services, pharmaceuticals, and medical insurance.
Coupled with increasing demands from an aging population, consumption
upgrades, technological advancements, and other factors, the Chinese
pharmaceutical market is poised for sustained growth. The Group remains
optimistic about the development prospects and abundant opportunities
within the Chinese pharmaceutical industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

During the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, the Group will uphold the mission
and vision of “Protecting Human Health and Improving Quality of Life” while
actively aligning with national strategies. We will adhere to a dual-driver
model of intrinsic growth and external development, balancing tradition with
innovation to build up new advantages for high-quality development. In 2024,
the Group will focus on the development theme of “Innovation, Reshaping,
and New Quality”, with a core emphasis on establishing “National Strategic
Assets” and enhancing “National Livelihood”. We will continue to drive
industry optimization, vigorously develop biopharmaceuticals and blood
products, accelerate the layout in high-potential areas such as vaccines and
high-end medical devices. We will enhance innovative R&D capabilities,
optimize top-level designs for innovation, and utilize synergies of innovative
resources. We will continuously enhance the Group’s scale, innovation
capabilities, operational efficiency, and market competitiveness, to
continuously create value for our Shareholders and society.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express sincere gratitude again
for the long-term trust and support to the Group from all Shareholders,
customers and strategic partners and the efforts from the management team
and all colleagues.

Han Yuewei
Chairman
26 March 2024
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(January) CR Sanjiu’s milrinone injection was approved for
launch by National Medical Products Administration (“NMPA")
and deemed to have passed the consistency evaluation in the
quality and efficacy of generic drugs.
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(January) CR Zizhu's levonorgestrel tablets was approved for
launch by NMPA and deemed to have passed the consistency
evaluation in the quality and efficacy of generic drugs.
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(2 February) CR Biopharm signed a cooperation agreement
with the National Clinical Research Centre for Infectious
Diseases in Shenzhen for the development and
commercialization of a chimpanzee adenovirus-based
tuberculosis vaccine on a global scale.
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(14 February) CR Pharmaceutical participated in the Global
“Intelligent Manufacturing of New Drugs” Partner Conference
organized by the Beijing Economic and Technological
Development Zone (BDZ) and signed a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with the BDZ Administrative
Committee.

H05 S EIRZR N B L (YTt

EHESSR
AHRAR

FESFEATFRE
EEERS




(ZA-+=H) EHEBREEREBESRERRTBEREEN
TR B BRE S {EH R -

(23 March) CR Double-Crane signed a strategic cooperation
agreement with Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences on
the research and development of peritoneal dialysis solutions.
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(24 March) CR Sanjiu’s Omeprazole and Sodium Bicarbonate
Capsule were approved for launch by NMPA and deemed to
have passed the consistency evaluation in the quality and
efficacy of generic drugs.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

PFERELE
Highlights of the Year

April @ B

(MARR) EHEWLATFANAEAAEBELERA
7rﬁ§@x§ﬁd\g%mmmm% B E R (R R
R ) ML 2 009 8 5 RO — B
HE -

(4 April) Moxifloxacin hydrochloride and sodium chloride
injection from Xi‘an Jingxi Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd., CR Double-Crane’s wholly-owned subsidiary, received
Drug Registration Certificate issued by NMPA, and was
approved for production and deemed to have passed the
consistency evaluation in the quality and efficacy of generic
drugs.

(.H‘f‘tﬁ)iﬁ%ﬁ@%%ﬁ% ﬂiﬂ%ﬂl%ﬁfﬁﬁ&
NRI[BEDBEREAM T | S B RSE8 2% M T
FBE)  EHAEEVRRRIBH R EEEMER—BUETE -

(17 April) Olmesartan Medoxomil and Amlodipine Besylate
Tablets from China Resources Saike Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
CR Double-Crane’s wholly-owned subsidiary, received Drug
Registration Certificate issued by NMPA, and was approved
for production and deemed to have passed the consistency
evaluation in the quality and efficacy of generic drugs.
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(10 May) CR Pharmaceutical signed a strategic cooperation
framework agreement with Westlake University in the areas of
biomedicine and emerging technologies.
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(15 May) The new product Human Coagulation Factor VIII
developed by CR Boya Bio-Pharmaceutical was officially
launched.
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(28 June) CR Boya Bio-Pharmaceutical received a Notice of
Approval for Clinical Trial of Drugs issued by NMPA regarding
C1 Esterase Inhibitors.
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(28 July) CR Sanjiu’s ONC201, an innovative drug for brain
glioma, received a Notice of Approval for Clinical Trial of
Drugs issued by NMPA.
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(September) Shenzhen China Resources Gosun
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of CR Sanjiu, won the
bidding of the drug project of the United Nations International
Children’s Emergency Fund (UNICEF) and formally signed a
long-term cooperation agreement to become the designated
supplier of UNICEF to supply UNICEF with injectable
B -lactams for the treatment of pediatric diseases.
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(31 October) CR Zizhu was awarded the “Zhongguancun
High-tech Enterprise” certification.
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(November) CR Zizhu signed a cooperation agreement with
Wenzhou Medical University on the construction of the
Beijing Sub-centre of the National Key Laboratory for
Macromolecular Drugs and Scale-up Preparation, and the
Beijing Sub-centre of the National Key Laboratory for
Macromolecular Drugs and Scale-up Preparation was officially
established in CR Zizhu.
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(21 November) CR Pharmaceutical signed a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Shenzhen Academy
of Medical Sciences and Shenzhen Bay Laboratory in the area
of biomedical development.
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(24 November) CR Biopharm signed a strategic cooperation
framework agreement and a consignment agreement with
PenTide Therapeutics Limited in Hong Kong, China for the co-
development of an innovative nano-antibody delivery
technology platform.

(5 December) CR Pharmaceutical signed a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Shanghai Institute of
Materia Medica, Chinese Academy of Sciences in the areas of
pharmaceutical innovation and development and emerging
technologies.
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(27 December) CR Pharmaceutical acquired 9.2138% equity
interest in CR Jiangzhong for RMB520 million, increasing its
shareholding in CR Jiangzhong to 60.5494%.
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(28 December) CR Pharmaceutical Commercial entered into a
subscription agreement with Beijing Pharmaceutical, CR
Pharmaceutical Investment and seven external investors, in
which the external investors contributed RMB5.26 billion and
Beijing Pharmaceutical and CR Pharmaceutical Investment
simultaneously increased their capital contributions by RMB1
billion. Upon completion of the transaction, CR
Pharmaceutical holds an aggregate of approximately 80.13%
equity interest in CR Pharmaceutical Commercial.
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(31 January) MSCI ESG Rating of CR Pharmaceutical upgraded

from BBB to A leveraging its strong performance in
sustainability.
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(February) Dong-E-E-Jiao was honored with the title of
2022 Quality Star Enterprise in China’s Pharmaceutical
Industry.
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(22 February) CR Jiangzhong Technology Centre was
recognized as a National Enterprise Technology Centre by
the National Development and Reform Commission.
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(28 February) Dongying Tiandong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.,
a subsidiary of CR Double-Crane, was selected as one of the
world’s leading specialist-tech demonstration enterprise.
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(15 March) CR Biopharm was selected as one of Shenzhen (21 March) CR Pharmaceutical and CR Sanjiu were
SMEs with specialized, sophisticated techniques and unique, ranked 13th and 34th respectively on the list of “Top 50
novel products in 2022 as announced by Shenzhen Small and Chinese Companies by Market Capitalization Growth in
Medium Enterprises Service Bureau. 2022" published by Barron’s Chinese Edition.
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(26 April) At the 2nd National Industrial Heritage Summit
held in Jingdezhen, the project “Dong-E-E-Jiao Industrial
Heritage Protection and Innovative Application” was
recognized as “Excellent Industrial Heritage Protection and
Utilization Demonstration Case”.
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DEMONSTRATION AWARDS FOR THE PROTECTION AND
UTILIZATION OF INDUSTRIAL HERITAGE
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(28 April) The State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council announced
the results of the special assessment of the “Double
Hundred Enterprises” and “Exemplary Scientific Reform
Actions” of the central enterprises for the year of 2022,
and CR Sanjiu was selected as a benchmark enterprise for
“Exemplary Scientific Reform Actions”, and Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical and CR Biopharm were selected as excellent
enterprises for “Exemplary Scientific Reform Actions”.
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(23 May) Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical was granted the
“Small and Medium Investor Relations Interaction
Award” in the 2022 Panorama Investor Relations Gold
Awards.
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(25 May) CR Double-Crane and Dong-E-E-Jiao were
rewarded the Tianma Award for Investor Relations of Listed
Companies.
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(25 May) CR Sanjiu was awarded the “Best Listed
Company of New Fortune” and “Best ESG Practice Award”.
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In the “2023 China’s Top 500 Most Valuable Brands” list
released by the World Brand Lab, the brands “Dong-E
E-Jiao,” "Jiangzhong”, and “Yuting” successfully made
the list.
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(7 June) The CR Sanjiu’s 2022 Sustainability Report was
awarded a “5-star” rating by the China Academy of
Social Sciences, as assessed by the Chinese Expert
Committee on Corporate Social Responsibility Report
Rating.
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(11 August) At the Golden Award Ceremony of China
Health Ecology Organization, Dong-E-E-Jiao topped the list
with a brand value of RMB15.733 billion and was listed in
the “2023 Healthcare Brands List” and “2023 Valuable
Healthcare Pharmaceutical Brands”.
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(22 August) At the 10th Global Investment and M&A
Summit and the 9th Golden Whistle Award Ceremony held
in Shanghai, CR Sanjiu was awarded the “Golden Whistle
Award of Top 10 Domestic M&A in 2022-2023 for KPC's
acquisition project.
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(22 September) CR Sanjiu, KPC, and CR Double-Crane,
were granted the “Top 100 ESG Listed Companies in
China”.
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(23 September) CR Pharmaceutical ranked 27th in the
“Central Enterprise ESG Pioneer 100 Index”.

k % % %

REESG - %100

A R 2 B A R
H2023FMPRE WK EHATESCITRRRARY, HH

WEAKE, Ni&*
HRIIE.




(tA=Z+H)ELERFINEBLLZEELENE  FH
EWAR20222023FEEEHWE TIEFFEF - T &
EMEBEZNDPIREARETLER -

(20 October) Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical and CR Sanjiu
were awarded Grade A in the evaluation of information
disclosure work of listed companies in Shanghai and
Shenzhen for the year 2022-2023 organized by the
Shanghai and Shenzhen Stock Exchanges.
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(18 November) CR Pharmaceutical ranked 4th in the

“2022 Top 100 Series of Pharmaceutical Industries in
China”.
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(23-24 November) At the 2023 Forum on High-Quality
Development of Listed Companies, the 25th Golden Bull
Award Ceremony of Listed Companies, the 2023 Golden
Bull Corporate Sustainable Development Forum and the
First Guoxin Cup ® ESG Golden Bull Award Ceremony
held in Nantong, Jiangsu Province, CR Sanjiu was granted
the “Golden Information Disclosure Award”, “Top 100
ESG Golden Bull Award” and “Top 50 ESG Golden Bull
Award for Central Enterprises”, CR Double-Crane was
awarded the “Golden Information Disclosure Award”
and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical was listed in “1st Guoxin
Cup ® ESG Golden Bull Award Carbon Neutral Top 50”.
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(25 November) CR Pharmaceutical was awarded the
“China Top 100 Enterprises Award” and the “China Top
100 Best Management and Operation Award”.
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(25 November) CR Pharmaceutical won the “Best
Reporting Award” and “Best ESG Award” in the Small
and Mid-Market Capitalization Category of the 5th BDO
ESG Awards.
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(December) CR Sanjiu won the First Prize of Science and
Technology Award from China Association of Chinese
Medicine for its research project themed on “Application of
Key Technologies for Quality Control and Industrialization
of Sichuan-produced Genuine Medical Materials”.
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(6 December) CR Pharmaceutical was awarded the “Most
Valuable Pharmaceutical and Healthcare Company Award”
in the 8th Zhitong Finance Listed Company Awards.

EIAN TRl S A 1 5

C R RMEERZ R RS T A7) )

]

Awards

(+t=ZA=+=R0)FEH=-NIEE [ 2023 FE T EHIER
FEEECERTEIE & -

(23 December) CR Sanjiu once again topped the ranking
of “China’s OTC medicines manufacturers in 2023".
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A summary of the Group’s audited results, assets and liabilities and the key
financial ratios for the last five financial years is set out as follows:

2023 2022 2021
FE(BBARY) For the year (in RMB million)
Ik 2% Revenue
= Manufacturing 39,190 34,488 31,040 25,962 27,005
k! Distribution 195,858 176,072 158,468 145,757 147,018
=& Retail 9,579 7,588 6,829 5,732 5,687
HAh Others 77 35 31 200 180
wny Total 244,704 218,183 196,368 177,651 179,890
EA Gross profit 38,337 33,619 29,357 28,688 29,887
D EBHELE Segment earnings
T Manufacturing 12,083 10,055 8,077 7,299 5,953
7 8 Distribution 7,139 7,073 6,690 7,143 6,807
=& Retail 124 15 (43) (13) 64
HAh Others 25 18 57 134 125
wny Total 19,371 17,161 14,781 14,563 12,949
F AT E Profit for the year 7,775 6,658 5,528 4,816 4,485
NEEEE AEGFE Profit attributable to owners
of the Company 3,854 3,500 3,135 2,927 2,892
R12A31MB (BBARK) As at 31 December (in RMB million)
ERBEE Non-current assets 68,202 63,275 58,829 52,718 51,148
MBEE Current assets 178,568 152,259 144,396 123,513 119,087
wEE Total assets 246,770 215,534 203,225 176,231 170,234
ERBEE Non-current liabilities 19,563 13,207 10,020 5,677 12,186
mEaE Current liabilities 134,233 121,770 115,546 103,199 95,718
BEBO Total debt 63,843 55,150 54,322 44,886 46,701
FEy=Nit Total liabilities 153,795 134,977 125,566 108,876 107,905
BRI Total equity 92,975 80,557 77,659 67,356 62,330
ko= Ratios
eV Gross margin 15.7% 15.4% 14.9% 16.1% 16.6%
bR e Net profit margin 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6% 1.6%
FREBREe Net debt to total equity @ 42.2%  49.6% 51.5% 52.6% 56.9%
BN = Current ratio 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.2
A - Notes:

Total debt refers to the sum of bank borrowings, bonds payable, and other
payables bearing interests due to related parties.

(1) BEBIHERTER BHEF FHENES (1)
A B 77 #) EL At 8 A5 SRIR A AR AT ©

2 FEBEFREEHRRENBASEEY - @

Net debt equals to total debt less cash and cash equivalents.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Amidst the complex international economic situation, China’s macro-economy
has shown resilience, significant potential, and ample vitality. The long-term
positive fundamentals remain unchanged. Both the supply and demand sides
have steadily improved, and strong and effective measures have been taken
to ensure people’s well-being, promoting high-quality development in a stable
manner. According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2023, the
gross domestic product increased by 5.2% year-on-year, while the annual
revenue of the pharmaceutical manufacturing industry decreased slightly by
3.7% year-on-year.

The pharmaceutical industry plays a crucial role in people’s livelihood and
national security, and is a strategically important sector that is vitally supported
by the nation. The Action Plan for the High-quality Development of the
Pharmaceutical Industry (2023-2025) ((EBEZ T ¥ 5 B2 ¥ R1TE) T 5
(2023-20254F))) issued in 2023 aims to strengthen the resilience and
modernisation of the pharmaceutical industry, promote the development of
innovative drugs, foster cooperation among industry, academia, and research
institutions, steer the growth of top pharmaceutical companies, boost
industrial concentration, and improve market competitiveness. Moreover, the
coordinated reform of the three sectors of healthcare, pharmaceutical and
medical insurance is gaining momentum towards improving healthcare and
medical systems, contributing to the expansion of the pharmaceutical market.
Drug approval policies increasingly emphasize the importance of high-level
innovation guided by clinical value, which are conducive to the approval of
new and effective drugs. The centralized procurement policy and adjustments
to the National Reimbursement Drug List are being implemented in
normalized manner. The long-term mechanism for compliance management
in the pharmaceutical field will be strengthened, which will benefit enterprises
with comprehensive strength and strong R&D and marketing capabilities
featuring fast transformation and upgrading. China vigorously promotes the
inheritance and innovation of traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) by
successively introducing a series of policies such as the Implementation Plan
for the Major Projects for the Revitalization and Development of Traditional
Chinese Medicines (P B &k M2 R E K T2 E 55 %)) and the Special
Administrative Rules for the Registration of Traditional Chinese Medicines (-
M EEEZEPRE)). These policies were favorable for fostering the high-
quality development of the TCM industry.
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The growing aging population, better livelihood and increased health
awareness in China contribute to the development of a highly integrated
market with significant potential for the pharmaceutical industry. The further
implementation of the “Healthy China” strategy drives the comprehensive
development of the pharmaceutical and health industry, encompassing fields
of prevention, healthcare, therapy and recovery. The pharmaceutical industry
is shifting towards individualized, precise therapies and prevention. With the
rapid development of technology and in areas such as novel antibodies, cell
and gene therapy, nucleic acid medicines, radiopharmaceuticals, as well as the
application of artificial intelligence and big data technology, the
pharmaceutical industry is entering a more intelligent and efficient era. People
also demonstrate a greater inclination towards health consumption, including
medical devices, medications, traditional nourishment and nutrition, and
health services. The scenarios and categories of health consumption by both
individuals and households continue to expand.

Overall, the internal and external environments of the pharmaceutical industry
are facing complex and significant changes. The industry is experiencing
growth momentum, undergoing structural changes and adjusting for high-
quality development. Driven by factors such as increasing demand from the
aging population, consumption upgrades and technological advancements,
and with the comprehensive promotion of the “Healthy China” strategy, the
PRC pharmaceutical market continues to expand. On the other hand,
increased benchmarks for innovative drug R&D, comprehensive centralized
procurement, implementation of payment methods reform, and enhanced
regulatory compliance requirements have set higher standards for
competitiveness of  pharmaceutical enterprises. Due to the combined effects
of end-users’ demand, technology, policy and capital, the pharmaceutical
industry will encounter enormous challenges and opportunities. Differentiation
and high-quality innovation will be the key elements for success in this
competitive landscape, and will further promote integration and consolidation
within the pharmaceutical industry.

GROUP RESULTS

In 2023, in response to the industrial policies and the changes in market
demands, the Group vigorously implemented the “Healthy China” strategy,
driven by innovation and empowered by technology. The Group promoted
extensive development, improved industry layout, increased R&D investment,
and strengthened digitalization and intellectualization. Meanwhile, the Group
continuously optimized resource allocation and synergy integration to deepen
the mixed-ownership reform of state-owned enterprises. The Group also
insisted on corporate governance improvement, thereby achieving our high-
quality and sustainable development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded total revenue of
RMB244,703.9 million, representing an increase of 12.2% compared to
RMB218,183.0 million for 2022. In 2023, the revenue of the Group's three
major business segments, namely pharmaceutical manufacturing,
pharmaceutical distribution, and pharmaceutical retail businesses, accounted
for 16.0%, 80.0% and 3.9% of the Group’s total revenue, respectively.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a gross profit of
RMB38,337.5 million, representing an increase of 14.0% from RMB33,619.1
million in 2022. The overall gross profit margin was 15.7% in 2023, which
marked an increase of 0.3 percentage point compared to 15.4% in 2022. This
was primarily due to the increase in gross profit margin of the pharmaceutical
manufacturing business during the Reporting Period.

In 2023, the Group recorded a net profit of RMB7,775.0 million, representing
an increase of 16.8% from RMB6,658.0 million for 2022. The Group
generated a profit attributable to owners of the Company of RMB3,854.2
million, representing an increase of 10.1% compared to the RMB3,500.3
million for 2022. Excluding the effect of one-off items, such as the disposal of
subsidiaries and the investment-related impairment, the profit attributable to
the owners of the Company showed a solid increase of 21.7% year-on-year
during the Reporting Period. Basic earnings per share were RMBO0.61 during
the Reporting Period (2022: RMBO0.56). The Board recommended the payment
of a final dividend of RMBO0.154 per share for the year ended 31 December
2023.

FRATHER AREEF
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
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Optimizing business layout through extensive development,
mergers and acquisitions, and enhancing competitive edge by
integrating resources

The Group actively promotes the implementation of high-quality extensive
development, mergers and acquisitions by expanding its business coverage,
broadening its business footprint, and increasing market share. In January
2023, CR Sanjiu acquired 28% equity interests in KPC and became its
controlling shareholder, which further strengthened the market
competitiveness of the Group’s TCM business. In May 2023, CR Commercial
acquired 51% equity interests in Anhui Lifang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (&
377 B R A R]) through a capital injection, thus becoming its controlling
shareholder. Such acquisition has enabled the Group to enhance its
competitive advantage in the out-of-hospital market in Anhui Province. In
September 2023, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial completed an acquisition of
51% equity interests in Sichuan Kelun Medicine & Trade Group Co., Ltd. (P4
B EEZEE AR A A) (“Kelun Medicine & Trade”), a company
ranked in the top 20 in China’s pharmaceutical distribution industry, through
capital injection, making CR Pharmaceutical Commercial the controlling
shareholder of Kelun Medicine & Trade. Such acquisition has provided strong
support for the market expansion and network layout of the Group's
distribution business in the Southwest region, especially in Sichuan Province,
and has helped the Group improve its comprehensive competitiveness and
market share in the Southwest region. In December 2023, the Group
completed the acquisition of approximately 9.21% of the shares of CR
Jiangzhong, a subsidiary of the Company, increasing the Group’s total
shareholding to approximately 60.55%. Through this acquisition, the Group
can enhance its control over CR Jiangzhong, thereby providing additional
support for the long-term development of CR Jiangzhong and its subsidiaries.
In February 2024, CR Sanjiu announced its intention to increase its
shareholding in its associated company, Respirent Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
(A BmEARNF) (“"Respirent Pharmaceuticals”). Respirent
Pharmaceuticals is an enterprise focusing on the R&D and manufacturing of
respiratory medicine products. Such investment will enable CR Sanjiu to fill
the gap in inhalation products and further develop inhalation powder
products which have high entry barrier, and will also be beneficial for
enriching the Group's portfolio of respiratory medicines.
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The Group continuously promotes the synergy integration of internal
resources to enhance the overall operational efficiency by refining the business
layout and streamlining the business structure. In September 2023, CR
Pharmaceutical Commercial completed the acquisition of 75% equity interests
in Guangdong Fuda Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (EE#E A B 2GR 2 7))
(“Fuda Pharmaceutical”) held by CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical. In November,
CR Double-Crane completed the acquisition of approximately 89.68% equity
interests in Guizhou Tianan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (&I X & 2 ¥ i 5
R 2 A]) held by CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical. The internal business
reorganizations mentioned above enabled CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical to
focus more on its core operations and expand and strengthen its blood
product business, allowed CR Pharmaceutical Commercial to strengthen its
distribution business and enrich its upstream resources of blood products, and
at the same time, enabled CR Double-Crane to enhance its development in
the field of chronic diseases, such as diabetes. In December 2023, CR Sanjiu
and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical announced that, considering their respective
development strategies and to concentrate on their respective core fields and
products, they have discontinued the production and sales of products with
identical name, which resolves the previous issue of business competition.
Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical had therefore ceased its production and sales of
Feng Han Gan Mao Granule (B2 5§ f8#1), Ban Lan Gen Granule (1 Z &
FEHL), Qiang Li Pi Pa Oral Solution (58 71 #t 42 88), Xiao Cai Hu Granule (/N4
#A%EHRL) and Fu Fang Dan Sen Tablet (#2757 7422 /), and CR Sanjiu ceased its
production and sales of Xiao Shi Jian Wei Tablet GE & E F), Jian Er Xiao
Shi Oral Liquid (25 & O fR/&) and Shen Shi Tong Granule (&A@ FHL).
In January 2024, CR Sanjiu and CR Biopharm entered into a product sales
cooperation agreement, pursuant to which, Sichuan Sanjiu Pharmaceutical
Trade Co., Ltd. (F)II= N B2 & 5B R A7), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CR Sanjiu, becomes the exclusive promotion service provider for CR
Biopharm'’s products, including Ruitongli (338 32 ), Baijieyi (& #4K), and
Jialinhao (fE£#k %). Such cooperation is beneficial for enhancing the
commercialization capability and market competitiveness of relevant products,
as well as increasing market share. In February 2024, CR Double-Crane
announced its proposal to acquire 100% equity interests of CR Zizhu, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The internal business reorganization
will contribute to achieving the scale and synergy benefits in channel
marketing, product layout, international business, and retail business for both
CR Double-Crane and CR Zizhu, and strengthening and expanding the
chemical drug business of the Group with the release of synergistic value
between the two parties.
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At the same time, CR Pharmaceutical Industry Fund, as one of the diversified
investment approaches of the Group, has continued to incubate new industry
opportunities to enhance the business layout in alignment with the Group’s
development strategies. It has successfully established synergy between
industry and financing within the Group through various activities such as
investments, mergers and acquisitions, research and development,
pharmaceutical manufacturing, and distribution. At present, the Group is
actively promoting the establishment of CR Pharmaceutical Industry Fund II.

Deepening the reform of state-owned enterprises, and
enhancing their capability for sustainable development

The Group continuously deepened the reform of state-owned enterprises by
implementing market-oriented incentive mechanisms. By optimizing resource
allocation, the Group effectively stimulated its empowerment and vitality,
achieving high-quality development and releasing its performance potential.
In January 2024, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial successfully introduced
strategic investors. This move was conducive to further optimizing the capital
structure of the Group, improving resource allocation and operational
efficiency in the commercial sector, enhancing corporate governance, and
accelerating the release of performance potential. The consideration for such
transaction totalled RMB6.26 billion, of which seven strategic investors paid a
consideration of RMB5.26 billion. After the completion of the transaction, the
Group held approximately 80.13% of the shares of CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial. Several subsidiaries of the Group continued to promote the
implementation of restricted stock incentive plans, enabling them to better
attract, retain, and motivate outstanding managers and core technicians. In
January 2024, Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical introduced the Phase Il restricted
stock incentive plan (draft), and Dong-E-E-Jiao introduced the Phase |
restricted stock incentive plan (draft). In addition, restricted stock incentive
plans for CR Sanjiu and CR Double-Crane have also been steadily progressing.
During the Reporting Period, CR Biopharm completed its B-round financing of
RMB600 million, which further enhanced its mixed-ownership reform. In the
annual assessment of enterprises for Exemplary Scientific Reform Actions in
2022 for state-owned enterprises, CR Sanjiu was evaluated as a benchmark,
while Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical and CR Biopharm were both evaluated as
outstanding.
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With the continuous improvement in the development of an ESG system
specific to the pharmaceutical industry, the Group has received significant
recognition from authoritative institutions and capital markets for its
management capabilities and governance performance in ESG. Specifically,
the Company has been rated as A in the MSCI ESG Rating for two consecutive
years; the Wind ESG Rating was upgraded from A to AA; and the Group
ranked 27th in the Central Enterprise ESG Pioneer 100 Index of SASAC. In
January 2024, the Group was newly included in three Major Hang Seng ESG
Indexes of Central State-owned Enterprises, such as the China State-owned
Enterprise ESG 40 Index of Hang Seng Stock Connect. This demonstrates the
recognition from the capital markets on the Group's status as a state-owned
enterprise and its ESG performance.

Adhering to the concept of sustainable development, the Group promoted
green transformation of industrial development and accelerated the
construction of energy-saving and environmentally-friendly projects, and
adopted new technologies to enhance environmental protection and
environmental governance capabilities. This strategy enhanced its competitive
edge in sustainable development. The Group consistently increased the
proportion of green and low-carbon energy. During the Reporting Period, grid
connection and power generation were achieved in 10 rooftop-distributed
photovoltaic power generation projects, resulting in a reduction of carbon
emissions by approximately 6,700 tons per year. Moreover, emissions of
pollutants and greenhouse gases have been reduced as the Group established
green industrial bases, green low-carbon logistics and other models. During
the Reporting period, the Group obtained authoritative certifications in green
development. In particular, China Resources Sanjiu (Ya'an) Pharmaceutical
Co, Ltd. (EB = N(HELR)EE B R A A), Beijing China Resources High-
Tech Natural Drugs Co., ltd. (t R EH SR XA EYWHR A7), and
Shanghai Changzheng Fumin Jinshan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ( /8 RAEE
R4 I8 25 R A A]) were all received the national-level Green Factory
qualification. Additionally, the logistics centre of China Resources Henan
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (¥ )7 7 % % /& [R 2 &) was granted Level |
(Three-Star) Green Warehouse status, and Dong-E-E-Jiao was recognized as a
Green Supply Chain Management Enterprise.

Meanwhile, the Group continuously improved its corporate governance and
ensured effective performance of duties by the Board, and promoted greater
independence and impartiality through enhancement of the Board's functions.
Moreover, the Group ensured stable operation and sustainable development
by continuously enhancing risk monitoring and management capabilities to
safeguard Shareholders’ rights and interests.
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Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Business

The Group systematically enhanced its R&D capabilities in its
pharmaceutical manufacturing business by increasing R&D investment.
By facilitating the optimization of its product structure and the
upgrading of industrial technology, the Group established a product
echelon deeply engaged in intelligent manufacturing. The Group also
promoted the innovation and transformation in its marketing models,
continuing to strengthen its brand influence and channel control. This
effort aimed to further consolidate and enhance its market share and
market position.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical manufacturing
business generated segment revenue of RMB43,465.0 million,
representing a steady increase of 14.3% compared with that of 2022.
All business segments, including TCM, chemical drugs, nutritional and
healthcare products, and biopharmaceutical drugs, recorded a general
increase in revenue. The gross profit margin of the pharmaceutical
business was 59.1%, representing an increase of 1.7 percentage points
compared with the same period last year. This improvement was mainly
attributable to the optimization of product and business structures,
technological advancements, and enhanced production efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group owns a comprehensive portfolio of pharmaceutical products
covering a wide range of therapeutic areas, including chemical drugs,
biopharmaceutical drugs, TCM and nutritional and healthcare products.
These fully cover all major therapeutic and disease areas that offer
significant potential for business growth, such as cardiovascular and
cerebrovascular diseases, alimentary tract, endocrine diseases,
respiratory diseases, orthopedics, nephrology, rheumatology and
immunology, medical nutrition, pediatrics, genitourinary system,
dermatological diseases, blood products, therapeutic infusions,
antitumor drugs, medicine for cough and cold, and anti-infection drugs.
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group manufactured a total
of 796 products, out of which 435 were included in the National
Reimbursement Drug List and 205 were included in the National
Essential Drug List. All of the Group’s pharmaceutical manufacturing
subsidiaries have established professional sales and marketing teams
that cover over 100,000 medical institutions.

Sales revenue from
pharmaceutical

manufacturing [A] b 3% 5
BEERRERER business by product Year-on-year
B HEEWA categories growth
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(ARBBEER) (ARBBEET)
h#E ™M 21,592.8 18,045.8 19.7%
Hep o R Of which: OTC drugs 13,868.9 12,030.8 15.3%
BR 7 B Prescription drugs 7,723.9 6,015.0 28.4%
i(4-¥ Chemical drugs 17,032.0 15,563.3 9.4%
Hep o R Of which: OTC drugs 3,846.2 3,291.1 16.9%
BR 7 B Prescription drugs 11,824.3 10,961.2 7.9%
[k} % APIs 1,361.5 1,311.0 3.9%
EY Biopharmaceutical drugs 2,135.8 1,899.1 12.5%
EERBRRHEM Nutritional and healthcare
products, and others 2,704.4 2,525.4 7.1%
a5t Total 43,465.0 38,033.6 14.3%
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In terms of product categories, the revenue from the TCM business of
the pharmaceutical manufacturing business segment of the Group was
RMB21,592.8 million during the Reporting Period, representing a year-
on-year increase of 19.7%, of which revenue from the TCM OTC drugs
business increased by 15.3% year-on-year, with significant growth in
revenue from the cold, gastroenterology, oropharynx, gynecology
businesses and the E-Jiao products; while revenue from the TCM
prescription drugs business increased by 28.4% year-on-year, with
significant growth in the revenue from the cardiovascular and
cerebrovascular sector. The chemical drugs business recorded revenue
of RMB17,032.0 million, representing a year-on-year growth of 9.4%,
of which revenue from the chemical OTC drugs business increased by
16.9% year-on-year, mainly attributable to the revenue increase in the
pediatrics, gastroenterology, reproductive health, and oropharynx
sectors; revenue from the chemical prescription drugs business also
increased by 7.9% year-on-year, primarily due to revenue growth in the
large volume parenteral business; and revenue from API business
increased by 3.9% year-on-year. During the Reporting Period, the
biopharmaceutical drugs business achieved revenue of RMB2,135.8
million, representing a growth of 12.5% as compared to the same
period last year. This growth was primarily driven by increased revenue
from the gastrointestinal business and the sales of blood products. The
revenue from nutritional and healthcare products and other businesses
recorded revenue of RMB2,704.4 million, representing a growth of
7.1% as compared to the same period last year, with significant growth
in the revenue from the liver healthcare products as well as Taohuaji (#k
1tk ) and E-Jiao powder products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Promoting the layout of the “Silver Economy” business and the
development of the TCM industry chain

The Group has continued to expand “Silver Economy” business,
improve its product portfolio of chronic disease drugs and enhance its
chronic disease management and service capabilities. Currently, the
Group has formed a portfolio of medications for chronic diseases, with
a particular focus on cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and metabolic
conditions. The Group has a product line consisting of various
categories of chronic disease medications for elderly patients, targeting
the “Silver Economy”. During the Reporting Period, the Group
advanced its marketing model transformation, established a multi-
channel marketing system with internal and external integration,
continuously enhanced a patient-centered, precise, and efficient chronic
disease management system, and delivered professional academic
services to patients. After CR Sanjiu completed the acquisition of KPC,
progress was made in the integration of brand, product, channel,
terminal, and management system during the year. Through strategic
review, KPC will anchor the new strategic goal of “silver health industry
leader, boutique TCM leader, aging health/chronic disease management
field leader”. Both companies will consolidate their resources to
promote the development of the Notoginseng industry chain. KPC, with
the support of CR Sanjiu, focused on the important chronic disease
market of “stroke prevention and control” and continued to enhance
its brand awareness for professionalism. KPC officially launched the
new brand “777" for the product group with Notoginseng as the core
ingredient. During the Reporting Period, CR Double-Crane continued to
enrich its portfolio of chronic diseases in the fields of blood pressure-
lowering, glucose-lowering, and lipid-lowering. Efforts have been made
to strengthen patient education by establishing a demonstration base
for hypertension management and other methods. As a result, the sales
revenue from its core blood pressure product “No. 0 (035%)" grew stably
year-on-year.
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As TCM serves as a crucial health, economic, technological, cultural,
and ecological resource in China, its inheritance, innovation, and
development have been elevated to the level of national strategic
priority. The Group managed the entire industry value chain of TCM in
a systematic manner, conducted in-depth research on the industry, and
utilized modern technology to extensively explore the value of TCM in
order to continuously enhance the industrial chain in the TCM field, and
establish a leading position. It ultimately aims to enhance the
protection, exploration, development, and inheritance of TCM. The
TCM business segment of the Group possesses two “China Intangible
Cultural Heritage Protection Units”. CR Sanjiu, Dong-E-E-Jiao, CR
Jiangzhong and KPC under the Group were all included in the “2023
Top 50 Chinese Patent Medicine Enterprises Comprehensive
Competitiveness Index” and ranked among the top 20. During the
Reporting Period, the Group continued to implement the “High-Quality
Development Program for the Traditional Chinese Medicine Industrial
Chain”, and boosted the development of the industry chain by focusing
on key aspects such as ensuring a stable supply of high-quality
medicinal materials, innovating TCM products with high clinical value,
and enhancing production efficiency. The Group deeply explored the
clinical value of TCM, enhanced evidence-based clinical research, and
expedited the development of TCM industry clusters to assume a
leadership position in TCM intelligent manufacturing. During the
Reporting Period, the project “Application of Key Technology for
Quality Control and Industrialization of Sichuan-produced Genuine
Medicinal Materials” was awarded the first prize in Science and
Technology by the China Association of Chinese Medicine. Meanwhile,
the Group continued to develop high-level exchange platforms for the
TCM industry. For example, it has established an expert committee for
the high-quality development of the TCM industry chain, organized the
“Salon of the TCM Industry Chain” events, and set up a platform for
cooperation and exchange between the central government and the
local government with the characteristics of the TCM industry chain.
This initiative aims to drive the holistic development of the TCM
industry.

Comprehensively enhancing marketing capabilities to sustain business
growth

During the Reporting Period, the Group utilized marketing potential
across multiple dimensions. It intensified efforts to reshape marketing
system, innovate communication, and improve dissemination methods.
With a focus on consumers, the Group enhanced product
competitiveness by strengthening brand influence, expanding the range
of medicine products, and controlling distribution channel. This not only
consolidated the competitive edge of its core products but also
allocated more resources to products with the potential to expand and
create opportunities for business growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue in the field of
consumer healthcare (CHC) amounted to RMB19.1 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 17%, which further consolidated its leading
position and competitive advantage in the industry. The Group
continuously unleashes its brand potential of CHC to enhance its brand
influence and recognition. The Group's “Dong-E-E-Jiao”, “Jiangzhong”,
and “Yuting” brands were listed among the “2023 China’s 500 Most
Valuable Brands” released by the World Brand Lab. CR Sanjiu, Dong-E-
E-Jiao and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical, all under the Group, ranked
among the top 15 in the 2023 “Comprehensive Statistical Ranking of
OTC Drug Manufacturing Enterprises in China”, among which, CR
Sanjiu maintained its first position.

The Group continued to consolidate its competitive strengths in core
categories and core products in the CHC market. It also expanded its
presence in various markets, enhancing the advantageous category
cluster. During the Reporting Period, the Group's sales revenue from
products in several fields recorded a steady increase, including cold,
gastroenterology, and oropharyngeal. In the 2023 ranking of non-
prescription medicines, many flagship products of the Group secured
the top positions among competitors in Chinese patent medicine field:
999 Ganmaoling Granules/Capsules claimed the first spot in the cold
and cough category for 12 consecutive years; Jiangzhong Jianwei
Xiaoshi Tablets maintained the top position in the digestive category for
20 consecutive years; and E-Jiao/compound E-Jiao products under
Dong-E-E-Jiao led the nourishing vitality and blood category. In
addition, several of them were included in the “China OTC Drugs Gold
List”, with E-Jiao/compound E-Jiao products winning the first place in
the field of Chinese patent medicine. Meanwhile, the Group continued
to explore new areas and expand into new categories to drive growth
in the CHC market by utilizing its established brand and channel
advantages. During the Reporting Period, CR Jiangzhong efficiently
promoted Ganchun tablets (FF 4% /), a cultivated product in the liver
healthcare category, through various platforms using new retail
methods, and recorded sales revenue of nearly RMB100 million,
representing an increase of more than five times year-on-year. Instant
E-Jiao powder, a prioritized product of Dong-E-E-Jiao, has significantly
boosted product popularity, with its sales revenue surpassing RMB100
million, making a more than two fold increase year-on-year. The
oropharyngeal product “Qingli (& #)” (dequalinium chloride lozenges)
released by CR Double-Crane at the beginning of 2023 achieved sales
revenue of nearly RMB100 million, benefiting from online and offline
multi-channel marketing. Dong-E-E-Jiao launched the “Royal Paddock
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1619" brand to enter the men’s healthcare market. In the meantime,
the Group initiated external cooperations to enhance its category
deployment. During the year, CR Sanjiu signed a cooperation
agreement with Stada, pursuant to which CR Sanjiu will be responsible
for marketing and promoting various cold and cough medicines from
Stada in China. This collaboration will facilitate CR Sanjiu’s expansion of
its respiratory product category. CR Sanjiu also signed a cooperation
agreement with Sanofi, pursuant to which CR Sanjiu will serve as the
exclusive agent for Sanofi to promote its anti-allergy medicine, Allegra,
in both medical and retail channels in Mainland China.

The Group innovated communication approaches by utilizing data
resources and data tools in the CHC market, which aimed to establish
and operate a customer platform that covers all consumption scenarios,
both online and offline. This initiative was designed to enhance the
ability of customer screening, facilitate mass production of digital
content, and ensure efficient allocation of resources, as well as to gain
insight into consumers’ needs, improve their experience, achieve
precision marketing, and empower rapid business growth. During the
Reporting Period, the online sales of the pharmaceutical manufacturing
segment recorded a remarkable year-on-year increase of 30% in sales
revenue. Specifically, the online sales of medicines for cold, the liver and
gall as well as pediatric medicines and the nourishing vitality and blood
category all kept ranking top in the “618” and “Double Eleven”
promotional events.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of the prescription drug business, the Group seized the
opportunities presented by the healthcare reform policy, responded to
market demand, and dynamically optimized its marketing strategies to
enhance sales growth. The Group actively embraced centralized
procurement, continued to enhance the marketing efficiency of
centralized procurement products, and promoted the production and
sales of selected products to ensure terminal supply. Currently,
essentially all of the Group’s key products in prescription drugs have
been included in the scope of centralized procurement. For products
newly included in centralized procurement, the Group will capitalize on
the opportunities from successful tenders for centralized procurement
to accelerate market expansion and generate incremental business in
the future. In the adjustment of the National Reimbursement Drug List
in December 2023, the Group’s CX2101A and Lacosamide Oral
Solution were included in the new version of the National
Reimbursement Drug List and the scope of payment under the health
insurance for compound E-Jiao and many major products were
expanded, which will help enhance the market competitiveness and
sales scale of the relevant products. During the Reporting Period, the
Group continued to promote the penetration of its terminals and
strengthened its presence in the primary market. In the large volume
parenteral (LVP) segment, CR Double-Crane capitalized on the rapidly
recovering primary medical market and utilized its full production
capacity to ensure sufficient market supply. It also accelerated the
optimization of the product structure, and the sales revenue from LVP
recorded a significant year-on-year increase of 22%.

At the same time, the Group established an echelon of prescription
drug products, enhanced potential varieties cultivation and product
power shaping, and continued to propel a second growth curve. During
the Reporting Period, the Group expedited the development of
differentiated products and initiate new business deployments,
strengthening its commercialization capabilities by solidifying its
academic foundation. Sales revenue of Teniposide Injection, an anti-
tumor medicine, surged by more than two times on a year-on-year
basis, driven by CR Double-Crane’s continuous efforts in the
formulation of medication specifications. Sales revenue of Pregabalin
Capsules, an analgesia medicine also increased by more than 50% year-
on-year. In respect of Mitoxantrone Hydrochloride Injection for
monitoring purposes of a Class 2 new drug, CR Sanjiu actively
established a network of academic experts in surgery. The sales revenue
from such products increased rapidly year-on-year. Ceftobiprole
Medocaril Sodium for Injection, as the first domestically developed fifth-
generation cephalosporin, has been officially commercialized for sale.
The Group further explored the market potential of “dormant”
products to create new business growth opportunities. During the year,
the sales of such revived products amounted to around RMB500
million. Moreover, the Group has accelerated the introduction of
products for future development and has introduced numerous
products in the fields of pediatrics, nephrology, and oncology through
BD within the year.
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Strengthening intelligent manufacturing and capacity coordination to
improve production quality and efficiency

Driven by data and technology, the pharmaceutical manufacturing
segment of the Group continuously enhances the maturity level of
intelligent manufacturing to enhance product quality and production
efficiency, maintaining a first mover advantage in intelligent
manufacturing in the pharmaceutical industry. In the “Intelligent
Manufacturing Demonstration Factory List 2023" released by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of China (“MIIT"), CR
Sanjiu and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical under the Group were both
selected as one of the “Intelligent Manufacturing Demonstration
Factories 2023" at the national level. Additionally, five scenarios from
CR Sanjiu and CR Double-Crane were chosen as one of the
“Qutstanding Scenarios of Intelligent Manufacturing 2023”. CR Boya
Bio-pharmaceutical’s blood product intelligent factory has commenced
construction. The first phase of the project has a designed production
capacity of 1,200 tons of plasma treatment per year (which can be
flexibly expanded to 1,500 tons per year). The project is positioned as a
demonstration base for intelligent manufacturing of blood products in
China. It is intended to become a factory for intensive production of
blood products that comprehensively leads in domestic production
capacity, product quantity, technology, quality standards, and
intelligence. CR Jiangzhong's TCM Science and Technology Innovation
City project in Ganjiang New Area has a high-starting point plan for
TCM intelligent manufacturing, which has been officially put into
operation during the Reporting Period. CR Double-Crane actively
promoted the construction of intelligent digitalization benchmarking
factory in its industrial park division. This advancement involves a deep
integration of digital management and control with core business
processes, including supply chain, quality systems, and manufacturing
management. Dong-E-E-Jiao continued to iterate the big data platform
focusing on the product lifecycle, developed a smart logistics
management platform, and completed the construction of an automatic
traceability management system for the entire product and industrial
chain. CR Sanjiu and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical are currently the only
two enterprises in the pharmaceutical industry that have passed the
“Level 4 Assessment of Matured Intelligent Manufacturing Capability”
by the MIIT.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to enhance its
capabilities in the acquisition and management of upstream raw
materials. Additional efforts were made to strengthen coordination,
optimize and integrate production capacity, and to implement lean
management practices in the industrial chain with an aim to establish
competitive cost advantage in the integrated industrial chain. The
Group's TCM business has established approximately 40 standardized
demonstration bases for authentic medicinal materials and
approximately 30 fresh-processing bases. Meanwhile, Dong-E-E-Jiao
strengthened the integration of product bases, promoted model
breeding, and emphasized technology leadership, to promote the
standardization of core raw material donkey hide and ensure the stable
supply and quality of raw materials from the source. In September
2023, CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical, being approved by the Health
Commission of Jiangxi Province, announced plans to establish two
plasma collection stations in Taihe County and Leping City, Jiangxi
Province, which are conducive to the further enhancement of its supply
capacity of core raw material plasma, and facilitate the growth and
expansion of its blood product business. During the Reporting Period,
CR Double-Crane, by adhering to the low-cost strategy of the entire
value chain, coordinated the implementation of production capacity
optimization and lean management, further consolidating the
production bases of LVP and key preparations to enhance its cost
competitiveness. The production cost of key products decreased on a
year-on-year basis, while the gross profit margin of the LVP business
increased by 5.4 percentage points compared to the previous year. CR
Jiangzhong achieved comprehensive exchange and sharing of the
production lines of its core products, namely Jianwei Xiaoshi tablets (&
BEEF), Lacidophilin Tablets (?LE& &2 /), and Caoshanhu Hanpian
(E M3 S F), to maximise the utilisation of production capacity
resources. Furthermore, it effectively resolved the bottleneck in BIFIDO
(B M) production capacity through technological upgrades and
process optimization.
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2.

Product Research and Development

The Group regards R&D and product innovation as important drivers for
long-term growth and consistently increases its investment in R&D
activities. The total R&D expenditure for the Reporting Period amounted
to approximately RMB2,504.0 million, representing an increase of
12.6% on year-on-year basis. Guided by national policies, the Group
has strengthened its core competitiveness in R&D activities by following
industry technology trends and market demands. This has been
achieved through ways such as independent R&D, investment, mergers
and acquisitions, and external cooperation. The Group has placed
particular emphasis on the R&D of medicines for various systems
including cardiovascular, respiratory, tumor treatment, alimentary tract
and metabolism, central nervous system, immune system, anti-infection,
hematology, and genitourinary system. During the Reporting Period,
the Group classified the R&D pipeline and dynamically carried out
optimization. By concentrating on its advantageous resources and
focusing on its core areas, the Group enhanced its R&D efficiency and
the quality of its pipeline. As at the end of the Reporting Period, the
Group had over 330 ongoing R&D projects for new products, including
nearly 100 new drug projects.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had one state key
laboratory, five national engineering research centers, one national
industrial innovation center, three national enterprise technology
centers, as well as over 70 provincial and municipal R&D platforms and
post-doctoral research stations. The Group has established a
comprehensive mechanism for talent recruitment and development. By
strengthening its efforts to attract and develop talent at all levels, the
Group has assembled a team over 2,700 R&D professionals, with
38.8% of them holding master’s degrees or doctorates. The Group has
continued to enhance the appointment system for external experts and
has actively expanded the team of external experts to drive the Group’s
innovative transformation and sustainable development.
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The Group has accelerated innovative transformation with a focus on
high-growth and high-potential sectors. It also advanced the
development of innovative R&D platforms for TCM, chemical drugs,
and biological drugs. The bio-innovative drug platform is dedicated to
building up differentiated technical advantages based on the antibody
drug discovery empowered by computational biology and the
establishment of CMC development technology platform, to promote
high-quality biological innovative drug R&D pipeline. The chemical
innovative drug R&D platform focuses on anti-tumor, anti-infection,
autoimmune and other major diseases. It integrates target discovery,
AIDD/CADD (Al-Driven Drug Design/Computer-Aided Drug Design),
compound synthesis, drug screening and optimization, CMC, and
clinical studies. Currently, the primary projects for anti-tumor research
are progressing smoothly. Relying on national research platforms such
as the state key laboratory and the national engineering research
center, the TCM innovative R&D platform continues to strengthen the
research on innovative Chinese medicines, classic Chinese medicine
prescriptions, Chinese medicinal granular standards, and Chinese
materia medica resources. In addition, the Group has expanded its
business presence in synthetic biology by establishing enzyme
engineering laboratories and developing synthetic biology industrial
bases. By focusing on the development of industrial enzymes through
synthetic biotechnology, the traditional chemical synthesis of APIs will
be superseded to improve production efficiency and reduce production
costs.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made significant progress in a
number of Class 1 chemical innovative drug projects. NIP046 is
designed for a variety of autoimmune diseases, and ranks at the
forefront of research and development progress within its class in
China. During the Reporting Period, the drug completed a Phase |
clinical trial, demonstrating good safety and tolerability. NIP142, which
is used to treat mutant non-small cell lung cancer, was under Phase |
clinical trial during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period,
Phase | clinical studies of a Class 1 innovative drug targeting the
isocitrate dehydrogenase-1 (IDH1) gene mutation were underway.
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The Group continued to enhance its deployment of original biological
drugs, improved new drugs and blood products. As at the end of the
Reporting Period, the Group had 28 biological drug projects under
development, 13 of which were new biological drugs focusing on anti-
tumor, immunity, and other therapeutic fields. One new biologic drug
for the treatment of anemia has entered a Phase Il clinical trial, with all
cases dismissed. CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical has further increased its
R&D investment in blood products to optimize the pipeline layout. The
intravenous immunoglobulin (10%) has completed the Phase Il clinical
trial, and the clinical trial summary report is being written. Moreover,
C1 Esterase Inhibitors have received approval for a clinical trial of drugs
issued by NMPA. The clinical trial for the treatment of acute attacks of
acute abdominal and/or facial hereditary angioedema in adults and
adolescents has already begun. CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical is the first
enterprise in Mainland China to obtain the approval for the clinical trial
of this drug. Currently, there is no company in Mainland China
producing and selling this product.

The Group continuously increased its investment in R&D for leading
businesses, developed business incubation platform, accelerated the
commercialization of R&D achievements, and improved the efficiency of
industrialization. These efforts further consolidated and enhanced the
core competitive advantages. In terms of TCM, KYAZ01-2011-020, the
Group's Class 1 TCM innovative drug for ischemic stroke, is currently in
the Phase Il clinical study stage. Furthermore, an improved new TCM
project for the treatment of cancer-related fatigue has received a notice
of acceptance for a clinical trial application. At present, the Group has
over 40 classic formulas in the pipeline, mainly focusing on the fields of
respiratory, gastroenterology, gynecology, pediatrics, and orthopedics,
and four of them are at the registration stage. During the Reporting
Period, the chemical drugs business obtained drug registration
approvals from NMPA for 19 chemical drug products. These products
include Omeprazole and Sodium Bicarbonate Capsule, Olmesartan
Medoxomil and Amlodipine Besylate Tablet, Levetiracetam
Concentrated Solution for Injection, and Amoxicillin Sodium Clavulanate
Potassium (I) for Injection. This has further enriched the product
portfolio in the treatment of hypertension, anti-infection, digestive
tract, and other fields. In particular, Omeprazole and Sodium
Bicarbonate Capsules, and Amoxicillin Sodium Clavulanate Potassium (II)
for Injection were registered as Class 3 chemical drugs. 13 products,
including the Citicoline Sodium Injection, Piracetam Tablet, and
Epalrestat Tablet, passed the consistency evaluation of the quality and
efficacy of generic drugs. Moreover, the Group obtained approval for
two formula food products for special medical use during the year. This
marks a successful entry into the special medical use formula food
business, which has significant growth potential.
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The Group proactively expanded external innovation and cooperation
and established a mechanism for business development synergy. The
Group is dedicated to promoting strategic cooperation with national
innovative institutions, such as the national medical center, in the field
of innovative medical projects and technologies, and aims to gain
access to top external experts for acquiring projects and technologies to
diversify and optimize its innovative R&D pipelines. The Group has co-
established five joint innovation centers with national innovation
platforms, including the National Center for Cardiovascular Diseases,
the National Clinical Research Center for Infectious Diseases, and the
National Engineering Research Center for Cell Growth Factor Drugs and
Protein Agents. During the Reporting Period, the Group enhanced the
strategic cooperation with the National Center for Cardiovascular
Diseases on crucial core technical issues relating to the generality,
progressiveness, and applicability of clinical needs in the cardiovascular
disease field. The Group also finalized the intentions for cooperation on
three projects involving innovative medical devices for cardiovascular
disease interventional surgery and heart failure treatment. These
decisions were based on clinical experts’ long-term clinical practice to
tackle current challenges in diagnosing and treating cardiovascular
diseases. The Group has also established cooperation with the National
Clinical Research Center for Infectious Diseases to conduct research and
development of new drugs, diagnostic reagents, and innovative vaccine
products in the field of infectious diseases, and both parties signed a
cooperation agreement for a new vaccine project in February 2023. In
addition, the Group entered into a cooperation agreement for a new
ophthalmic project with Wenzhou Medical University in September
2023. During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into strategic
cooperation agreements with Westlake University, the National
Biochemical Engineering Technology Research Center of Nanjing Tech
University, the Shenzhen Medical Academy of Research and Translation,
the Shenzhen Bay Laboratory, and the Shanghai Institute of Materia
Medica, Chinese Academy of Sciences. In November 2023, CR
Biopharm completed the signing of an agreement for technical
cooperation and development of innovative biological drug
preparations.
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During the Reporting Period, a number of projects under development
that were licensed-in by the Group progressed smoothly. QBH-196, a
new Class 1 small-molecule targeted anti-tumor drug introduced by CR
Sanjiu from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University in 2019, was in Phase |
clinical trial. ONC201, an innovative drug for brain glioma under a
licensing cooperation with Oncoceutics, Inc. in 2020, received a notice
of approval for clinical trials of drugs issued by the NMPA in July 2023
and has completed the enrollment for the Phase | clinical trial. The Class
2 innovative drug in the field of reproductive health introduced by CR
Zizhu in December 2022 was in Phase | clinical trial. Fascin protein
inhibitor DCO5F01, an innovative anti-tumor drug introduced by CR
Double-Crane from the U.S. company Novita in 2021, successfully
completed Phase | clinical trials.

Pharmaceutical Distribution Business

In terms of the pharmaceutical distribution business, the Group
continued to optimize its network layout and business structure,
enhance its full supply chain management and service capabilities, and
promote the development of the entire industrial chain of specialized
medical device business to support emerging businesses. The Group
also empowered its business development, service innovation, and
management improvement with digitalization, while continuously
strengthening the development of integrated and intelligent logistics.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical distribution
business recorded a segment revenue of RMB202,153.5 million,
representing an increase of 11.4% compared with that of 2022. The
gross profit margin of the distribution business was 5.9%, representing
a slight decrease of 0.2 percentage point as compared to the previous
year.
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The Group implemented a regional development strategy by
accelerating extended development to further expand the network
layout, enhance terminal coverage, and increase market shares. During
the Reporting Period, following the hierarchical diagnosis policy, the
Group actively developed the primary medical market. By strengthening
the allocation of product resources to primary levels and diversifying its
service capabilities, the Group recorded a year-on-year increase of
approximately 24% in sales revenue from primary medical institutions.
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical
distribution network has covered 28 provinces across the country,
serving approximately 240,000 clients, including 10,667 secondary and
tertiary hospitals, and around 100,000 primary medical institutions.
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The Group established a product committee and developed a unified
BD system to continuously enhance the integration of drug
procurement, marketing, and supply chain management nationwide.
From various dimensions, including product research, marketing
planning, and project planning, the Group coordinated and improved
its ability to obtain upstream resources. The Group has strengthened
the in-depth strategic cooperations with pharmaceutical companies
such as Sanofi, Roche and Johnson & Johnson. During the Reporting
Period, the Group facilitated the introduction of high-quality products
and introduced 49 innovative drug products that were newly approved
for marketing and commercialization during the year. Besides, the
Group conducted integrated negotiations for centralized procurement,
and in the eighth round of centralized procurement, the average
product acquisition rate was 62%. By strengthening unified planning
and overall negotiation of product lines in the out-of-hospital market,
the Group also introduced more than 70 in-depth marketing
specifications, including the in-depth marketing right for Roche’s anti-
influenza drug “Xofluza (¥R#&#)" and the agent distribution right for
Ailine’s scalp health drug “Cele (£ %%)” in the Chinese market.
Furthermore, the Group continuously improved its capabilities in
customs import services and achieved sales revenue of its import
business of RMB14.1 billion during the Reporting Period, representing a
year-on-year increase of 8%. The Group introduced 14 new imported
products, including blockbuster products such as “LITFULO (%48 :5)",
a Class 1 innovative drug for treating alopecia areata. Deeply involved
in the “Hong Kong and Macao Medicine and Equipment Connect”
policy in the Greater Bay Area, the Group has signed contracts with all
19 medical institutions in the second batch, assisted in obtaining 50
approvals for urgently needed clinical drugs/devices during the year and
successfully completed the procurement, import, and distribution of
related products. During the Reporting Period, CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial accelerated the incubation and expansion of emerging
businesses. Leveraging the acquisition of Fuda Pharmaceutical, CR
Pharmaceutical Commercial diversified its blood product resources and
expanded its blood product distribution business. Meanwhile, CR
Pharmaceutical Commercial accelerated the layout of the distribution
business in the field of animal healthcare and became the national
general agency for a newly approved triple inactivated vaccine for cats
in 2023.
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The Group continued to advance the professional development of
medical devices and expand the business across the entire value chain.
It also focused on strengthening platform construction and integrated
operational management. Specifically, the Group has established 40
independent medical device companies and developed business
relationships with approximately 20,000 downstream hospitals. During
the Reporting Period, the medical device business recorded revenue of
approximately RMB32.3 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of
7% (excluding the impact of epidemic prevention materials, which
showed a year-on-year growth of 22%). The Group actively pursued
product introductions in the medical device sector. During the Reporting
Period, the Group introduced 26 products as a general distributor/
agency and collaborated with upstream manufacturers such as DIRUI
Industrial Co., Ltd. (3% & & B & Ik 5 A IR 2 7)) to advance the
“Thousand Counties” project. The Group continuously strengthened its
specialized capabilities in orthopedics, interventional supplies, and IVD
diagnostic reagents, accelerating extensive development to optimize the
business layout in specialist areas. In the orthopedics sector, the Group
has set up a nationwide supply chain and service-integrated platform. It
has established over 80 orthopedic sub-warehouses established across
provinces and launched a surgery management system to further
enhance its intelligent professional service capabilities. Additionally, the
Group has established nine professional inspection companies in the
IVD field, which possess inspection qualifications for immunity,
biochemistry, microbiology and other sectors, and offer innovative
services such as smart laboratories. During the Reporting Period, the
Group actively expanded its medical device business to the upstream of
the industrial chain, set an IVD preparation joint venture company with
Fapon Biotech Company Ltd., and established a production base for IVD
and basic consumables. The first batch of nearly 100 medical device
products has entered mass production. At the same time, the Group
endeavoured to enhance the technological research and development
capabilities of medical devices. To achieve this goal, the Group set up
the Medical Device Research Institute and also formed a joint laboratory
with Beijing Jishuitan Hospital. This collaboration is dedicated to
researching and applying innovative medical technologies for bone and
joint transplantation and regeneration. Furthermore, the Group
continued to enhance the lean management capability of the in-
hospital logistics for its medical device business. During the Reporting
Period, the Group secured over 80 new terminal innovative service
projects, with more than 10 projects utilizing their proprietary software
systems.
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The Group accelerated the digital transformation of its distribution
business to empower business expansion, innovate value-added
services, and enhance management capabilities through intelligent
means. In response to the trend of channel expansion and prescription
outflow, the Group offered prescription platform services to hospitals,
and processed prescription outflow business with the total transaction
amount of approximately RMB500 million from major internet hospital
platforms during the year. The Group also obtained the first Category 3
license for an integrated internet hospital of traditional Chinese and
western medicine in Beijing. Its own internet medical platform, Beijing
Run Xiaoyi (;E/]\) Internet Hospital, jointly built with Beijing Jiangong
Hospital, has been officially launched, marking a breakthrough in the
development of digital medical business. During the Reporting Period,
the Group’s B2B online platform “CR Pharma e-Store (/B %75 #1)",
processed a diverse range of online transactions, including medical
insurance and commercial insurance payments, interest hospital
services, and prescription fulfillment. The platform recorded 1.96 million
orders with a total transaction amount of approximately RMB30.4
billion. Furthermore, the Group comprehensively promoted digital
value-added services for medical customers. By integrating the upstream
and downstream segments of the industrial chain through intelligent
methods, the Group strives to offer comprehensive supply chain
solutions and reshape the value of traditional medical channels. At
present, the Group has signed more than 120 COEs (Centers of
Excellence) agreements with over 70 medical institutions nationwide.
These partnership allow the Group to accurately access medical and
patient resources, creating valuable data assets and extending the
service model to customers. During the year, the Group operated three
lung cancer COEs, implemented the “Digital Therapy Project” in
cooperation with Xuzhou Children’s Hospital and Tai'an Hospital of
Traditional Chinese Medicine, and established a look-through digital
CRM (customer relationship management) platform to optimize service
capabilities, enhance customer loyalty, and effectively explore the sales
potential of high-quality customers. The Group also established a
“digital business operation management platform” that deeply
integrated the key aspects of digital development and business
management. This platform enabled the connection of multiple
systems, such as customer classification, credit funds, and supply chain
management, effectively managed and reduced long-aging accounts
receivable in a targeted manner, and controlled the payment schedule
through an intelligent payment management platform. Thanks to the
platform, the working capital turnover increased, and the operating
cash flow improved during the Reporting Period. Meanwhile, “Runyao
loT (PR ¥ EE)”, an intelligent logistics management tool, was
launched in a number of regions, which effectively prevented risks while
enhancing management quality and efficiency.
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At the same time, the Group continued to advance the establishment
of a professional logistics system, reinforce standardized operational
control, and coordinate the consolidation of warehouse resources, with
an aim to continually enhance the Group’s logistics capacity and
efficiency. During the Reporting Period, significant progress was
achieved in the development of major logistics centres in Beijing,
Guangzhou, Changsha, and other locations. At the end of the
Reporting Period, the Group'’s distribution business operated over 230
logistics centres. These centres are equipped for storing and distributing
temperature-controlled drugs nationwide, enabling the Group to offer
end-to-end management of the vaccines, blood products, and other
items that necessitate precise temperature control.

Pharmaceutical Retail Business

In terms of the pharmaceutical retail business, the Group has
consistently strengthened the development of specialized pharmacies,
refined business categories, improved operational quality and service
capabilities, and promoted the seamless integration of online and
offline operations to establish a competitive edge in the retail sector
through specialization, standardization, and digitalization.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s pharmaceutical retail business
recorded revenue of RMB9,578.8 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 26.2%, primarily due to the proactive approach in
embracing the prescription outflow trend and its continuous efforts to
enrich and optimize the product structure. The gross profit margin of
the retail business was 7.6%, representing a slight decrease of 0.5
percentage points as compared to the same period of last year. In 2023,
the Group’s DTP business achieved revenue of approximately RMB5.9
billion, representing an increase of approximately 16.3% year-on-year.
As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Group operated a total of
790 self-owned retail pharmacies, including 272 DTP professional
pharmacies in total (including 153 “dual-channel” pharmacies).
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The Group continued to strengthen the construction of high-quality
DTP specialty pharmacies and established a differentiated competitive
advantage in its retail business. The Group ranked second in the “2022-
2023 Top 10 DTP Enterprises” of CPEO and held 54 positions in the
“2022-2023 Top 100 Standalone Pharmacies (Professional Pharmacies)
in China”. During the Reporting Period, the Group focused on
uniformly negotiating for forward-looking and innovative products.
Nine new DTP product products were introduced, including the world's
first human-targeted CAR-T product, Relmacabtagene autoleucel
injection (fFE B & X 51%), and the first innovative drug approved
in China for cutaneous T-cell lymphoma, Mogamulizumab Injection .
Meanwhile, the Group launched the “Excellent Runyao (& i E )" in-
depth training program for pharmacists and shop managers in the
Group's professional pharmacies in cooperation with upstream
manufacturers. The aim is to systematically enhance the competitiveness
of professionalism.
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With the acceleration of outpatient treatment in pharmacies, there has
been a rapid increase in prescription outflows and concentration in the
industry. This trend has led to greater demands for pharmaceutical
service management capabilities in pharmacies. The Group has
consistently enhanced its professional service capability and drug supply
system, aiming for integrated, standardized, and regulated operation
and management of pharmacies. Efforts have also been made to
facilitate the acquisition of “dual-channel” and “outpatient
coordination” qualifications for pharmacies in order to actively
accommodate the growing outflow of prescriptions. During the
Reporting Period, the Group introduced a unified pharmacy service
management platform to bolster patient management and follow-up
services. This initiative aims to establish seamless coordination between
upstream and downstream sectors, offering professional pharmacy
services and management to both patients and manufacturers.
Furthermore, the Group has been proactively handling commercial
insurance payments and collaborating with Yibao Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (BREHZ (L£/8)HB R 2 7)) to introduce universal
outpatient insurance in provinces such as Hunan and Shandong. This
initiative has resulted in 300,000 individuals being insured, facilitating
medication services for the insured, and providing product access
services for manufacturers.

The Group promoted the digital transformation of its retail business and
established an online and offline integrated business model. The Group
had been actively constructing new 020 (online-to-offline) and B2C
(business-to-consumer) retail operation platforms, and launched the
online private domain platform “Runyao Youxuan (JF R {E3#)" to
acquire and operate private domain traffic. During the Reporting Period,
the sales of the online retail business further increased by over 30%
year-on-year. The Group has also established a centralized pharmacy
customer relationship management (CRM) system to optimize the
centralized management of members across all channels, leveraging
digitalization to strengthen customer loyalty. At present, the number of
members has reached nearly 3 million.
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OUTLOOK AND FUTURE STRATEGIES

The Group has always upheld the mission of “Protecting Human Health and
Improving Quality of Life”. Guided by public health needs and in adherence to
the national development strategy, the Group is committed to developing its
businesses in the “Pillars of a Great Power” and “People’s Livelihood of a
Great Power”. It will focus on improving the industrial chain and its role in the
industry, and will explore fields with high potential. The Group will strive to
achieve innovation-driven growth by strengthening its independent innovation
capacity, and will integrate advantageous resources and enrich technical
reserves with a focus on core disease areas. By benchmarking with
comprehensively and thoroughly world-class enterprises, the Group will
continue to optimize its business structure, improve its management
capabilities, and enhance its operational quality. By accelerating the
application of digital technology throughout the entire value chain, the Group
will explore new channels to enhance quality and efficiency in the ongoing
digital transformation of the pharmaceutical industry.

1. To serve national strategies and optimize business layout

By adhering to the national development strategy, the Group will
position itself as a “Guardian of People’s Health” in its operation. It will
actively invest in strategic emerging pharmaceutical industries for
business expansion to accelerate the cultivation of technology-driven
productive forces, featuring new industries and business forms. The
Group will strengthen its innovation and R&D capabilities, focusing on
addressing critical bottlenecks and challenges. It will vigorously develop
bio-innovative drugs and blood products, and establish a business
presence in the fields of vaccines and high-end medical equipment to
enhance the supply chain for high-end biomedicine products and
devices. The Group will implement comprehensive management of the
entire value chain of TCM to systematically enhance the competitive
advantage in the industry chain. The Group is committed to promoting
the high-quality development of the pharmaceutical industry, as well as
effectively enhancing its core competitiveness and core functions.
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To enhance core competitiveness by strengthening
technology and innovation

The Group will further strengthen its ability for independent innovation
and consider R&D and innovation as the cornerstone of building core
competitiveness. It will continue to focus on diseases with clinical
demand such as tumors, autoimmunity, cardiovascular, neurological,
and infectious diseases. The Group will pay close attention to changes
in targets and technological trends, and strengthen the differential
investments in new product pipelines. It will further improve the
construction of innovative technology platforms, increase investment in
such fields as innovative drugs, complex agents with high barriers, and
biological manufacturing, and explore cutting-edge technology
platforms such as organoids. The Group will accelerate the construction
of national key laboratories and national engineering and technology
research centers in the pharmaceutical field. It will also strengthen the
connection between the industrial chain and innovation chains by
deepening external cooperation with national/provincial innovation
centers, scientific research institutes, and other institutions to enhance
its capabilities in innovation and R&D. The Group will fully explore the
potential of its advantages in industrialization and commercialization to
promote the transformation of scientific and technological
achievements.

To promote management improvement and value creation
by benchmarking against first-tier international enterprises
Adhering to the principles of “excellent products, outstanding brands,
leading innovation, and modern governance”, the Group will launch
benchmarking initiative with first-tier international enterprises to
enhance management practices and foster value creation in a
comprehensive manner, and to facilitate the concurrent growth of the
Group's scale and enhancement of the benefits from its quality.
Focusing on the main business and strategic objectives, the Group will
strengthen its capabilities in strategic leadership, scientific management
and control, value creation, and self-innovation through measures such
as sound work systems, improved operational mechanisms, optimized
management processes, and strictly supervised inspections. This will
help consolidate the management foundation, build competitive
advantages for its core business, and introduce in-depth lean
management to enhance the overall efficiency of the Group and
promote its high-quality development.
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4.

To open new development horizons driven by internal and
external development

The Group has set a strategic objective for the “14th Five-Year Plan”,
capitalizing on opportunities arising from the development and reform
of the pharmaceutical industry, and persisting in the development of
both organic growth and external development to enhance the organic
integration of capital operation and industrial operation. The Group is
committed to developing quality and efficiency with focus on its
consumers, strengthening innovative R&D, and optimizing product
structure. Efforts will be made to constantly boost brand awareness and
reputation, and to focus on strengthening the core business to
consolidate its core competitive strengths. The Group will focus on
high-value areas crucial to the strategic development such as
biopharmaceuticals, innovative small-molecule drugs, high-end medical
devices and characteristic TCM, and continue to enhance the
investment and engage in mergers and acquisitions in strategic
industries. The Group will constantly consolidate, supplement,
strengthen, and extend the industrial chain, so as to achieve the
sustainable and high-quality development.

To empower business innovation and transformation with
intelligent measures

The Group will fully promote industrial digitalization, governance
intellectualization, data factorization and construction of technological
platform. The Group will continue to enhance its core competitiveness
through digital transformation, further consolidate its intellectual and
digital foundation capabilities, and expand the digital footprint of its
key businesses, with a focus on promoting intelligent manufacturing
and model innovation, so as to facilitate the transformation and
upgrading of industries and high-quality development through digital
intelligence. The Group will strengthen the level of digital
empowerment of R&D innovation, promote the rapid development of
intelligent manufacturing, so as to raise the level of modernization in
both industry and supply chains. Efforts will be continuously made to
expand the “Internet+” in medical care and pharmaceutical application
exploration and model innovation, and to apply digital construction to
achieve the effective improvement of the quality of management.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group adopts a prudent treasury management policy to maintain a solid
and healthy financial position.

The Group funds its operations principally from cash generated from its
operations, bank loans and other debt instruments and equity financing from
investors. Its cash requirements relate primarily to production and operating
activities, business expansion, repayment of liabilities as they become due,
capital expenditures, interest and dividend payments.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank balances and cash of
RMB24,650.7 million (2022: RMB15,223.7 million), which were primarily in
RMB and HKD.

As at 31 December 2023 the RMB-denominated, and HKD-denominated bank
borrowings accounted for approximately 99.9% (2022: 99.1%) and 0.1%
(2022: 0.9%), respectively, of the Group’s total bank borrowings. Among the
Group's total bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023, a substantial portion
of approximately 79.5% (2022: 88.9%) would be due within one year.

The Group’s current ratio (being the ratio of total current assets to total
current liabilities) was 1.3:1 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 1.3:1).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (being the ratio of net
debt divided by total equity) was 42.2% (2022: 49.6%).

In 2023, the Group’s net cash from operating activities amounted to
RMB15,549.9 million (2022: RMB10,821.1 million). The Group’s net cash
used in investing activities in 2023 and 2022 amounted to RMB2,067.3
million and RMB819.2 million, respectively. In 2023 and 2022, the Group’s
net cash used in financing activities amounted to RMB4,065.3 million and
RMB9,126.1 million, respectively.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total bank borrowings amounted to
RMB54,213.1 million (31 December 2022: RMB40,745.2 million), of which
RMB1,915.3 million (31 December 2022: RMB1,233.4 million) were secured
and accounted for 3.5% (31 December 2022: 3.0%) of the total borrowings.

Certain of the Group's trade and bills receivables with an aggregate net book
value of RMB1,161.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB703.3 million) have
been pledged as security.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (31
December 2022: nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's operations are located in the PRC and most of its transactions are
denominated and settled in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risks on certain cash and cash equivalents, borrowings from banks and trade
payables denominated in foreign currencies, the majority of which are
denominated in USD. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter
into any derivatives contracts to hedge the foreign exchange exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed around 72,986 staff (31
December 2022: 67,000 staff) in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, experience and
prevailing market rate while performance bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include, for example, medical
insurance and training.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

“Protecting Human Health and Improving Quality of Life” is our lofty mission.
In the future, the Company will seize the opportunities for developing and
transforming China’s healthcare industry to propel the consolidation,
enhancement and renovation of the industrial chain with R&D innovation,
investment and M&As as the drivers and based on better resource allocation.
We will further promote business development and industrial upgrading, and
continuously enhance our core competitiveness for high-quality development.
All in all, we are committed to becoming a leader in the pharmaceutical and
health industry that is trusted by the public and driven by innovation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the CG Code
as its own code of corporate governance. The Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period, save
and except the following:

In respect of Code Provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, the Company did not
have formal letters of appointment for Directors. Since all Directors are subject
to re-election by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting and at least
about once every three years on a rotation basis in accordance with the
Articles of Association, there are sufficient measures to ensure the corporate
governance of the Company complies with the same level to that required
under the CG Code.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities and Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. The delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed
by the Board. The management is required to timely report to and seek
approval from the Board before engaging in any significant transactions. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
five Board committees, namely the Executive Committee, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee (together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s
senior management independently. The Board has adopted effective
mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are available to the
Board and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such
mechanisms on an annual basis.

All Directors have the obligations to carry out duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to act in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect of legal
action against the Directors and officers.

Board Composition
During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report,
the Board comprises the following Directors:

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Han Yuewei

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mdm. Deng Rong
(appointed Chief Financial Officer on 13 June 2023)
(appointed Executive Director on 27 December 2023)

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
Mdm. Weng Jingwen (resigned on 13 June 2023)
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Non-executive Directors

Mdm. Guo Wei (appointed on 13 February 2023)

Mr. Sun Yonggiang (appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mr. Hou Bo

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Mr. Lin Guolong (resigned on 27 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Biographies — Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the year, the Board has met the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors.

The Company has also complied with Rules 3.10(2), 3.10A and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board (with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise).

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company
considers all of them to be independent parties. Details are set out on page
107 of this annual report.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationship) with any other
Director, nor between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Corporate Governance Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as the identity of the public companies or
organisations and an indication of the time involved, the Directors have
agreed to disclose their commitments and any subsequent change to the
Company in a timely manner.
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ABRSESERRE Induction and Continuous Professional Development
N_T-_=FRNEZTNARREEHELZE - Mdm. Guo Wei, Mdm. Deng Rong and Mr. Sun Yonggiang, being directors of
HALZLEREXKEEEEDFNR -_ZE—_=F =  the Company appointed during 2023, obtained the legal advice referred to in
AZ+NB - Z—Z-_mWF—A++E£HKEK_ZF Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, on 28 February 2023, 17 January 2024 and
—FE—A++E-HBEEETREIE3.09D KT 17 January 2024 respectively, and each of them has confirmed he/she
Mz EREER  MEEHEERTHEIEAZAR  understood his/her obligations as a director of the Company.
NAIESMEE -
RIBCEEATAITENEXEC141E 28 % Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should
HESLESERERRE BEVPFHFHEMFER  participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
Bee UREEETABEE2EEMMYAR  their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
HEZBEATHEZGELER - remains informed and relevant.
BEHEZT2ESHESBEERENH LM Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction package covering
RESEEFABELREERTE L 2EMTER - A2 the statutory and regulatory obligations of a Director of a listed company. The
RIEAEELTHMN e MEENSAIE - Company has also arranged in-house trainings for Directors in the form of
seminars and reading materials.
EENFALENFETEERBELOT : Participation of Directors in continuous professional development during the

year is as follows:

Nature of Continuous Professional
Development Programmes

ITRERIHNTEE

BRELE

HITEERERHITE

ABENEE

HITEEREEH

BALE

HITEEREREIEE

¥Axt:
(R-B-=FXA+=REZFEREHEE)
(R-B-=F+-A-t+AEZEHTES)

HITEE  BREIBKERGEH

PEZTRLT(MN-E-ZF~A+=ZHED)

FHITEF

gsnt(R-E-_=F_A1+=REZT)

BKBEER-Z-=F+-A-++AEZT)

FELE

Ehrat

WEEEE (RZB-=F+-A-T+HEH)

BUIHITEE

BRETL

DEELE

BEEEE

FRELE

BRI R
Wil GER/
SRARATHE -
AR/ AR ERE

Receiving training;
attending and/or
giving talks at
seminars,
conference

Name of Directors and/or forum

Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Han Yuewei v/
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Bai Xiaosong v/

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran v/

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mdm. Deng Rong TEANA
(appointed Chief Financial Officer on 13 June 2023)
(appointed Executive Director on 27 December 2023)
Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
Mdm. Weng Jingwen (resigned on 13 June 2023) TEANA
Non-executive Directors
Mdm. Guo Wei (appointed on 13 February 2023) /
Mr. Sun Yonggiang (appointed on 27 December 2023) TEANA
Mr. Hou Bo 4
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang /
Mr. Lin Guolong (resigned on 27 December 2023) v/
Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 4
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun v/
Mr. Fu Tingmei 4
Mr. Zhang Kejian 4

BAESMEEER
EEe1 RN
HEBHER
Reading regulatory
updates or
information
relevant to

the Company or

its business

v/

TEANA

NEFANA

v/
TEANA
/
v/
v

NSNS

EERBEOFBRNAERE107H -
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Details of the Directors’ service contract are set out on page 107 of this

annual report.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. With respect to regular meetings of the Board, Directors
usually receive at least fourteen days prior written notice of the meeting to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched
to the Directors at least five days before the meetings to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the
meetings. When the Directors or Board Committee members are unable to
attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman of the
Board or the relevant chairman of the Board Committee prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the Board
Committees and the decisions made, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board and Board
Committee meeting are kept by the duly appointed secretary of the meeting
and are open for inspection by Directors.
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TRRIHPTEF
BRELLE

HITEEREREHITE
BERMLE

HITEERERIEE
Baxt
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18

Board members

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Han Yuewei

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong
(appointed Chief Financial Officer
on 13 June 2023)
(appointed Executive Director
on 27 December 2023)

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and
Vice President

Mdm. Weng Jingwen
(resigned on 13 June 2023)

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lin Guolong

(resigned on 27 December 2023)
Mdm. Guo Wei

(appointed on 13 February 2023)
Mr. Sun Yonggiang

(appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mr. Hou Bo
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

HE /BT

SRR

Meetings
Attended/Held

4110

5/10

AR NA

3/10

6/10

6/10

AR NA

6/10
6/10

EERER
R
Written
Resolutions

4/10

4/10

TEANA

4/10

4/10

4/10

TEANA

4/10
4/10

2% (E  During 2023, ten Board meetings (four of which were held by way of
17 circulation and passing of written resolutions) were held and the attendance
of each Director at the meeting is set out in the table below:

9/10

MERNA

213

710

10/10
10/10
MERNA
10/10

10/10

8/10
10/10
10/10
10/10
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied
with the required standards as set out in the Model Code during the year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises all the executive Directors,
namely Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman), Mr. Tao Ran and Mdm. Deng Rong
(appointed on 27 December 2023). During the Reporting Period, Mdm. Weng
Jingwen was a member of the Executive Committee and resigned on 13 June
2023.

The principal duties of the Executive Committee include but are not limited to
the following:

1. to monitor the formulation, revision and implementation of the
Company’s strategic plans;

2. to monitor the execution of the Company’s business plans and the
Company's business operations;

3. to monitor the operation of the Company’s subsidiaries;

4. to approve the scope of authority delegated to the Senior Management
of the Company and its changes;

5. to exercise part of the power on behalf of the Board between regular
Board meetings, with its power restricted to the areas that are
considered by the Board as material and related to the formulation of
the policy and business development direction of the Company;

6.  to review and approve operational matters which constitutes below 5%
(for matters within the business plan of the Group) or below 1% (for
matters outside the business plan of the Group) of the audited net asset
of the Group in the previous financial year (except for notifiable
transactions and connected transactions for which announcements are
required under the Listing Rules);

7. to review and approve the financing matters within the financing plan
resolved and passed by the Board (including bank loans and trusts etc.)
and their corresponding guarantee matters;

8. to review and approve on behalf of the Board the financing matters
within the financing plan resolved and passed by the board of directors
of the subsidiaries of the Company (including bank loans and trusts
etc.) and their corresponding guarantee matters;

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2023 71



gl

Paras

XERmE

Corporate Governance Report

9.

EARRNALAMBARFTE EABUT
R

. RREFSHEREARR LA
BRAAMNTEEMR FARRIHAE
RABTHRITHER e/ T
B

i. REEZFgHERARANHER
Al R, SiEEE A BT AR E R
H W 48

i. KREXEFGHEAQAFMEMBAR
CINSYE R AN RS S/
BMERERHIELMREE

v. REESGHERDF R HHN
BARMIRITHBFEEFLOR
HiAREE(BREEETARY
EEBPONGRERES) X

v. HEEMEEPAZHEEENRERX
f EMERRBENE - A RAEE
—BHA AR EEEZEH
ES OGN

RRC(EBEEBRERIE)RTEEZA
ExewRMRMENSINEREER

RERBEFTT —BIULEEEEFTIU
ARARKGNIEERBTNEEHRER
BN/ REZOBXM

BREHEFERRAZEGREMNIME
A EER R

REZESSHAETHIAMERSEWM IR
RAEEL T EBEEAS - RIE TR
F13.10BEE L HGIEE RS IR L
MR E1B18EEHLO N E  BZAKE
WAL BEARRNMB AR EEMEE
BHRNENMAEBEL -

HWITZEEeNEERBRERBIMEARRAF
MU ER]

72

20235 F®k ERBELEEARARD

oy

to exercise the following power in accordance with the needs of the
Company and its subsidiaries:

i. to approve on behalf of the Board banking facilities and/or
financial instruments to be granted to or issued by the Company
for the needs of the Company and its subsidiaries;

ii. to approve on behalf of the Board the grant of any loan or other
financial assistance to the Company’s subsidiaries and/or
associates;

ii.  to approve on behalf of the Board the provision of corporate
guarantees, indemnity and/or letters of comfort by the Company
for its subsidiaries and/or associates;

iv.  to approve on behalf of the Board the opening of bank or
securities related accounts and other ancillary matters of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries, including appointing the
signatories and approving the terms and mandate for such
accounts; and

V. to affix the Company’s seal on any instrument or document
related to the above items and approve any one or more of the
Directors of the Company to sign the instrument or document;

to decide external donation matters which should be reviewed and
approved by the Board in accordance with the “Donation Management
Policy of the China Resources Group”;

to authorize one or more Directors for executing relevant documents to
be filed and/or submitted to regulatory authorities on behalf or in the
name of the Company;

to deal with any other specific business authorized to this Committee
by the Board; and

to approve on behalf of the Board the relevant arrangements for the
publication of voluntary announcement(s), overseas regulatory
announcement(s) made pursuant to Rule 13.10B of the Listing Rules,
announcement(s) made pursuant to Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules,
next day disclosure return(s), or announcement(s) on the principal
financial results of the subsidiaries of the Company on the HKEXnews
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

The written terms of reference of the Executive Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During 2023, four meetings were held by the Executive Committee which
primarily covered banking and financing matters of the Group.

HTEEERE

RERREE (BITZEEFE
PR
BELLt(R-—T_=F+-A-+LHEZE)
PFEZRT(RZZEZ=F B +=HET)

&)

HE BITEERE

Meetings

Executive Committee members Attended/Held
Mr. Bai Xiaosong (Chairman of Executive Committee) 4/4
Mr. Tao Ran 4/4
Mdm. Deng Rong (appointed on 27 December 2023) 3 A N/A
Mdm. Weng Jingwen (resigned on 13 June 2023) 3/4
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises six members, including four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne
(Chairman), Mr. Kwok Kin Fun, Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhang Kejian, and
two non-executive Directors, namely Mdm. Jiao Ruifang and Mdm. Guo Wei
(appointed on 27 December 2023). During the Reporting Period, Mr. Lin
Guolong was a member of the Audit Committee and resigned on 27
December 2023.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to the
following:

1. to review and monitor the auditor’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards;

2. to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

3. to discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences, the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations, and ensuring
coordination where more than one audit firm is involved:;

4. to monitor integrity of the Group’s financial statements, annual reports
and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports and reviewing significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them;

5. to review the Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control system; and

6.  to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and
has appropriate standing within the Group, and reviewing and
monitoring its effectiveness.
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The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2023, three meetings were held by the Audit Committee to discuss
and consider the following matters:

. reviewed the financial statements, annual report, interim report and
internal control report; and

o reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
internal control (including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function) and risk management
systems and processes.

Attendance of each Audit Committee member is set out in the table below:

BRWL L (FAZEEERE)

Fmut(R_E-_=ZF+-_A=-++tHEZMDT)
ERFLt
Bk F b
BEELE
R EEA
MEREEE (R E-_=F+-A - ++BET)

HE " BITERRE

Meetings

Attended/Held

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 3/3
(Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Mdm. Guo Wei (appointed on 27 December 2023) T 3E A N/A

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang 3/3

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 3/3

Mr. Fu Tingmei 3/3

Mr. Zhang Kejian 3/3

Mr. Lin Guolong (resigned on 27 December 2023) 3/3

REZEES

REZBEHRKADEAKEAR  BE—H3F
WITESRRBREAL (ER)  AREEBIIE
WITES  DHIRBRMZL - SBRBEL F
EERFEERRRBEAE -

RAZEGNIZBEBFEEIRR

1. ELBFERHEFEHEM  ABREN
(BfERE  OBRERAE) - LRER
BREAAATMERTRYEFRIEL L
SEIR S

2. HEMREREFNRABRREBRERLRER
MEEZEEEFAE TENEBE
SRIEAMNZF RER - A RE Bies K
RMEBIR R BERT P E BRHER

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members, including one
non-executive Director, Mr. Han Yuewei (chairman) and four independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, Mr. Kwok Kin
Fun, Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhang Kejian.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited
to the following:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to develop and maintain a policy for the nomination of the Directors
which includes the nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to identify, select and
recommend candidates for directorship during the year, and to review
periodically the policy and progress made towards achieving the
objectives set in the nomination policy;
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3. to develop, maintain and review periodically the policy concerning the
diversity of the Board;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and the succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;

5. toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships with regard to the nomination
policy of the Company; and

6.  to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on criteria
such as integrity, whether the individual can bring to the Board the
perspectives, how the individual can contribute to the diversity of the Board,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties
and responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee will
then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2023, three meetings were held by the Nomination Committee (one
of which were held by way of circulation and passing of written resolutions),
mainly to review the Board Diversity Policy, which included the assessment of
its effectiveness, and to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board, to consider and make recommendation on the appointment of new
Directors and to review the time required from non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors etc..

Attendance of each Nomination Committee member is set out in the table
below:

HE/ M|

ETEERE RERRE

Meetings Written

Nomination Committee members Attended/Held Resolutions
BRELE Mr. Han Yuewei 12 11 23

(EZE2+) (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)

22 3k e Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 12 11 23
BRELE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 22 11 33
BEEEE Mr. Fu Tingmei 22 11 33
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian 212 11 33
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Summary of the Director Nomination Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of a Board with a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives. Given the importance of the
Nomination Committee’s role in ensuring the balance within the Board and to
give greater focus and transparency in relation to the election of Directors, the
Company has established the Director Nomination Policy. This policy aims to
set out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the
selection, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors, and to ensure
the Board has a balance of skills experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

Nomination Criteria: The Nomination Committee will assess, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorship to the Board by giving due
consideration to criteria including (but not limit to) reputation for character
and integrity, region and industry experience, diversity in aspects, commitment
for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time, and potential
contributions brought to the Board.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors: The Nomination
Committee may consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or
selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from Shareholders with due consideration given to the criteria; the
Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems appropriate in
evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, background
checks, presentations and third party reference checks; upon considering a
candidate suitable for the directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the
recommendation to the Board for appointment; the Nomination Committee
will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate to the
Remuneration Committee for consideration of remuneration package of such
selected candidate.

Monitoring and Reporting: The Nomination Committee will assess and
report on the composition of the Board in the corporate governance report.

Review of the Director Nomination Policy: The Nomination Committee
will review the Director Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it is
transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects
the current regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practice.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

The Company’s Director Nomination Policy is available at the website of the
Company.
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Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in maintaining
a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include and make good
use of differences in the perspectives, talents, skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members of the
Board. The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition of
the Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment of new
Directors, and also oversees the conduct of the annual review of the
effectiveness of the Board. The Nomination Committee also develops and
maintains the Board Diversity Policy and periodically reviews the effectiveness
of this Policy and whether the measurable objectives are achieved and/or
should be amended.

Measurable Objectives: The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree
annually all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the Board
may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity and measure
progress accordingly.

Monitoring and Reporting: The Nomination Committee will report annually,
in the corporate governance report of the Company, on the process it has
used in relation to Board appointments. Such report will include a summary of
the Board Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing the
Board Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving these measurable
objectives.

Review of the Board Diversity Policy: The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy annually, which will include an assessment of
its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that
may be required and recommend any such revisions to the Board for approval.

In respect of the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has assessed
the diversity measures achieved by the Company. There is a balanced mix of
professional experience, knowledge and skills, as well as cultural and
education background and length of service at both the Board and senior
management level. As of the date of this annual report, there are currently
four female Directors on the Board and one additional female senior
management members, showing the Company’s commitment to achieve
gender diversity. As of 31 December 2023, the number of female employees
had accounted for approximately 50% in the total number of the Group’s
employees.

The Company will continue to ensure there is a diversity (including gender
diversity) when recruiting and promoting staff at mid to senior level so that it
will have a pipeline of senior management and potential successors with
diverse background, experience, skills and gender to ensure diversity can
continued to be achieved over time. The Company will continue to emphasize
training and provide long-term development opportunities for its talents, and
take steps to achieve diversity (including gender diversity) at all levels of the
Company.
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The Company’s Board Diversity Policy is available at the website of the
Company.

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Remuneration and Appraisal Committee currently comprises five
members, including one non-executive Director, Mr. Sun Yonggiang
(appointed on 27 December 2023) and four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Kwok Kin Fun (Chairman), Mdm. Shing Mo Han
Yvonne, Mr. Fu Tingmei and Mr. Zhang Kejian. During the Reporting Period,
Mr. Lin Guolong was a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee and resigned on 27 December 2023.

The principal duties of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee include
but are not limited to the following:

1.

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and Senior Management remuneration and
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

being responsible for either (i) determining, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management; or (ii) making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management (this should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment);

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

reviewing and approving the Senior Management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive Directors
and Senior Management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive;

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
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9. advising the Shareholders on how to vote with respect to any service
contracts of the Directors that require Shareholders’ approval under the
Listing Rules;

10.  reviewing the Group’s policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and Senior Management;

11.  reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes of the
Company and/or its principal subsidiaries as required under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules;

12.  studying, formulating and making recommendations to the Board on
material policies and proposals of the Company for remuneration
allocation in accordance with relevant requirements and procedures,
including the mechanism for managing the allocation of total
remuneration, correlation mechanism between remuneration and work
efficacy, systems for dynamically monitoring total remuneration of
employees, the Company’s budget for total remuneration, adjustments
to the budgeting and settlement plans;

13. organizing the formulation of the Senior Management’s performance
and remuneration management policies, establishing mechanism for
differentiated assessments, to robust remuneration incentives and
incentive limits, etc, and making recommendation to the Board on the
above matters;

14.  reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on annual and
term-wide operating performance pledges of the Senior Management;
and

15. organizing and launching operating performance appraisals on the
Senior Management in accordance with relevant requirements and
procedures, making recommendations to the Board on the appraisal
results, and reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the Senior Management’s remuneration allocation proposals with
reference to the corporate goals and objectives.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During 2023, five meetings (two of which was held by way of circulation and
passing of written resolutions) were held by the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee mainly to make recommendation to the Board for the
remuneration of the Directors and to review the remuneration policy etc..
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BHHEERZEeRBEHFLXSEEMNIEN  Attendance of each Remuneration and Appraisal Committee member is set
RN out in the table below:
BOEERE EBEERBRKY
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee Meetings Written
FMEERZEERE members Attended/Held Resolutions
BRIEE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 33 22 5/5
(BFWEZRZECTE) (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mlﬁé%é Mr. Lin Guolong 33 plp) 5/5
(RZEZ=F+ZAZ+tB&HT) (resigned on 27 December 2023)
??ﬂdﬁﬁ‘ti Mr. Sun Yonggiang A NA T NA A NA
(RZBZ=ZF+-A-TtREZME) (appointed on 27 December 2023)
22 3k e Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 113 22 3/5
BEEEE Mr. Fu Tingmei 33 22 5/5
RRELE Mr. Zhang Kejian 33 22 5/5
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Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprises five members,
including two executive Directors namely Mr. Bai Xiaosong and four
independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Fu Tingmei (Chairman),
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, Mr. Kwok Kin Fun and Mr. Zhang Kejian.
During the Reporting Period, Mdm. Weng Jingwen was a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee and resigned on 13 June 2023.

The principal duties of the Corporate Governance Committee include but are
not limited to the following:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management on corporate
governance;

3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.

The written terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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REZEBZ=F HEELRETEELHRT— ?/’2@ During 2023, one meeting was held by the Corporate Governance Committee
HEEMES WA R RETREEATRINE) mainly to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
BhEERTEEXNELEZSTEEMBNE Attendance of each Corporate Governance Committee member is set out in
MT&: the table below:
HEBITEBRE
Meetings
Corporate Governance Committee members Attended/Held
WIEREE Mr. Fu Tingmei 1”1
(PRERZESFE) (Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee)
HEEASE Mr. Bai Xiaosong 11
FEZTLL(WZZE_=FXA+=ZHHT)  Mdm. Weng Jingwen (resigned on 13 June 2023) 1”1
BEBWL L Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne 11
SEE) S Mr. Kwok Kin Fun 11
SR ER S A Mr. Zhang Kejian 11
HERRARE ATTENDANCE AT ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
ERADNBEBITT—RIREAE  BIFAZ-ZF  During the year, the Company held one general meeting, namely the AGM
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EHZBE FTMEEZRZBEEREXERZR
BEeMEIFHALERRBEFAS  BEAK
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FREZ WAREFTAETRR REFTA
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held on 29 May 2023. Details of matters resolved and the poll results were
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website after
the general meeting on that day.

The chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee attended the AGM to
ensure effective communication with the Shareholders. Separate resolution
was proposed at the AGM on each substantially separate issue, including re-
election of each retiring director, and was put to vote at the meeting by way
of poll. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll were explained at the
meeting.
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EA=+ANH
BITHNRRBERS
Annual General
Meeting held on
29 May 2023
FTERIFNITEE Chairman and non-executive Director
BRESE Mr. Han Yuewei -
HITEERERENITE Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
HEBEM £ Mr. Bai Xiaosong -
HITEEREBH Executive Director and Vice President
FESR B Mr. Tao Ran v
HITEFRELEBIGEH Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
BA L+ Mdm. Deng Rong 38 A N/A

(R—ZBE-_=FA+=AEZTEFHHE) (appointed Chief Financial Officer on 13 June 2023)
(RZZE-_=ZF+-_A-++BEZTHITEE) (appointed Executive Director on 27 December 2023)

HITEE BHEABERSEH Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Vice
President
SEZLT(RZEZ=F A +=H&MT) Mdm. Weng Jingwen (resigned on 13 June 2023) -

HHMITEF Non-executive Directors

FHmu Tt (RN E_=F_A+=-HEZMT) Mdm. Guo Wei (appointed on 13 February 2023) v
Foxeaf e Mr. Sun Yonggiang (appointed on 27 December 2023) 38 A N/A

(RZZTZ=F+—A=+tBHEZMT)

BESEE Mr. Hou Bo v
EmBs X+ Mdm. Jiao Ruifang v
MEEEER-_ZT_=ZF+=-A=-++tHET) Mr Lin Guolong (resigned on 27 December 2023) v/
BUFHITESE Independent non-executive Directors

BREMWZT Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne v
DR B ST AE Mr. Kwok Kin Fun v
BEERE Mr. Fu Tingmei v
ok e BR SR A Mr. Zhang Kejian v
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Remuneration of Senior Management

Details of the remuneration by band of the senior management of the
Company, whose biographies are set out on pages 98 to 101 of this annual
report, for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:

AB

Number of

Remuneration band individuals

Nil — RMB 1,000,000

RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000
RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000
RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000
RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000
RMB3,000,001 to RMB3,500,000
RMB3,500,001 to RMB4,000,000
RMB4,000,001 to RMB4,500,000
RMB4,500,001 to RMB5,000,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 which give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s results
and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.
The Company provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on
Company's performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Co8mpany is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 127 to 300 of this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
maintaining an adequate risk management and internal control systems
(which cover, among others, significant risks concerning the Group's
operations and material environmental, social and governance risks) to
safeguard shareholder investments and Company assets and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis. The risk management and
internal control systems can provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss and are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining business objectives.

The Group has established a comprehensive risk management and internal
control system, and devoted significant attention to internal control measures
of its pharmaceutical manufacturing, pharmaceutical distribution and
pharmaceutical retail businesses. It has adopted stringent internal control
measures and operating procedures to regulate all stages of its pharmaceutical
value chain, from research and development to manufacturing, distribution
and retail. The Group's internal control system is designed according to
relevant industrial and management standards, including the GMP and GSP
requirements. The Group implements the procedures for periodic internal
control audit, internal risk management, and error correction and prevention
on a regular basis.

With respect to dissemination of inside information, the Company has
adopted its “Information Disclosure Policy” setting out the procedures of
proper information disclosure. Release of inside information shall be led by
the Board. Unless duly authorized, all staff members of the Company shall not
disseminate inside information relating to the Group to any external parties
and shall not respond to media report or market speculation which may
materially affect the trading price or volume of the Shares.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal audit
department include reviewing the financial condition, risk management and
internal control of the Group and conducting audits of subsidiaries of the
Company on a regular basis. The internal audit department is required to
report to the Audit Committee and the Board in relation to its review of the
Group's risk management and internal control system annually, and if there is
any material deficiency, such issue has to be reported in a timely manner.

Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and considered the systems to be effective and adequate. The Audit
Committee has also assessed whether the Group's internal audit department
is adequately resourced and reviewed its effectiveness.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditor
to the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately as
follows:

k]
Amount
(AR#F5)
(RMB'000)
PR 7% 8 7 Type of services

% ER 75 Audit services 17,600

IEZ RS Non-audit services
— HE b fR 7S — Other services 1,190
#agt Total 18,790

NEME COMPANY SECRETARY
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BLZERATIWE - EHlE—FFE F2H
ARARIEHA-S_=F"A+=H2R%-
BEARNWETIFARANEZHES  B#RAE
ECERTUFEHORARMESFNEEREAS
BEREFgREERL -AQBHAGMEMNE
ZHBARARRAIRNTESTREEVBEHE
RE - RZEZ=FRN BRENEKRLESAH
BREFRBT L5/ NS EZEEEEET -

REZRGE R EHBBER

ERBEXBERY  ARERTEHEBERNT
BRA HEXREARZETRAAAXEREE
BRI EEER - B85 - Ml - BEF  REREEM
B REBARA T (ERBE) - EA A
WREE EENRE WREARBEBRER(E2
REP -ZEn HER BERANEHAS)
WEMT  BZEBEBEFEM BFXmEE
FHRARABMLIEAFIRREMS R ARND
BETR LELBRAMAEZEEENERRS
REAZREGER - (EZHBRARAARHE
BREE) -

From 1 January 2023 to 12 June 2023, the company secretary of the
Company (“Company Secretary”) was Mr. Lo Chi Lik, Peter (“Mr. Lo"), a
solicitor in Hong Kong. With effect from 13 June 2023, Mr. LO resigned and
Mr. So Yiu Fung (“Mr. So"”) was appointed as the Company Secretary. For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 13
June 2023. Although Company Secretary is not a full time employee of the
Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary
advises the Board on governance matters. The primary contact person of the
Company with Company Secretary is Mdm. Deng Rong, the executive
Director, and chief financial officer of the Company. Each of Mr. Lo and Mr.
So has confirmed that he has attended at least 15 hours of professional
development in 2023.

ANTI-CORRUPTION SYSTEM AND WHISTLE-
BLOWING POLICY

In all commercial intercourse, the Group abides by business ethics and market
rules, and the Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for business
ethics supervision, and strictly prevent corruption, embezzlement, bribery,
fraud, money laundering and other incidents. The Group has also adopted the
“Whistleblowing Policy”, encouraging its employees, directors and officers as
well as other parties with whom the Group has dealings (including customers,
contractors, suppliers, creditors and debtors, etc.) to report any misconduct
concerning the Group to the disciplinary department of the Company by
email, post or face-to-face meeting, and the disciplinary department shall
report any such reports to the chairman of the Audit Committee. (For more
details, please refer to the Sustainability Report of the Company).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the Group’s
business, performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The AGMs provide opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The Chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the
Board Committees will normally attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also be invited to attend the AGMs to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a Shareholders’
communication policy which aims at establishing a two-way relationship and
communication between the Company and the Shareholders and maintains a
website of the Company at http://www.crpharm.com, where up-to-date
information on the Group's business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

The Board has conducted a review of the implementation of the Shareholders’
communication policy during the year and considered that it remained
effective in enhancing open communication between the Company and its
Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting and putting
forward proposals at the general meetings

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the Directors
are required to call a general meeting if the Company has received requests to
do so from members of the Company representing at least 5% of the total
voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meeting.
Such requests (a) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such requests
(a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing at the
registered office of the Company for the attention of the Board) or in
electronic form (by email: crpharm-ir@crpharm.com); and (b) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it. In accordance with Section
567 of the Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting within 21
days after the date on which they become subject to the requirement under
Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance and such meeting must be held on
a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting.
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Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that members may
request the Company to give, to the members who are entitled to attend the
AGM, notice of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at its annual general meeting. The Company must give such notice
of resolution if it has received requests that it do so from (a) the members of
the Company representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50 members who have a
right to vote on the resolution at the annual general meeting to which the
requests relate. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in hard copy
form (by depositing at the registered office of the Company for the attention
of the Board) or in electronic form (by email: crpharm-ir@crpharm.com); (b)
must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must be received by
the Company not later than (i) six weeks before the annual general meeting
to which the requests relate; or (ii) if later, the time at which notice is given of
that meeting. Section 616 of the Companies Ordinance provides that the
Company that is required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to
give notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s own
expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as the notice of the meeting;
and (b) at the same time as, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, it gives
notice of the meeting.

Procedure for Shareholders to nominate a person for election
as a Director

Article 90 of the Articles of Association provides that the Company may from
time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any person to be
a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board; no
person, other than a retiring Director or a person recommended by the Board,
shall be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting,
unless notice in writing from a shareholder of his intention to propose that
person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected as a Director shall have been lodged with the
registered office of the Company; unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and notified by the Company to the Shareholders, the period for
lodgement of the notices referred to in paragraph (2) of this Article shall
commence on a day after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting
designated for such election of Director(s). If the Directors should so determine
and notify the Shareholders of a different period for lodgement of the said
notice referred to in paragraph (2) of this Article, such period shall in any
event be a period of not less than seven days, commencing no earlier than the
day after the dispatch of the said notice of the meeting and ending no later
than seven days prior to the date of such meeting.
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Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person to stand for
election as a Director at the general meeting, the following documents must
be validly served at the registered office of the Company, namely (1) his/her
notice of intention to propose a resolution at the general meeting; (2) a notice
signed by the nominated candidate of his/her willingness to be elected; (3) the
nominated candidate’s information as required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written
consent to the publication of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on 17 December 2018. Subject
to the relevant criteria, the Company may distribute not less than 20% of the
Group's annual distributable profit, excluding one-off gains, as dividends to
the Shareholders. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to
be determined at the absolute discretion of the Board and subject to all
applicable requirements (including without limitation restrictions on dividend
declaration and payment) under the Companies Ordinance and the Articles of
Association.

The Company will regularly review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right
in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time, and Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Company’s Dividend Policy is available at the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the Finance and Investor Relations Department (Hong
Kong) of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Finance and Investor Relations Department (Hong Kong)
Room 4104-05, 41/F, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: crpharm-ir@crpharm.com

Tel No.: 852-2593 8991

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholding to the
Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or fax number: 2861 1465.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2023, there is no change in the Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Yuewei

Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Han Yuewei, aged 56, currently serves as a Vice General Manager of CR
Holdings. Mr. Han was appointed as an executive Director and chief executive
officer, chairman of the Executive Committee, member of the Corporate
Governance committee and authorized representative of the Company in
October 2019 and was appointed as the chairman of the board and the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company in December 2021.
Mr. Han ceased to be the chief executive officer, the chairman of the
executive committee, a member of the corporate governance committee and
an authorized representative of the Company and was re-designated as a
non-executive Director and continued to serve as the chairman of the board
and the chairman of the nomination committee in January 2022. Mr. Han
served as a director of CR Sanjiu from December 2019 to February 2022, a
director of CR Double-Crane from December 2019 to February 2022, the
chairman and a director of Dong-E-E-Jiao from December 2019 to January
2022 and an executive director of CR Medical from October 2017 to October
2019, during which he served as the chief executive officer of CR Medical and
the general manager of China Resources Healthcare Group Limited, the
controlling shareholder of CR Medical. Mr. Han worked for China Resources
Land Limited (“CR Land”) (the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange , stock code: 1109) from October 2010 to October 2017, during
which he served as deputy general manager of Shenyang Region, deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Region, director of engineering and vice
president of CR Land. Prior to joining CR Land. Han worked as the deputy
director and director of the Bureau of Public Works of Shenzhen Municipality
ORYITTERE T ) from April 2002 to October 2010. Mr. Han obtained a
master’s degree in Construction Economics and Management from Tsinghua
University (JEZE K 2) and a bachelor's degree in Construction Management
from Tsinghua University in July 1993 and July 1991 respectively.
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Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Bai Xiaosong, aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director and chief
executive officer, the chairman of the Executive Committee, a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee and an authorized representative of the
Company in January 2022. Mr. Bai currently serves as a director of CR Sanjiu
and CR Double-Crane, the chairman and a director of Dong-E-E-Jiao. Mr. Bai
served as a vice president of CR Sanjiu from June 2021 to December 2021. He
served as an assistant general manager of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Co., Ltd. (ZE)ESZEEE (P E) BB A F]) (“CR Snow Breweries”)
from March 2016 to October 2018 and served as a deputy general manager
of CR Snow Breweries from October 2018 to June 2021. He also served as an
associate president of CR Double-Crane, a human resources and development
controller and a deputy general manager of China Resources Shenyang Sanyo
Compressor Co., Ltd. (B ZE M = ¥ B 451 52 2 7)), a sales director of CR
Holdings. Mr. Bai holds a bachelor’s degree in Engineering (Petroleum
Processing) from Fushun Petroleum Institute, Department of Petrochemical
Engineering and a master’s degree of Economics in Finance from Peking
University, School of Economics.

Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Vice President

Mr. Tao Ran, aged 58, was appointed as the vice president of the Company in
June 2021 and appointed as an executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee in September 2021. He was appointed as the non-
executive director of Immunotech in August 2021. He is concurrently a
chairman of the supervisory board of CR Sanjiu, a chairman of the supervisory
board of Dong-E-E-Jiao and a director of CR Jiangzhong. He served as the
chairman and director of CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical from January 2022 to
November 2023. Mr. Tao has been a deputy chief of Import Division | of
China Resources National Corporation (currently known as China Resources
Company Limited), a general manager of China Resources Textiles (Holdings)
Co., Ltd. and a senior director of Strategic Development Division and the
general manager of Strategic Development Division of the Company. Mr. Tao
holds a bachelor’s degree in Engineering awarded by Shanghai Jiao Tong
University, and a master’'s degree in Economics awarded by School of
Economics and Management of Beihang University.
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Mdm. Deng Rong

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer

Mdm. Deng Rong, aged 45, has been appointed as the chief financial officer
of the Company in June 2023, and has been appointed as an executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee on 27 December 2023,
and she is currently the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, a
director of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical, also a director of Dong-E-E-Jiao and a
supervisor of CR Sanjiu. She previously held various positions within CR
Double-Crane from 2004 to 2020, including the Head of Financial Accounting
and Tax Management Department at the Financial Management Center,
General Manager of the CR Double-Crane Financial Management Center. She
has also served as Vice President, Board Secretary, and Chief Financial Officer
at Dong-E-E-Jiao from 2020 to 2023. Mdm. Deng holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Accounting from Central South University (7 & A £) and a Master's
degree in Management from Beijing Jiaotong University (1t R 32 i@ K £8). She
is a certified board secretary recognized by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mdm. Guo Wei

Non-executive Director

Mdm. Guo Wei, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director in
February 2023 and has been appointed as a member of the Audit Committee
on 27 December 2023. She is currently serving as a designated external
director of the business unit of CR Holdings, and was appointed as a non-
executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 291) in September 2023. Mdm. Guo was
a non-executive director from May 2019 to September 2021, and was an
assistant director (currently known as assistant general manager) and a deputy
financial director of the Finance Department of CR Holdings from August
2013 to April 2022. She was a director of CR Double-Crane from December
2015 to September 2021 and a director of CR Sanjiu from April 2018 to
September 2021. Mdm. Guo holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from
University of International Business and Economics and a master’s degree in
law from Peking University.
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Mr. Sun Yonggiang

Non-executive Director

Mr. Sun Yonggiang, aged 53, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 27 December 2023. He
currently serves as a designated external director of business units of CR
Holdings. Mr. Sun joined China Resources Group in 1998. From 2011 to
2023, he successively served as vice president, chief human resources officer
and human resources director of CR Land and also served as general manager
and deputy general manager of China Resources Land (Hunan) Co., Ltd (%=
EH () A R A A, asubsidiary of CR Land). Mr. Sun holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Engineering from Dalian University of Technology (K T K £),

Mr. Hou Bo

Non-executive Director

Mr. Hou Bo, aged 60, was appointed as a non-executive Director in March
2021. Mr. Hou has many years of experience in financial management. He
served as the director of the insurance and non-banking services department
of the Beijing Municipal Bureau of Financial Work (It R & @ T1ER), the
director of the financial market department of the Beijing Municipal Bureau of
Financial Work (1t 5 € B T {E /), the deputy general manager (deputy
bureau level) of the former Beijing Equity Exchange Center Co., Ltd. (3t =%
R S AR AE]), and deputy general manager of Zhongguancun Equity
Exchange Service Group Co., Ltd. (F RN EER SRS EBEFR A F]). Mr.
Hou graduated from the Department of Mechanical Engineering of Tsinghua
University in 1986 with a bachelor of Engineering degree in Forging and
Pressing. He graduated from the Department of Business and Economics of
Capital University of Economics and Business with a master degree in Foreign
Trade Operations and Management in 1997 and obtained a doctor of
Engineering degree in Resources Industry Economics from the school of Earth
Sciences and Resources of the China University of Geosciences, Beijing in
2009. He is also a senior international business engineer.
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Mdm. Jiao Ruifang

Non-executive Director

Mdm. Jiao Ruifang, aged 46, was appointed as a non-executive Director and
a member of the audit committee of the Company in January 2022. Mdm.
Jiao joined the BSCOMC in 2014 and is currently the general manager of the
capital operation department of the BSCOMC and a non-independent director
of Beijing Foreign Enterprise Human Resources Service Co., Ltd. (1t RBIFE A
HEREERE D ABRRDA) (formerly known as Beijing Urban-Rural
Commercial (Group) Co., Ltd. (3t ¥ # i5 2 (£ E) I 5 B R A 7)) (the
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
600861). Mdm. Jiao was appointed as a director of Hainan Jingliang Holdings
Co., Ltd. (B F RIB AR IX 9 B R A 7)) (the shares of which are listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock codes: 000505 and 200505) from March
2022 to September 2022 and Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. (1£;7548 B A&
3 BBR A 7)) (the shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 600166) from January 2022 to November 2022. Mdm. Jiao served
as the board secretary of Beiren Printing Machinery Holdings Limited (3t A E[}
] # % A% 17 48 BR 2 &)), the board secretary of Beijing Jingcheng Electric
Company Limited (3t 7 74 # B f% 15 B PR 2 A1) and the deputy general
manager of Beijing Tianhai Industrial Co., Ltd. (1t R X/E T Z AR 2 7).
Mdm. Jiao holds an MBA in Finance from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong-Tsinghua University.
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Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Independent non-executive Director

Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne, BBS, JP , aged 68, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and chairman of audit committee, a
member of remuneration and appraisal committee, a member of Nomination
Committee and a member of Corporate Governance Committee in August
2017. Mdm. Shing was appointed as a Justice of Peace of the HKSAR in 2013
and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2017. Mdm. Shing is currently the
chairman of Yinn Advisory Services Limited and an independent non-
executive director of CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Company Limited (listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3877), AEON Credit Service (Asia) Company
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 900), Sirnaomics Ltd. (listed
on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2257) and an independent director of
China Merchants Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. (listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 601872). She was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Analogue Holdings Limited in June 2023 (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1977). Mdm. Shing was a partner of Deloitte
China for over 26 years until May 2016. She was also a member of the 10th,
11th and 12th Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the CPPCC. Mdm. Shing is a
founding member and former president of the Association of Women
Accountants (Hong Kong) and the former chairman of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Taxation Committee. Her professional
qualifications include fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the
Chartered Governance Institute. Mdm. Shing’s current public appointments
include court member of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, advisor and
member of the Finance Committee of Our Hong Kong Foundation and
member of the Hong Kong Deposit Protection Board. In 2006, Mdm. Shing
received the National Hundred Outstanding Women Entrepreneurs Award in
Great Hall of the People in Beijing. She also received the Outstanding Alumni
Award of Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2007. Mdm. Shing has been
consecutively named from 2001 to 2015 in International Tax Review as one of
the World's Leading Tax Advisors in Hong Kong and Mainland. Mdm. Shing
graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) and obtained a Higher Diploma in Accountancy
and was awarded in 2016/2017 Honorary University Fellow of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.
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Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun, BBS, JP, aged 74, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director and chairman of Remuneration and Appraisal Committee,
a member of Audit Committee, a member of Nomination Committee and a
member of Corporate Governance Committee in June 2016. Mr. Kwok also
serves as a governing board member of Rehabilitation International and global
vice chairman of Social Commission of Rehabilitation International, board
member of Rehabilitation International Foundation, chairman of Asia and
Pacific Disability Forum, a vice chairman of The Hong Kong Joint Council for
Persons with Disabilities, president and governing board member of The Hong
Kong Society for Rehabilitation, a member of Hospital Authority Central
Institutional Review Board, a member of Voting Members Committee of
Riding For the Disabled Association, Chairman of Accessible IT Development
Association Limited, a professional consultant to the Professional Committee
of Shenzhen Smart Assistive Tech Association. Mr. Kwok has over 30 years of
experience in disability research and medical research ethics. He successively
served as a senior lecturer, a principal lecturer, and an associate professor of
the City University of Hong Kong from 1985 to 2009, and after retirement
served as full-time and part-time senior research fellow. Mr. Kwok was
appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the government of Hong Kong in 1997
and received the Bronze Bauhinia Star awarded by the Government of Hong
Kong SAR in 2005, “Kazuo Itoga” Memorial Prize awarded by the
government of Shiga Prefecture, Japan in 2006, and the Promoter title of
“Asian and Pacific Decade of Persons with Disabilities, 2013— 2022" awarded
by United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific
(UNESCAP) in 2012. Mr. Kwok received the Rehabilitation International
Centennial Award for Significant Contribution in May 2023.

Mr. Kwok holds a bachelor’s degree in social science from the University of
Hong Kong, a master’s degree in social work from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong, and a Ph.D. degree in philosophy from the University of
Nottingham, the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Fu Tingmei

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Fu Tingmei, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and Chairman of Corporate Governance Committee, a member of
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee, a member of Nomination Committee
and a member of Audit Committee in June 2016. Mr. Fu has over 20 years of
experience in investment, finance, law and business management. Mr. Fu
currently serves as an independent non-executive director of China Zheshang
Bank Co., Ltd. (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2016; and listed on
Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code 601916), China Resources Medical
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 1515), Guotai Junan International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1788)
and COFCO Joycome Foods Limited (formerly known as “COFCO Meat
Holdings Limited”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1610). Mr. Fu was an independent non-executive director of Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0392) from July 2008 to June 2017, an independent non-executive
director of CPMC Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0906) from June 2008 to July 2019 and an independent non-
executive director of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1658) from May 2016 to March 2023.
Mr. Fu holds a master’s degree in law and a Ph.D. degree in law from London
University, the United Kingdom.
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Mr. Zhang Kejian

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Zhang Kejian, aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and a member of Audit Committee, a member of Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee, a member of Nomination Committee and a member of
Corporate Governance Committee in June 2016. Mr. Zhang also serves as an
independent director of Zhejiang Hisoar Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (/L /& ¥
22N {5 B BR A A)) (@ company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock
code: 002099), a non-independent director of 18 % 58 2RI K A ) AR A A
Boji Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly known as: Guangzhou Boji
Medical Biotechnological Co., Ltd. (BMIEE B LY EMRNOERAR)) (@
company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange GEM, stock code: 300404), an
independent director of Liaoning Chengda Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (3 Z K KX
EWIR% 17 B R A &) (a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 688739) and the Chief Scientist of The South China Center for
Innovative Pharmaceuticals. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the
pharmaceutical industry of PRC. He was an independent director of CR
Double-Crane from February 2016 to June 2018, an independent director of
Yifan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, stock code: 002019) from October 2014 to November 2020 and
an independent director of Hunan Fangsheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (a
company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 603998) from
October 2018 to January 2021. He was employed as a professor of School of
Pharmaceutical Sciences of Sun Yat-sen University and the director (Pharmacy
Administration) of The South China Center for Innovative Pharmaceuticals, a
researcher at the Institute of Medicine, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences
(FP R %8 B2 R} BB BE WA T FT), and successively served as a deputy director
of Pharmaceutical Evaluation Center (2% 25} /1)) and a deputy director of
Medical Device Evaluation Center (2% 22 1 5 /i1 2 5% 7 0 ) under the State
Food and Drug Administration of the PRC (IR R REREEEER). Mr.
Zhang received a master’s degree in pathophysiology from China Medical
University in Shenyang, the PRC and a doctor’s degree in pharmacy from the
School of Pharmaceutical Sciences of Chiba University in Chiba, Japan.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Qiu Huawei

Mr. Qiu Huawei, aged 56, is a chairman of CR Sanjiu and KPC
Pharmaceuticals, Inc (2 %5 B A% 1D B BR A A]). He has previously worked as
a sales representative, sales manager, and regional manager in the business
department of Shenzhen Nanfang Pharmaceutical Factory (;% 31l B3 77 ZE ).
He has also worked as the deputy general manager of Shenzhen Sanjiu
Medicine Trading Co., Ltd. (R T = LB 2 & F H R A 7)), the plant
manager of Shenzhen Jiusheng Bioproducts Co., Ltd. GRS FH AR R,
the investment director of Shenzhen Sanjiu Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (% Il
= LB E¥ G R A A, the general manager of Ningbo Lihua Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd., the general manager of Ningbo Medicinal Herbs Co., Ltd. (225 %%
M B& 15 B R 2 8]), the general manager of Shenzhen Jiusheng Bioproducts
Co., Ltd. CRIINFEWEFEBR A F]), and the deputy department head of
the medical business division of Sanjiu Enterprise Group (= /L% & E). Mr.
Qiu holds a bachelor’s degree in Genetic Engineering from Fudan University.

Mr. Lu Wenchao

Mr. Lu Wenchao, aged 44, currently serves as the chairman of CR Double-
Crane (acting as the chief executive officer). He previously held positions as
the Deputy Director of the CEQ's Office at Beijing Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (3t R # #5 2 2 J8 ) B R A 7)), and Assistant
General Manager at Beijing Industrial Park (1t 72 T % [&). He concurrently
served as the General Manager of the Technical Innovation Department at CR
Double-Crane’s Production Management Centre and Deputy General
Manager of Beijing Industrial Park (3t ;X T 2 &), as well as Assistant CEO,
Vice President, Deputy General Manager of the Marketing Management
Center, Assistant CEO, General Manager of the Marketing Management
Centre, and CEO. Mr. Lu holds a bachelor’s degree in Pharmaceutical Analysis
from Shenyang Pharmaceutical University and a master’s degree in Medicinal
Chemistry.

Mr. Wu Jianjun

Mr. Wu lJianjun, aged 52, is currently the chairman of CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial. Mr. Wu has served as the deputy director of workshop, deputy
director of sales division and deputy director of foreign trade division of
Beijing Erzhong Co., Ltd. (1t 51k = i& 7 B BR A A), assistant researcher of
enterprise reform division of Beijing Municipal Economic Commission (3t = 1
W E ), deputy director of enterprise reform division of Beijing
Municipal State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission (1t
RMBEZERER), assistant general manager of Beijing Pharmaceutical
Group Co., Ltd. (1t REEZEELFE H R & £ /2 7)), director of China Resources
Pharmaceutical (Beijing) Industry Development Co., Ltd. (& B &8 24 (4 ;) &
¥ ZE B R AR, senior director of production and manufacturing
department, general manager of office, assistant president and vice president
of the Company. Mr. Wu holds a EMBA degree from Tsinghua University.
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Mr. Liu Weiquan

Mr. Liu Weiquan, aged 53, is currently the chairman of Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical. Mr. Liu has previously worked as the head of planning and
finance department, finance director, executive vice general manager, and
director of Jiangxi Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd (T 78T &
% (£ M) A PR &E A A]). He has also worked as the finance director of
Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical, and the finance director and board secretary of
Zhongjiang Real Estate Co., Ltd (/T ERR D BBR A F]). Mr. Liuis a
Certified Public Accountant, holding a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from
the Department of Planning and Economics at Renmin University of China and
a Master’s degree in Management from Jiangxi University of Finance and
Economics.

Mr. Cheng Jie

Mr. Cheng Jie, aged 45, is currently the president of Dong-E-E-Jiao. Mr.
Cheng joined CR Sanjiu in September 2003, where he has held various
positions, including OTC terminal representative, prescription drug
management specialist, product assistant, product manager, assistant
manager, 999 Ganmaoling product director, OTC sales and marketing
director, deputy general manager of marketing center, and general manager
of professional brands division. He has also served as the executive director of
Aino (China) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (25 (Fh E) £ Z F R A 7)), and
director and general manager of Sanofi-3S BioTech (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (= /1
EFHIECRY) BEEZXER2DQA). Mr. Cheng graduated from Shenyang
Pharmaceutical University with a Bachelor’s degree in Traditional Chinese
Medicine.

Mr. Liu Changan

Mr. Liu Changan, aged 51, was appointed as the vice president of the
Company in July 2023. Mr. Liu previously served in the Agricultural Committee
and Agricultural Bureau of the Beijing Municipal Party Committee. Mr. Liu
holds a Master’s degree in Military Science from the National Defense
University of the People’s Liberation Army.
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Mr. Qiu Kai

Mr. Qiu Kai, aged 54, is currently the vice president of the Company. Mr. Qiu
has served as deputy general manager of Shenzhen Jiuxin Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. GRINNLFT B2 H R A 7)), deputy general manager of China Resources
Sanjiu Marketing Center (£ B = J1 4 $4 #7 /1) and executive director of
Kunming China Resources Shenhuo Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (. BEEEEEE X
22 5F3 A 7)), general manager of Chronic Disease Business Division of CR
Sanjiu and general manager of Kunming China Resources Shenhuo
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (2R Z= B B8 A 22 F PR A 7). Mr. Qiu holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the School of Management, Sun Yat-
sen University.

Mdm. Tang Na

Mdm. Tang Na, aged 47, currently the vice president of the Company. Mdm.
Tang also serves as a supervisor of CR Sanjiu, CR Double Crane, Dong-E-E-
Jiao, chairman of the supervisory board of CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical and
CR Pharmaceutical Commercial, a director of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical and
CR Zizhu. Mdm. Tang served as a partner of Concord & Partners and a
director of legal affairs of CR Pharmaceutical Commercial. Mdm. Tang
obtained the qualification of PRC lawyer and the corporate counsel
qualification. Mdm. Tang obtained a bachelor of law degree from China
University of Political Science and Law.

Mr. Cui Xingpin

Mr. Cui Xingpin, aged 51, currently the vice president of the Company, also
serves as a director of CR Sanjiu, Dong-E-E-Jiao. Mr. Cui has been the chief
staff member of the Changping Branch of the Beijing Municipal
Administration for Industry and Commerce (Jt R L@ BH & F 5 /), the
chief researcher of the COFCO Nutrition and Health Research Institute (P&
EERBEMFIT), and the deputy general manager of the Environmental
Health and Safety Department of CR Holdings. Mr. Cui obtained a PhD degree
in Analytical Chemistry from the Department of Chemistry, University of
Science and Technology of China and has carried out postdoctoral research in
the Department of Pharmacology of the University of Pennsylvania, USA.
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Mr. Liu Yipeng

Mr. Liu Yipeng, aged 36, was appointed as the Secretary of the Discipline
Inspection Commission of the company in August 2023. Mr. Liu previously
served as Deputy General Manager (in charge) of the Strategic Development
Department at China Resources Wufeng Co., Ltd., as well as the General
Manager of Sichuan Wufeng Lihong Food Co., Ltd., the Deputy Minister of
Mass Work Department and Deputy Minister of Youth Work Department at
China Resources Group. Mr. Liu graduated from the Department of
Architectural Technology and Engineering at Tsinghua University with a major
in Architectural Environment and Equipment Engineering, and holds a Master
of Management Studies degree from the Fuqua School of Business at Duke
University.

Mr. Meng Qingsheng

Mr. Meng Qingsheng, aged 54, serves as a vice president of the Company,
also serves as a director of CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical. Mr. Meng has
engaged in the Information Technology (IT) consultancy and management
business for over 20 years. Mr. Meng has extensive experience in areas like
corporate IT strategic planning, system structural design, project management
and the training of professional personnel. Mr. Meng has worked at SSA
System Software China Limited, Platinum China Co., Ltd. and Oracle China
Co., Ltd.. Mr. Meng has also acted as the deputy director of the Information
Management Department of CR Holdings.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the research and development, manufacturing, distribution and
retail of an extensive range of pharmaceutical and other healthcare products.
Analysis of the principal activities of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 135 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of RMBO.154 per Share
in cash for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$0.16 per Share).
The final dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM to be held on 30 May 2024 and the final dividend will be
distributed on or about 19 July 2024 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 7 June 2024.

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each Shareholder in HK$ by
default, converted at the exchange rate of RMB1.0: HK$1.10188, being the
average benchmark exchange rate of RMB to HK dollars as published by the
People’s Bank of China during the five business days immediately before 26
March 2024 (Tuesday), such dividend will be paid to Shareholders at
HK$0.1697 per share. Shareholders will also be given the option to elect to
receive all or part of the final dividend in RMB. To make such election,
Shareholders should complete the Dividend Currency Election Form which is
expected to be despatched to Shareholders in mid-June 2024 as soon as
practicable after the record date of 7 June 2024 (Friday) to determine
Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend, and lodge it with the
Company'’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 2
July 2024 (Tuesday).
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Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of their dividends
in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should ensure that they have an
appropriate bank account to which the RMB cheques for dividend can be
presented for payment; and (ii) there is no assurance that RMB cheques can
be cleared without material handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that
RMB cheques will be honoured for payment upon presentation outside Hong
Kong. The cheques are expected to be posted to the relevant Shareholders by
ordinary post on 19 July 2024 (Friday) at the Shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed Dividend Currency Election Form in respect of the
Shareholder is received by the Company’s share registrar by 4:30 p.m. on 2
July 2024 (Tuesday), such Shareholder will automatically receive the final
dividend in HK dollars. All dividend payments in HK dollars will be made in the
usual way on 19 July 2024 (Friday).

If Shareholders wish to receive the final dividend in HK dollars in the usual
way, no additional action is required. Shareholders should seek professional
advice with their own tax advisers regarding the possible tax implications of
the dividend payment.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 27 May 2024 to
30 May 2024, both days inclusive, in order to determine the identity of the
Shareholders who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which period no
share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the AGM, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2024.

The register of members of the Company will also be closed from 6 June 2024
to 7 June 2024, both days inclusive, in order to determine the entitlement of
the Shareholders to receive the final dividend, during which no share transfers
will be registered. To qualify for the final dividend, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on 5 June 2024.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year, the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, the material factors underlying its results and financial position, certain
important events occurred since the end of the Reporting Period and the
future development of the Company’s business have been set out in the
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report.

The Group shall comply with the relevant provisions governing environmental
protection and appraisal of environmental impact, as well as national and
provincial standards of environmental quality established by various
government authorities. The Group has carried out the relevant environmental
impact assessments and has obtained all the required permits and
environmental approvals for its manufacturing facilities. To ensure compliance
with relevant laws, rules and regulations on pollution control, the Group has
also established waste water treatment and waste management facilities at its
pharmaceutical manufacturing sites.

To the best knowledge and information of the Company, the Group has
complied with the relevant laws, regulations and other applicable
requirements that have a significant impact on the Group during the
Reporting Period.

The Group recognizes the importance of good governance to its sustainable
growth and strives to maintain effective communication with its stakeholders,
including its Shareholders, investors, employees, customers and suppliers.

In addition to the above, general information regarding the Group’s
performance on environmental and social-related policies, as well as
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group and an account of the Company’s relationships with its key
stakeholders are discussed throughout this annual report. Further details will
be also disclosed in the Company’s Sustainability Report 2023.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years is set out on page 30 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's sales to its five largest
customers accounted for 2.8% (2022: 2.4%) of the Group’s total revenue
and our single largest customer accounted for 0.7% (2022: 0.6%) of the
Group's total revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 6.9% (2022: 6.8%) of the Group’s total purchases and our
single largest supplier accounted for 1.8% (2022: 1.8%) of the Group's total
purchases.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity pages 139 to 140.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company'’s reserves available for distribution,
amounted to approximately RMB1,418.4 million.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in Notes 28 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited Annual Report 2023 105



EEgHRE
Report of the Directors

=2
EAFHASIL  ARAEEMT

FENRFHTES
BRERE

HITEEREFEHIT
HEREE

HITEEREIAE
PR E

BITEEREFEVEE

BaAZt
(RZZEZ=FAAT+=-REZTERENEE)
(RZBE=FF+ A= ++BEEZERNTES)

#ﬂ/_ﬁg Eﬁﬁjﬁgﬁmuwuﬁ
FEZr+
(RZZE-_=FXA+=HEE)

FHITES

Mt
(RZZEZ=FZA+=RAEZMT)

KR S
(R—EBE-_=F+-"A-t++HEEF)

FEEEE

BimB L

MREIBE S £
(RZEZ=F+ZA=+tH#HT)

BUFHITES
BRWLE
L
BEXEE
RRBEE

RIFABEIZMANE 781K
EEBARBRBFAG LR
[RGB AT o

B A I R KGR
- AEBEBRE

RIFEBERMAESI(N K ABEMRLEE 1T
RELE ERFLL BEBLIRFREE
EARKRRBFRG LHERET AERAR
BIEEEIE -

BRBERBEAEG LBEE EZ%%?\E%Z@J
RESMA-ZT _MENA - +RNANEREREE
SEEBMBRA

106 2023FF3k  EHE

DIRECTORS

The Directors up to the date of this annual report are:

Chairman and non-executive Director
Mr. Han Yuewei

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Bai Xiaosong

Executive Director and Vice President
Mr. Tao Ran

Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
Mdm. Deng Rong
(appointed Chief Financial Officer on 13 June 2023)
(appointed Executive Director on 27 December 2023)

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
Mdm. Weng Jingwen
(resigned on 13 June 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mdm. Guo Wei

(appointed on 13 February 2023)
Mr. Sun Yonggiang

(appointed on 27 December 2023)
Mr. Hou Bo
Mdm. Jiao Ruifang
Mr. Lin Guolong

(resigned on 27 December 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne

Mr. Kwok Kin Fun

Mr. Fu Tingmei

Mr. Zhang Kejian

In accordance with article of the Articles 78 of Association, Mdm. Deng Rong
and Mr. Sun Yonggiang shall retire from office, and being eligible, has offered

herself for re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with article 88(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Bai
Xiaosong, Mr. Tao Ran, Mdm. Jiao Ruifang, Mdm. Shing Mo Han Yvonne and
Mr. Kwok Kin Fun shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered

themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the circular

to the Shareholders dated 26 April 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company
are set out on pages 89 to 101 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023 and remain so as of the date
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each non-executive Director, including Independent non-executive Directors,
has no fixed term of service with the Company but is subject to rotational
retirement and re-election requirements at annual general meetings of the
Company at least once every three years pursuant to the Articles of
Association of the Company.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, its parent company or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year and up to the date of this annual report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group'’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the directors and senior management and
comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid individuals
during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 10 and 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Group are set
out in Note 2(hh) and 2(gqg) to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests/short positions of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be entered into the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

INTERESTS/SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES OF THE
COMPANY
(@)

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
the Company:

BEREBAE DL
Approximate
51 Rt HE KR LERKOEE percentage of
EEnE Capacity/ Long/short Number of shareholding
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares %
FERRE EmBEAA HE 300,000 0.0048

Han Yuewei Beneficial Owner Long Position
BB EmBEAA HE 200,000 0.0032

Bai Xiaosong Beneficial Owner Long Position
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Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Building Materials Technology Holdings
Limited (formerly known as “China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited”), an associated corporation of the
Company:

BERBAED
Approximate

HE KRR ZERBOEA percentage of
Long/short Number of shareholding
Position ordinary shares %

R 120,000 0.0017
Long Position

() RARFHEEEE —FREMRAR (9]
NACBRTEBERREEROPES

HRER -

EENR
Name of Director
Tao Ran

Fox 8
Sun Yonggiang

Bip Rt
Capacity/
Nature of Interest

EmEAA
Beneficial Owner
EREAA
Beneficial Owner

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Land Limited, an associated corporation
of the Company:

FREABED L

Approximate

BE KB TERROEAE percentage of

Long/short Number of shareholding

Position ordinary shares %

HE 10,000 0.0001
Long Position

HE 30,000 0.0004

Long Position
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(T) RAEQTHEEEE — EBHEHEZER (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

BRAFRCHITEERRMEERMD China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, an
BEERESR associated corporation of the Company:
BERBAED
Approximate
B EREME HE KRR ZERBOEA percentage of
EsnE Capacity/ Long/short Number of shareholding
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares %
P92 BEmEAA A 12,000 0.0022
Tao Ran Beneficial Owner Long Position

(7R) MAARATHEESEB — Z=M@ESHE (%)  (e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

BRARCRTEERKMERRKRAG S China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, an
EERER associated corporation of the Company:
FREABED L
Approximate
Bip Rt BE KB TERROEAE percentage of
EEHR Capacity/ Long/short Number of shareholding
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares %
oK BB A HE 70,000 0.0001
Sun Yonggiang Beneficial Owner Long Position

(2) RARNREEEE — EHERER (f)  Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

BRAGCRTEBERREERGD S China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited, an
EENREZE associated corporation of the Company:
BEREANE D
Approximate
515, Rt "R/ RE ZERKRGOEB percentage of
EENE Capacity/ Long/short Number of shareholding
Name of Director Nature of Interest Position ordinary shares %
Bk EEBEAA HE 92,000 0.071
Sun Yonggiang Beneficial Owner Long Position
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(g) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited, an
associated corporation of the Company:

EREANE DT

Approximate

LTERRGOEAE percentage of
Number of shareholding
ordinary shares %

BR KR
Long/short
Position
T

Long Position

50,000 0.0022

BEmEEEN RZE_=F+_A=+—
H BESIEARAERTERABRA  #HE
EENARAESTHRAERARARSKEEM
BESEE (TR RFHRHEBGRAIEXVED) 2R
7 HERDERESTEESQBEES AT
1EBIEXVEBE TR ESH BB ME A A7) KB
R (BEFEEREES RS R ZZEEX
WRASWEEHEANREIAR) 3 (b)AT
ANBARBRBHRAERIEIGFEZ
B ORBEEFRIZEMNERAE R
B P 2 R IR R R o

EERERONEREENER

BRAFHRABPBEEI  ARR] - A QAH
HAE(AIFT B8 A B 2k [ 5 MY B 2 B & A A 1]
FEMETIERTOTMNERNZH  BUEE
EAHBERRRIEMEMEABERD K
EREmMED  BEYEEEHNEZRLER18
BRIA T H) F R ER TEMENIARBARRA
EAEMEAABRENBRAKERES LB 1T
EEMZSER -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as it is known to the
Directors or chief executives of the Company, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests/short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required

(a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (b) to be entered into the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
was the Company, its parent company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of
their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate or had exercised any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company)
had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

RZZEZ=F+-_A=+—R0 HARAE=SE
il THOAL(UIFEESHARARZSHITHRA
B)RARAB RN IBERDPEBREES
DHAE GBI EXVERE 2 R 3D EAMAR &)
BV EELRAREIRIEBEGES LSRN E
BRATHEF2ELMAZERIAR :

BREHE
Name of Shareholder
FEREEFERARO

China Resources Company Limited®

FEERHO
CRIM

CRC Bluesky Limited™

EHEHO
CR Holdingst

EHEB (B GRARO
CRH (Pharmaceutical) Limited™

bR B e
BSCOMC®2

EREERLREZERAERA

Beijing State-owned Capital
Operation and Management Center
Investment Holdings Limited®

IRBEERLREEEBERA

Beijing State-owned Capital
Operation and Management Center
Investment Management Limited®

B HEEtE
Capacity/Nature
of Interest

ZEGEE R
Interest in controlled
corporation

B3 PR
Interest in controlled
corporation

ZEGEE R
Interest in controlled
corporation

ZEGEE R
Interest in controlled
corporation

BEREAA

Beneficial owner

L E R
Interest in controlled
corporation

ZEGEE S
Interest in controlled
corporation

BEREAA

Beneficial owner

iR 2RI E

Number of
Shares held

3,333,185,612

3,333,185,612

3,333,185,612

3,333,185,612

3,333,185,612

1,192,905,349

1,094,800,000

1,094,800,000

(RN g
2R B DL
Approximate
Percentage of
BE KB Shareholding in
Long/short the Company
position (%)

HE 53.05
Long position

HE 53.05
Long position

"R 53.05
Long position

HAE 53.05
Long position

HE 53.05
Long position
HE 18.99

Long position

HE 17.43
Long position

HE 17.43
Long position
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Report of the Directors

CRH (Pharmaceutical) Limited (“CRH (Pharmaceutical)”) directly held
3,333,185,612 Shares. CRH (Pharmaceutical) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CR
Holdings. CR Holdings is a beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is an ultimately beneficially
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources Company Limited. By virtue of the
SFO, each of China Resources Company Limited, CRI, CRC Bluesky Limited and
CR Holdings is deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by CRH
(Pharmaceutical).

By virtue of the SFO, BSCOMC is deemed to have an interest in the 98,105,349
Shares held by Beijing Equity Investment Development Fund (Cayman Il) L.P., an
exempted limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands, by reason of a
series of funds and corporate structures. Each of which, individually, is interested
in less than 5% in the voting Shares.

Beijing State-owned Capital Operation and Management Center Investment
Management Limited (“BSCOMC Investment Management”, formerly known
as Beijing Pharmaceutical Investment Limited) directly held 1,094,800,000 Shares.
BSCOMC Investment Management is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing State-
owned Capital Operation and Management Center Investment Holdings Limited
("BSCOMC Investment Holdings”, formerly known as Beijing Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited), which is in turn wholly owned by BSCOMC. By virtue of the
SFO, each of BSCOMC and BSCOMC Investment Holdings is deemed to have an
interest in the Shares held by BSCOMC Investment Management.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors were not
aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Annual Report 2023 113



Report of the Directors

B A0 HAHE T &
ARFARZFE—LE+=A+=ARM—IER

DBt & (RIS E ) - BRME HH
AR () B A 8% D (T BB AR A

114

B &

Bt BiMERT 81 5 7238 B B hE AL By 2 Bl A5
BEHIORBY TSI BEEAS  REIR
BRROFEEM—BL  BERRABHERE
BAeeE THEGNE  SmMegRAR
B & B B R M IR RN s ) SR e

o CIEIRES

B EE BB 192 MBS BEE
ECGERTEERBUIFRTESRRIN -
SREEANE (BFEAKIE BIRKE-
MBEAEERBUBENAL EFEW
ERMBERMANRENEMRREEA
8)  AREEMME W E AR EELE
RERKBERBEAXTZENEMLEHE
T o

IR HARE T BRI PR 2R
EITERER D A S R AR RMAEH
TS (InE) B H AR Gh B TR 3T
IR B8 & H 15 18628,450,646 %
T #EAERR D BRRE AT 8 2 R iR B AR B 5 5
Ae HEREBEBARRCEETRMAS
#10% °

ARRABAISRBERRARRHBRAES £
HE/ER KRB E10% [R5 < Bty Btk - 1
BHBEBRBZROMEARTARAR
S ARBLL/ERTAEE 2 HBE R -

BRI B 8B ROR T RBE R MR
0 HRRE P8 I 1T R AL ID BT SR IB AR
REIE BTN BB 1% -

oy

20235 F®k ERBELEEARARD

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 12 December 2017 (the
“Share Option Scheme”). No share option was granted under the Share
Option Scheme since adoption.

1.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to effectively retain and
attract exceptional talents through a further optimized remuneration
structure, align the interests of the employees and Shareholders, and
effectively motivate both the management team and key employees,
thereby fostering the long-term development of the Company and
maximizing the interests of the Shareholders.

Incentive Targets

There are 199 incentive targets under the Share Option Scheme, who
are the Directors (excluding non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors), senior management (including general
managers, deputy general managers, heads of the finance department
and those personnel with such functions, board secretaries and other
senior management pursuant to the Articles of Association), and other
key employees whose management and technical skills may have a
direct impact on the results of operation and strategic development of
the Group.

Limit of the Share Option Scheme

The total number of new Shares that may be issued upon exercise of
the share options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and all other
schemes of the Company (if any) shall not, in aggregate, exceed
628,450,646 Shares, representing 10% of the Company’s total issued
shares as at the date on which the resolution approving the Share
Option Scheme is passed at the extraordinary general meeting.

The Company may seek approval from the Shareholders at a general
meeting of the Company to grant share options exceeding the above
10% limit, provided that share options in excess of such limit are
granted to those incentive targets specifically identified by the Company
before such approval is obtained.

The total number of new Shares that may be issued in relation to the
first grant of the share options to the incentive targets under the Share
Option Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s total issued
Shares.
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Report of the Directors

Unless approved by the Shareholders in the general meeting of the
Company, the total number of Shares which are issued and will be
issued upon exercise of the share options (including both exercised and
outstanding Share options) granted to any one of the incentive targets
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company within any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
total issued Shares from time to time. Where further grant of share
options to an incentive target would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted
to such incentive target (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
share options) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the total
issued Shares, such further grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting of the Company with such incentive
target and his/her close associates (or his/her associates if such incentive
target is a connected person) abstaining from voting, and in such case,
the Company will send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing all
relevant information necessary under the Listing Rules.

The limit on the number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and other schemes (if any) shall not
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue
from time to time, and no share option may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company if this
will result in this limit being exceeded.

Validity Period and Exercise Period

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid for ten (10) years from its
effective date, unless otherwise terminated pursuant to the terms
therein.

The incentive targets under each grant of the Share Option Scheme
may only exercise the share options two (2) years after the grant date.

Once the conditions to the exercise are satisfied after the two-year
restriction period commencing from the grant date, the share options
may be exercised by three (3) years thereafter with the proportion of
30%, 30% and 40% of the share options in each year.
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5.  Exercise Price
The exercise price of the share options under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board, but shall not be less than the highest
of the followings:

(i) the closing price of the Shares on the grant date (which must be
a trading day) as stated on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet; and

(i) the average closing price of the Shares for the five (5) trading
days immediately preceding the grant date as stated on the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date.

The incentive targets, subject to the fulfillment of the relevant
conditions and within the relevant exercise period, may apply with the
Company in respect of the exercise of the share options granted to him/
her and shall pay the relevant subscription amount within 28 days.

Certain A-share listed subsidiaries of the Company (including CR Sanjiu,
CR Double-Crane and Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical) have adopted their
own share incentive schemes as at the date of this annual report. As
none of these subsidiaries each constitutes a principal subsidiary (as
defined under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules), their respective share
incentive schemes are therefore not subject to Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company'’s listed securities during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this report.
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Report of the Directors

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company have entered into a non-
competition agreement (the “Non-competition Agreement”) with CR
Holdings on 14 September 2016.

The independent non-executive Directors have conducted a review of the
compliance with the Non-competition Agreement by the Company and CR
Holdings in respect of year 2023, including but not limited to the review of
the Non-Competition Agreement and internal confirmations by the Company
and CR Holdings. Having made all reasonable enquiries, nothing has come to
the attention of the independent non-executive Directors that, except for the
Retained Business (as defined in the Prospectus), CR Holdings has engaged in,
participated in or assisted others to engage or participate in, or procure its
subsidiaries (other than the Group) to engage in, participate in or assist others
to engage in, any business that competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with our business within the PRC during year 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

On 24 December 2023, CR Pharmaceutical Holdings entered into a share
transfer agreement (the “Share Transfer Agreement”) with Jiangxi SASAC
Capital Holdings Group Co., Ltd. CIFEE R B EREBEE TR EBER A A])
(“Jiangxi SASAC Capital Holdings”), Wuhu Xinhai Rui Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (##{Z /8 HERE A B L E(BRAE))
(“Xinhai Ruida” or the “Vendor"), Dalian Yi Fang Group Company Limited
(KiB—TEEHRZAR]) ("Yi Fang Group”) and CR Jiangzhong, pursuant
to which the Vendor has agreed to sell a total of 14.4412% interest in CR
Jiangzhong, of which CR Pharmaceutical Holdings has agreed to purchase
9.2138% interest in CR Jiangzhong (representing registered capital of
RMB23,259,459 in CR Jiangzhong) and Jiangxi SASAC Capital Holdings has
agreed to purchase approximately 5.2274% interest in CR Jiangzhong
(representing registered capital of RMB13,196,172 in CR Jiangzhong),
respectively, by way of non-public agreement transfer in Jiangxi Equity
Exchange. Each of Jiangxi SASAC Capital Holdings and Xinhai Ruida held
approximately 29.1251% and approximately 14.4412% interest in CR
Jiangzhong, respectively. Accordingly, each of Jiangxi SASAC Capital Holdings,
Xinhai Ruida and Yi Fang Group is a connected person of the Company, and
the Share Transfer Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
constitute connected transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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On 28 December 2023, CR Pharmaceutical Commercial entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Beijing
Pharmaceutical, CR Pharmaceutical Investment, and a total of seven investor
subscribers (the “Investor Subscribers”), pursuant to which the CR
Pharmaceutical Commercial has agreed to increase its registered capital from
RMB15,000,000,000 to RMB19,646,531,357.61 by RMB4,646,531,357.61,
of which (i) the Investor Subscribers have agreed to subscribe for an aggregate
amount of the Increased Registered Capital of RMB3,904,273,952.24 for a
total consideration of RMB5.26 billion, and (ii) Beijing Pharmaceutical and CR
Pharmaceutical Investment (as existing shareholders of CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial) have agreed to subscribe for an aggregate amount of the
increased registered capital of RMB742,257,405.37 for a total consideration
of RMB1 billion. Beijing Guorui Zhongxin Equity Investment Fund (Limited
Partnership) (“Beijing Guorui Zhongxin”) was one of the Investor
Subscribers. Bank of China Investment Management Co., Ltd. (iR EEFE S
BB R A A ("BOC Investment Management”) and Beijing Guorui
Investment Management Co., Ltd (Jt R R Elin ik & B AR 2 &) (“Beijing
Guorui Investment Management”) jointly acted as the general partners of
Beijing Guorui Zhongxin, where BOC Investment Management is wholly
owned by Bank of China Limited, and Beijing Guorui Investment Management
is wholly owned by BSCOMC. Limited partners holding one-third or more
interest in Beijing Guorui Zhongxin included BOC Financial Asset Investment
and BSCOMC. As BSCOMC is a substantial shareholder of the Company and
Beijing Guorui Investment Management is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
BSCOMC, Beijing Guorui Zhongxin is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the subscription by Beijing
Guorui Zhongxin in the increased registered capital of CR Pharmaceutical
Commercial constitutes a connected transaction for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Procurement CR Holdings
Framework Agreement
2023/2024 (Note 1)
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Procurement CR Holdings
Framework Agreement
2023/2024 (Note 1)
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Products and Commodities CR Holdings
Sales Framework Agreement
2023/2024 (Note 1)
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Strategic Cooperation CR Bank
Agreement 2023/2024 (Note 2)
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(M5E2)
Strategic Cooperation Agreement  CR Bank
2023/2024 (Note 2)
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Strategic Cooperation CR Bank
Agreement 2023/2024 (Note 2)

202312024 FEIRE & 1R EHET
(M5E2)

Strategic Cooperation CR Trust

Agreement 2023/2024 (Note 2)

HE

Report of the Directors

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following continuing connected transactions

during the year ended 31 December 2023:

EmRA
AR
FELR
Annual cap
permitted
under the
Listing Rules
BEARK
RMB million
NHRERRE 140.1
Procurement of supplies and products
TRH e 45.9
Procurement of services
HEEMNEm 108.2
Sales of products and commodities
BFHRERRTEERSFAE (B 1,800.0
JEUHIE)
Maximum daily deposit amount placed
with CR Bank (inclusive of interest
receivable)
EHRTRENSRERNOEH 900.0
Eeft B RAE
Maximum daily principal amount and
interest in relation to financial products
provided by CR Bank
ZRRTRENE OGS RERKBBED 150.0

ERRBEARAS

Maximum service fees and commissions for
other financial products and services
provided by CR Bank

EEERRANEREMNER 100.0
Emit B RAE

Maximum daily principal amount and
interest in relation to financial products
provided by CR Trust

—=—=

——=

ERGEH

Transaction
amount in
2023

BEARK
RMB million

15.5

33

Nil

1,1204

700.0

0.6

Nil
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LmRAl
i
EELR —g==
Annual cap FX5HE
BEBERS BRZEEAL permitted Transaction
Continuing Connected Connected Parties under the amount in
Transactions involved Listing Rules 2023
BEARE BEARK
RMB million RMB million
20232024 FEEE A (F i EBER ZRERARENHMSBERR 70.0 Nil
(M5E2) REnEEREERRMAS
Strategic Cooperation CR Trust Maximum services fees and commissions
Agreement 2023/2024 (Note 2) for other financial products and services
provided by CR Trust
20232024 2 EREHBAE  EEEE FRHEERAN S BRHRE RN 250.0 140.1
GG EeRBERRAD
CR Leasing Strategic CR Leasing Maximum service fees and commissions
Cooperation Agreement for the financial services and products
2023/2024 (Note 3) provided by CR Leasing
2%%m%¢ﬁ%ﬁ%%% ZRRR HEBRRBEER RN 1,500.0 1,307.3
154
Sales Framework CR Health Sales of medical and pharmaceutical
Agreement 2023/2024 (Note 4) products and consumables
{5 8 12 R 7% (FI5E5) EHER ERBRRUBENEHEREERY 74.0 383
Supply Chain Management CR Medical Provision of supply chain management
Agreement (Note 5) services for medical supplies by CR
Medical
20235 E B R RBRE EBER REBE SRR 116.1 77.1
225 (Kisk6)
IT Services CR Digital Procurement of IT Services
Procurement Framework
Agreement 2023 (Note 6)
RERFRIBAE R s (M5 7) WMEBRRE BLREREE 65.0 10.0
Energy Purchase Framework CR Gas Chenzhou Purchase of energy
Agreement (Note 7)
KB R] 2023 F B 5 ik EHHM ABIRITIRS 320.0 237.0
FRISHESR i (P aE8)
Amended Business Travel Services  CR Digital Business travel service fees
Framework Agreement 2023
(Note 8)
ﬁ?@fﬁ /FI,EE #)A 1t EHEN HRERBEHAAE 300.0 Nil
39
Cooperation Agreement in relation  CR Power Cooperation on new energy power
to New Energy Projects (Note 9) generation projects
023 ERERRZ (HE10) EBEERERRE EREERENEXRSEHREERER 789.0 Nil
BEE(AEARAR)
Framework Loan Agreements 2023 CR Holdings and CRI Maximum daily outstanding principal
(Note 10) amount and interest in relation to the
advances made or committed
by the Group
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On 30 December 2022 the Company has entered into the procurement
framework agreement with CR Holdings for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2024 (the “Procurement Framework Agreement 2023/2024"),
pursuant to which the Group may from time to time purchase from CR Holdings
and its subsidiaries various types of supplies and products (including raw
materials, ingredients, apparel and software products, but excluding the
procurement of utilities by the Group from CR Holdings and its subsidiaries in the
Group's ordinary and usual course of business) as well as services (including
logistics services, company secretarial services and services of an integrated
e-commerce and internet based service platform, but excluding IT technical
support services, property leasing services, and construction, decoration and
furniture services which are covered by separate agreements entered into
between CR Holdings and the Company) in support of our business.

On 30 December 2022 the Company entered into the products and commodities
sales framework agreement (the “Products and Commodities Sales
Framework Agreement 2023/2024") with CR Holdings for a term from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the Group may from time
to time supply products and commaodities, which mainly comprise pharmaceutical
products, to CR Holdings and/or its subsidiaries that are not hospitals including,
among others, supermarkets.

On 30 December 2022, the Company has entered into the strategic cooperation
agreement (“Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2023/2024") with CR Bank
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the
Group may place deposits with CR Bank and use other financial services and
products of CR Bank, including (but not limited to) the provision of letters of
credit, guarantee, loans with collaterals, bill of exchange and discount services,
assignment of receivables, RMB and foreign exchange settlement, entrusted
loans and collaterals, financial and cash management services, financial advisory
services and other financial services and products as agreed by the parties.

On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the strategic cooperation
agreement (“Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2023/2024") with CR Trust
for a term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the
Group may use the services and products provided by CR Trust, including (but
not limited to) cash management, asset management, custodian trust loan
services, assignment of receivables, advisory services in relation to redemptory
monetary capital for sale, and other financial or trust services and products as
agreed by the parties.
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On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the strategic cooperation
agreement (“CR Leasing Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2023/2024")
with CR Leasing for a term from1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant
to which the Group may use the financial services and products provided by CR
Leasing, including (but not limited to) financial leasing, leasing and the related
consultancy and guarantee services, and factoring in relation to the Group’s
principal businesses.

On 30 December 2022, the Company entered into the sales framework
agreement (“Sales Framework Agreement 2023/2024") with CR Health for a
term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the Group
may from time to time supply medical and pharmaceutical products and
consumables, including prescription medicines and over-the-counter (OTC) drugs
to CR Health, its associates and/or the hospitals that are managed by CR Health
and/or its associates.

The Company has entered into a supply chain management agreement (the
“Supply Chain Management Agreement”) with CR Medical on 29 December
2022 pursuant to which CR Medical, its subsidiaries and the medical institutions
owned or managed by it (collectively the “CR Medical Group”) shall provide the
Group supply chain management services of medical supplies in relation to
establishment of regional platforms and streamlining of supply chain
management procedures in order to improve the efficiency of supply chain
management of medical supplies of the Group and reduce the corresponding
costs. CR Medical Group shall receive management service fees from the Group
for the abovementioned services. The term of the Cooperation Framework
Agreement shall commence from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024. Subject
to compliance with the Listing Rules, the parties may then renew the Cooperation
Framework Agreement.

On 11 April 2023, the Company entered into the IT services procurement
framework agreement (the “IT Services Procurement Framework Agreement
2023") with CR Digital for a term commencing on 11 April 2023 to and ending
on 31 December 2023, the Group may from time to time purchase the IT Services
from CR Digital and its subsidiaries (“CR Digital Group”), and the IT Services to
be purchased from CR Digital Group shall include (i) maintenance services for
generic applications and operating systems, including daily maintenance,
procurement of software, and licensing of software; (ii) specific implementation
services, including development and implementation of unified application
systems; (iii) IT infrastructure, including cloud platforms and hardware and
software, and technical support services for the informatisation of traditional
resource pool; and (iv) other services, including general contracting projects such
as data security, smart manufacturing and smart parks, industrial internet of
things (lloT), and collection of externally applicable software licensing fees
relating to legalization and localization of software, etc.
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Report of the Directors

On 22 June 2021, CR Sanjiu Chenzhou, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the framework agreement (the “Energy Purchase
Framework Agreement”) with CR Gas Chenzhou, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CR Gas, pursuant to which (i) CR Sanjiu Chenzhou will provide the
land located In the Zhangchongpian area of the Economic and Technological
Development Zone of Chenzhou city (MM M & B K iTMAEREERAFE) ,
Hunan province of the PRC with a site area of approximately 19,000 square
meters for CR Gas Chenzhou to construct an energy station; and (Il) CR Sanjiu
Chenzhou will purchase from CR Gas Chenzhou heating, cooling and steam
energy and some of electricity for use at the Southern China manufacturing
centre of CR Sanjlu Chenzhou. The Energy Purchase Framework Agreement
became effective on 21 June 2021 for a term of three years until 21 June 2024.
The Energy Purchase Framework Agreement contemplated under the Framework
Agreement was expected to commence in or about June 2022 upon the
commencement of operation of the energy station to be constructed by CR Gas
Chenzhou.

On 4 September 2023, the Company entered into the Amended Business Travel
Services Framework Agreement 2023 with CR Digital for a term commencing
from 4 September 2023 to 31 December 2024 to reflect the amended proposed
annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Business Travel Services
Framework Agreement 2023. The Business Travel Services Framework Agreement
2023 has been replaced by the Amended Business Travel Services Framework
Agreement 2023, and has ceased to have effect on 4 September 2023. The
Group may use CR Digital Group’s online business travel platform to purchase
the following services from time to time, including: (i) enquiry, booking,
cancellation and changing of flight tickets, accommodations, train tickets and
ride-hailing services; (ii) sourcing and management of related independent third-
party service providers or travel agencies for enquiry, booking, cancellation and
changing of flight tickets, accommodations, train tickets and ride-hailing services;
(iii) customer service, including but not limited to the provision of a hotline for
the handling of enquiry, complaints, emergencies, compiling and reporting of
related business data, and customer satisfaction surveys at regular intervals; and
(iv) other related business travel services.

On 28 April 2023, CR Sanjiu entered into the Cooperation Agreement in relation
to new energy projects with CR Power for a term commencing on 28 April 2023
and ending on 31 December 2023. CR Sanjiu and CR Power have agreed to
cooperate with each other on new energy power generation project(s) (the “New
Energy Project(s)”) in the following manners: (a) By leveraging their respective
strengths, CR Sanjiu and CR Power will be beneficial for the development of their
respective businesses. (b) CR Power and/or its subsidiaries commissions CR Sanjiu
and/or its subsidiaries to develop and provide land remediation services for
abandoned land. CR Sanjiu and/or its subsidiaries solve the issue of abandoned
land in new energy power projects by planting traditional Chinese medicinal
herbs and provide comprehensive land management services to meet the land
requirements of the projects.
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10.  On 3 April 2023, the Company entered into the offshore framework loan
agreement 2023 and the onshore framework loan agreement 2023 (collectively,
the “Framework Loan Agreements 2023") with CR Holdings and CRl,
respectively, each for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2023 and
ending on 31 December 2025.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have
been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii)  in accordance with relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor
of Company to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued his unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions win
respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 119 to 124 of the Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements constituted as connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
in compliance with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year, the Company had no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to be
disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions.
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Report of the Directors

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB61,372,000.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors who have served on the board of the subsidiaries of the
Company during the year and up to the date of this annual report is available
on the Company’s website at www.crpharm.com under “Investor Relations—
Corporate Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities (including any such liability as mentioned in
Section 468(4) of the Companies Ordinance) which he/she may sustain or
incur in the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable for any loss, damages
or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the Company in the
execution of the duties of his/her office or in relation thereto, provided that
this article shall only have effect in so far as it is not invalidated by the
Companies Ordinance.

So far as may be permitted by the Companies Ordinance, if any Director or
other person shall become personally liable for the payment of any sum
primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be
executed any mortgage, charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any
part of the assets of the Company by way of indemnity to secure the Director
or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect of such
liability.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs associated
with defending any proceedings which may be brought against the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The events after the Reporting Period are disclosed in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and external
auditor of the Company, reviewed the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 65 to 88 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total issued Shares, the
prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all
times during the Reporting Period and as of the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retired as the auditor of the Company with effect from the
close of the annual general meeting held on 29 May 2023. The appointment
of KPMG as the new independent auditor of the Company following the
retirement of Ernst & Young was approved by shareholders at the same
meeting.

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been audited by
KPMG. A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming AGM to reappoint
KPMG as independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Han Yuewei
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Resources
Pharmaceutical Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 135 to 300, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Notes 2(f) and 2(h).

BRBELER
The Key Audit Matter
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As at 31 December 2023, the carrying value of the Group’s
goodwill amounting to RMB21,454 million was allocated to
different cash generating units (“CGU").
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Management performs impairment assessment of the Group’s
goodwill annually or whenever there is an indication that the
carrying value of goodwill may be impaired. Management
compares the carrying values of the individual CGU to which
the goodwill and associated assets, including property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets have been allocated, with
the estimated recoverable amounts, which are the higher of
the fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") or the value in
use.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

HAFFEEERENEAEFEEATAR
Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill
included the following:

A IR B R (B AR R O R BB R BV RR AT R BB
Assessing the design and implementation of management’s
internal controls relating to goodwill impairment;
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Performing a retrospective review by comparing the prior
year's discounted cash flow forecasts with the current year’s
actual results on a sample basis to assess whether there is
any indication of management bias;
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Involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us, on a
sample basis, in assessing the appropriateness of the
impairment assessment methodology adopted with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accountings
standards, and the reasonableness of discount rates used by
benchmarking against those of comparable companies;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Notes 2(f) and 2(h).

BREZEHE
The Key Audit Matter
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In determining the value in use, management prepares
discounted cash flow forecasts for each CGU. The preparation
of discounted cash flow forecasts involves the exercise of
significant management judgement, in particular in relation to
future revenue growth rates, future gross margins, and
discount rates.

HMKEBREEE#RN A - EEREREE EREE
BEKRF (MAB)PRAZEENEERAR mMEEREH
Bl Re BB EARTREN - WA IEEERENTE -
We identified impairment of goodwill as a key audit matter
because determining the level of impairment, if any, involves a
significant degree of management judgement, which can be
inherently uncertain and could subject to management bias.

HEELEREEMANELPROMEHN

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Evaluating the reasonableness of future revenue growth
rates and future gross margins on a sample basis by
comparing with the financial budget, our understanding,
experience and knowledge of the life sciences sector and
the Group's future business plans;
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EEGNZEULRERERRNEEESFEEEENR
B R

Performing a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions on a
sample basis and considering the resulting impact on the
impairment charge for the year and whether there is any
indication of management bias in the selection of these key
assumptions; and
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Assessing the reasonableness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of impairment
assessment of goodwill with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
CEREREMREEERGARAT (EREREY) REREBARGERA

Control over Dong-E-E-Jiao Company Limited( “Dong-E-E-Jiao”), China Resources Boya Bio-pharmaceutical Group
Co.,Ltd. (“CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical”’) and KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc ( “KPC”)

Bitr & TS AR ML 1 R AT aL 2(c) Y & AT B

ﬁ-i
AR Z /

Refer to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 2(d).

BREZEHE

The Key Audit Matter

RZB_=ZF+_A=+—H0 ESESZBEWNEAFEA
BEEE D BB R if*ﬁﬁﬁi% REEE (8

821)32.50% - 29.28% - 28.01% Ry %4 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group directly or indirectly held
32.50%, 29.28% and 28.01% equity interests in Dong-E-E-
Jiao, CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical, and KPC (“the Entities”),
respectively, through the Group'’s subsidiaries.

WMIEE B MRM T3 HKE ERARESZEBE
B EEEEERBPRAREENBYREMEENEME
ERFEFROBEESHEET  UREGERBREFSTAE
BRENERERN it EXEEFEEESEEHEBER
WEREEN - ZERARWIFBMAERNTEENEE - MEAERK
SN EBERBEETIEGEEE -

As disclosed in Note 3(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company assessed the Group'’s
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the Entities
unilaterally by considering the Group’s absolute size of holding
of voting rights in the Entities relative to the size and dispersion
of the holdings of other vote shareholders and the practical
right to appoint the majority members of the board of directors
of the Entities. These factors are not purely quantitative and
need to be considered collectively in the overall substance of
the transactions.

AT Tﬁ‘mﬁ’ﬂ HE AT RERERER  BREHRE
F OBESEEERYUNRETEEEERENEBEAZENE
B R E AR E IR E I -

We identified the assessment of control over the Entities as a
key audit matter because of the significant management
judgement involved in determining whether the Group has
control over the Entities which could be subject to

management bias.
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HEELEREEMANELPROMEHN

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EEEEERIERENETIEFBEATRA
Our audit procedures to assess the Group’s control over the
Entities included the following:

BRE2BRITETEINERGHER
B RT A
Evaluating the directors’ assessment of whether the Entities
should be consolidated with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

— BBREMEEXMH AHREBERREIRER L2
ZEEEWAK  Ffh BEEEMETHRER:

Assessing the voting rights of the Group conferred by
inspecting the statutory documents, contracts and
resolutions of previous shareholders’ meetings and with
reference to the composition of the board of directors;

— Z2ZHMBRERERMAZR  BREL Fﬁ%%‘%)&f“” B
HBEREERTHARENAERARROBEE - &

Assessing the relative size of the equity interests held by
other shareholders in the Entities and the extent of
dispersion with reference to the number of the other
shareholders, the percentage of equity interest, and voting
rights held by the other shareholders; and
BRABR SHAFE &
SEEFHTERMABREMSHEEMEBEBNE
BREENRBBE -
Evaluating whether there is any change in Group’s practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of Dong-E-E-Jiao and
CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical during the year unilaterally by
inspecting the statutory documents and resolutions of
shareholders’ meetings.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. And, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lee Wai Shun, Wilson.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HEZT-=F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
(AANRE([ARB])Z3)  (Expressed in Renminbi (“RMB”))

2023 2022

B 2 ARBTFT ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
€27))
(Restated)
U &5 Revenue 4 244,703,884 218,182,994
SHE KA Cost of sales (206,366,398) (184,563,943)
EF Gross profit 38,337,486 33,619,051
Eab g A Other income 5 1,771,446 1,221,281
H bl RIS E Other gains and losses 6 (1,564,959) (1,227,083)
HERDIHAX Selling and distribution expenses (18,909,898) (16,395,235)
TERAX Administrative expenses (6,328,166) (5,578,623)
HEtAS F58 Other expenses, net (2,044,162) (1,878,362)
BE WA Finance income 7 587,686 721,177
BLE AR Finance costs 7 (2,386,312) (2,453,466)
BENA - JFER Finance costs, net (1,798,626) (1,732,289)
baK(al: i A W/NCIDNS Share of profits of associates
AETERTF and joint ventures 417,106 332,341
BREL AR R Profit before taxation 8 9,880,227 8,361,081
Frigfi M X Income tax expense 9 (2,105,224) (1,703,152)
FRIEF Profit for the year 7,775,003 6,657,929
FEqL Attributable to:
ARREZEFEA Equity shareholders of the Company 3,854,247 3,500,270
JEERER Non-controlling interests 3,920,756 3,157,659
7,775,003 6,657,929
AREEBRESEFEA Earnings per share attributable to
EhHERAER : ordinary equity holders of
the Company: 13
HEANEE(ARK) Basic and diluted (RMB) 0.61 0.56

%1442 300 EMMIERER AT G REN —Z 5 o
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The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

(E_T-=F+-F=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

(UAR#22)  (Expressed in RMB)

2023 2022

AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB"000 RMB'000
(r=5)
(Restated)
FRER Profit for the year 7,775,003 6,657,929
FREMEZEKE Other comprehensive income for the year
HEAEEFH D IEEIRa509IEH - Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
HE A B K fE LA SN E TS A Y Exchange differences on translation of
EHZER operations outside Mainland China (188,376) (808,143)
BT EeEF T EEEmmIEA Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
DAGEEE A T H A 2 E UG Share of other comprehensive income of
associates (15) -
BN EREX @At ElM ks Gain on remeasurement of a defined
benefit plan 11,261 16,908
REREREMEREHYE Gain on revaluation of property, plant and
W E R BRI - MERTIIE equipment upon transfer to investment
properties, net of tax 120,433 47,212
FREMEEKE - HRHE Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax (56,697) (744,023)
FRAEZHEKEATE Total comprehensive income for the year 7,718,306 5,913,906
ML Attributable to:
ARREREFTEA Equity shareholders of the Company 3,795,203 2,758,381
E32ibe e Non-controlling interests 3,923,103 3,155,525
FREZEWZEEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 7.718,306 5,913,906

%144 2 300 BEWMI B AR SRR — 5
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The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZE_=ZF+=-"A=+—H At31 December 2023
(UARBZ7)  (Expressed in RMB)

2023 2022 2021
(Fs AR®TF T ARBFT ARBFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(&) €27))
(Restated) (Restated)
ERBEE Non-current assets
W - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 14 20,117,615 17,362,078 16,087,731
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 4,925,159 4,335,435 4,383,482
A Investment properties 15 1,692,206 1,492,168 1,542,841
mEE Intangible assets 17 8,016,756 7,565,319 7,358,830
RS Goodwill 18 21,454,280 20,409,178 20,359,540
Wﬁ% BNE RS Interests in associates 19 6,005,836 5,902,085 5,609,283
REBDENER Interests in joint ventures 31,211 8,258 10,417
HEIEmEBemEE Other non-current financial assets 20 841,445 711,831 791,262
RIEFIH & B Deferred tax assets 30 1,773,365 1,434,787 1,070,697
HMIERBEE Other non-current assets 21 3,344,593 4,053,741 1,614,542
IERBEEBEE Total non-current assets 68,202,466 63,274,880 58,828,625
RBEE Current assets
BE Inventories 22 31,875,487 26,546,652 24,272,942
B 5 N E AW RIE Trade and other receivables 23 79,188,302 71,041,310 63,450,152
HEitmEhemEE Other current financial assets 24 34,615,717 31,298,695 32,909,786
JrE W B B 75 5k 1B Amounts due from related parties 38 1,061,519 1,669,499 2,930,213
G qER T Tax recoverable 118,997 113,808 125,143
2 EHER Pledged and term deposits 25 7,018,574 6,320,265 6,392,041
RehReEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 25 24,650,670 15,223,726 14,315,973
178,529,266 152,213,955 144,396,250
DEIEHEFENEE Assets classified as held for sale 38,564 45,538
MEEERTE Total current assets 178,567,830 152,259,493 144,396,250
REaE Current liabilities
B 5 Kk H th FE F/IE Trade and other payables 26 79,075,321 69,365,216 61,764,276
aHaE Contract liabilities 27 4,022,937 3,537,916 2,908,168
HEBRE Lease liabilities 16(b) 463,529 495,952 477,320
JE 1<) B B 7 IR Amounts due to related parties 38 4,123,718 11,344,211 10,483,252
SRITER Bank borrowings 28 43,119,673 36,203,271 38,054,801
JEHES Bonds payable 29 2,640,387 99,792 1,068,085
FEHREIE Tax payable 730,031 667,300 731,251
HEX=ARE Defined benefit obligations 31 57,159 56,410 58,375
MBI A ERRE Total current liabilities 134,232,755 121,770,068 115,545,528
RBEEFE Net current assets 44,335,075 30,489,425 28,850,722
HEERRBAS Total assets less current liabilities 112,537,541 93,764,305 87,679,347

5144 E 300 BB A BHREN —&F 7 -

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RZZE_=F+="A=+—H At31 December 2023
(UAR#22)  (Expressed in RMB)

2023 2022 2021
B 2% AR®TF T ARBFT ARETFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
€27 C<&27))
(Restated) (Restated)
ERBER Non-current liabilities
IRITER Bank borrowings 28 11,093,432 4,541,903 3,371,382
ERES Bonds payable 29 3,999,046 4,500,000 2,500,000
HERE Lease liabilities 16(b) 844,894 770,265 761,891
EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 30 1,718,120 1,587,416 1,606,860
REX=BE Defined benefit obligations 31 761,698 828,948 889,904
Ji& 1~ B BSk 75 RRIR Amounts due to related parties 38 43,500 - -
HEt3EmEBE Other non-current liabilities 32 1,102,037 978,429 890,048
EmBBERE Total non-current liabilities 19,562,727 13,206,961 10,020,085
EEFE NET ASSETS 92,974,814 80,557,344 77,659,262
EAXR®E CAPITAL AND RESERVES
A& A< Share capital 33 24,630,493 24,630,493 24,630,493
i Reserves 21,329,112 18,926,541 16,728,445
AAFAEREFEA Total equity attributable to equity
iR AE shareholders of the Company 45,959,605 43,557,034 41,358,938
TR R Non-controlling interests 47,015,209 37,000,310 36,300,324
MR TOTAL EQUITY 92,974,814 80,557,344 77,659,262

RZZE-_WF=ZA=+<H
REFIE -

Bai

REFSHEIE
2024.

B B
Xiaosong

EF

Director

%1442 300 BRI IR A SRR A — 305 ©
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Deng Rong

Director

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 March

The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

R

Share
capital

(ZE_E_=F+-_A=1+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

B

Capital
reserve

(UARBZ7)  (Expressed in RMB)

AR RRERFEE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

R ng EX
BeBfE  AOEG  ERER  RBHE  HERE  RE it FBRER
Statutory Property  Exchange Non-
surplus Merger revaluation fluctuation Other  Retained controlling
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  eamings Total interests

ARRTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ABBTT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
AV 000 RV 000 RMB000 RMB000 RV 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
RZBZ=F-A-H  At1January 2023 24,630,493 (5,458,580) 124,144 (447,172) 491,103 (2,403,823) 14411 26,606,458 43,557,034  37,000310 80,557,344
ERET Profit for the year - - - - - - - 3854247 3854247 392075 7775003
EMEMRENE:  Other comprehensive income
for the year:
BERERENMNES  Exchange differences on translation of
EAMELZE operations outside Mainland China - - - - - (187,000) - - (187,000) (1,376)  (188,376)
FEXHIEMER  Remeasurement gain on a defined
iElE benefit plan - - - - - - 12,748 - 12,748 (1487) 11261
ERTRENERERN Gain on revaluation of property,
£ FHRREENRE  plantand equipment upon transfer
MHA to investment propertes, net of tax - - - - - - - 512 120433
AERELALL Share of other comprehensive income
Galia of associates - - - - - - (13) - (13) 0] (15)
FREENREE Total comprehensive income for the
year - - - - 115,221 (187,000) 12735 3854247 3795203 3923103 7,718,306
BEETREELS  Other equity movements from
EhEREY investments under the equity method - (5923 - - - - - - (5923 - (5923
FERERIE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - (38,911) - - - - - - (38911) 3668434 3,629,523
FARERERHN  Copital reduction by
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - (5,949) (5,949)
WESREZBHE  Eouitysettled restricted stock incentive
RERBIH AR plan expense - 83,896 - - - - - - 83,896 57,995 141,891
WEHELT Acguisitions of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 5583345 5583345
IR REs Acquisitions of non-controling interests - (173739 - - - - = - (173738)  (343102)  (516,836)
ER-E-ZEREKE 2022 final dividend declared (Note 12)
Mﬁ 2) - - - - - - - (879965 (879.965) - (879.95)
AREABAERN  Distrioutions to holders of financil
ﬁmﬂlﬁﬁﬁ % instruments classified as equity - - - - - - - - - (127,800  (127,800)
MFEERRRERRE  Dividend dedlared to non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - (2753724 (2753,724)
Eft Others - (324,685) - - - - - - (324,685) 12,597 (312,088)
ik Jatt At 31 December 2023
+28zt-A UENAR (I 0404 (T2 6063 (2SI0R  2LM6 2900740 45ISIES  ATONN9 92974814

* ZERBEERGAMBRREANZGEHE
ARM21,329,112,000t (ZE == += A
=+—H: AR#18,926,541,0007T) °

F 1442300 BRI TR A A TRER A — 305 ©

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB21,329,112,000
(31 December 2022: RMB18,926,541,000) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(E-F-=F+-A=+—HIFE Fortheyearended 31 December 2023
(UAR#22)  (Expressed in RMB)

kS
Btk Bk REET i
Statutory Property  Exchange Non-

Share Capital surplus Merger  revaluation  fluctuation Other Retained controlling Total

capial resenve resenve resenve resenve fesenve feseve eamings Total  interests equity

ARBTT ARBTT AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR AEETT AEETT AEETR AEETR
RUBE0 RUBED RUBED RUB0D U0 B0 ABO0D RUB00D RUB 00D RUB00D RUB00D

RITZZE-A-B AT January 2022 (Restated)

(mE5) 24630493 (5,712,261) 124,144 (447.172) 443891 (1,601,436) 1125 23920154 41358938 36,300,324 77,659,262
il Profit for the year - - - - - - - 3500270 3500270 3157659 6,657,929
EREMZENE:  Other comprehensive income

for the year:
BERERENNER  Bchange differences on transation of

EAMELZS operations outside Mainland China - - - - - (802,387) - - (802387) (5756)  (808.143)
REXRHEMET  Remeasurement gain on a defined

BEL ¢ benefit plan - - - - - - 13,286 - 13,286 3622 16,908
EEZRENEHBER  Gainon revaluation of property, plant

% BERRED  and equipment upon transfer to

Wi HIRFE investment properties, net of tax - - - - 4212 - - - 47m - 4212
ERZANRER Total comprehensive income for the

year - - - - 47,212 (802,387) 13,86 3500270  2,758381 3155525 5913906
FiRER g Capital contribution from

non-controlling interests - 233,722 - - - - - - 233,122 525,070 758,792
SHEREREREE  Capital reduction by non-controling

interests - - - - - - - - - (863,218)  (863,218)
EnERERN Issuance of finandial instruments

$BIA dlassified as equity - - - - - - - - - 2997669 2,997,669
BEABRERD Redemption of financial instruments

SBIA dlassified as equity - - - - - - - - - (3,017,635 (3,017,636)
Wi R RER Acquisiions of non-controlling

interests* - (31,095) - - - - - (894) (31,989)  (382,181)  (414,170)
IERBEZRAM  Fquity-settled restricted stock incentive

RERBTERY plan expense - 49732 - - - - - - 49,732 49820 99,552
WENELA Acquisitions of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 35514 355514
HE-ERBLINTE Effects on disposal of a subsiciary - - - - - - - - - 4,887 4,887
WeEnhEs Acquisitions of non-controling interests - 130 - - - - - - 132 Q73480 (72,169)
EE-Z--FRERE 2021 final dividend dedlared (Note 12)

(Mz12) - - - - - - - B1BT) @137 - @1Bm
AEEABAESD  Distributions to holders of financial

PRMIEREE instruments classified as equity - - - - - - - - - 8019 (80019
RAERRREERRE  Dividend dedared to non-controling

shareholders - - - - - - - - - (1,771,958  (1,771,958)
RZE--F At 31 December 2022 (Restated)
TZA=t-B(LE7)) 24630493 (5,458,580) 124,144 (447172 491103 (2403823 14411 26606458  43557,034  37,000310 80,557,344

* RZZZZF ARAIMBRABNIREERSD  * In 2022, Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical”),

E[SE'( RI(NIREEE])  ZEHEBEERNGE China Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“CR Double-Crane”),
”“ﬁ (TEHEs]) &iliﬁijl% ZRMH AR and China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“CR Sanjiu”),
AR ([FEH=ZN]) SLAREAE ARG KRE subsidiaries of the Company, repurchased its shares for equity-settled restricted
BENET S BB EAR Y - stock incentive plan.
%1442 300 BRI TR A IS e R 9 — 30 The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.

140 2023 F3 EHBHEBABRAD



,w\ fﬁimu ?%
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEZT-=F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
(UARBZ7)  (Expressed in RMB)

2023 2022

F: ARMTFR ARBFT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
(8 E51)
(Restated)
RESER Operating activities
B B A1 5 ) Profit before taxation 9,880,227 8,361,081
T EIEH Adjustments for:
BB KA Finance costs 7 2,386,312 2,453,466
DI ERNEI A EDERF  Share of profits of associates and
joint ventures (417,106) (332,341)
B A Interest income 7 (587,686) (721,177)
HEWE  BEMKEERR  Loss on disposal of items of property,

518 plant and equipment 6 12,196 799
HEWE QRS Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 6 (38,686) (335,640)
P AR E E R W Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 6 (26,548) -
R E Y E R W Gain on disposal of investment properties 6 (10,814) -
EBARBESAEZEDN Fair value changes of financial assets at

TREENAAEEESD fair value through profit or loss 6 21,337 (17,413)
WEMERAREEE Fair value changes of investment properties 6 24,649 125,582
BIEERIZ AR BERA Loss on derecognition of trade receivables

EfezEK=1TENES measured at fair value through other

USRI B 18 comprehensive income 6 450,667 478,746
ME - HERERENTE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 8(b) 1,948,020 1,530,525
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8(b) 625,810 611,468
BB ER Amortisation of intangible assets 8(b) 590,535 416,448
HEERRIBREHE Impairment loss recognised on assets 1,135,928 975,758
BT B Government grants (91,898) (93,210)
HHEERETENEE Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete

inventories 8(b) 210,282 91,672

AR E 2 RH MR ZEME)  Equity-settled restricted stock incentive plan
FrEIR S expense 8(a) 141,891 99,552
16,255,116 13,645,316

%1442 300 BRI ST A SRR A — 305 ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(E_T-=F+-F=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
(AN 22%1)  (Expressed in RMB)

2023 2022

B E AR¥T R ARBTT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
(B E3)
(Restated)
MToNBIEZE) : Changes of:
FEEM Increase in inventories (2,668,151) (2,233,365)
B 5 K E b g U SR IE 5 N Increase in trade and other receivables (6,077,390) (6,440,729)
JrE W BB 75 SR IB 3 N Increase in amounts due from related parties (256,520) (357,482)
B 5 I Ho At FE A IR N Increase in trade and other payables 10,910,226 8,109,156
a ,\’Tﬁﬁi‘ hn Increase in contract liabilities 279,436 704,953
JE T BAES: 5 SR IER Decrease in amounts due to related parties (405,700) (235,295)
Hi3Emsa &R Decrease in other non-current liabilities (180,481) (149,155)
REFMBRE Cash generated from operations 17,856,536 13,043,399
EFEH Income tax paid (2,306,650) (2,222,261)
RETHFESRELTEFHE Net cash flows generated from operating
activities 15,549,886 10,821,138
REFEE Investing activities
HEWE  WERERBER - Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
WEMERGRAEEE plant and equipment, investment properties
FTS 3R and right-of -use assets 176,954 73,046
HEEMRESREEFSHKIE Proceeds from disposal of other current
financial assets 22,355,447 27,833,781
s mEEERSRIE Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 2,034 43,921
HEH B QA Disposal of subsidiaries 39,847 422,152
BRI R E TR FEE Net changes in pledged and term deposits 306,975 1,166,625
BWCRE Interest received 587,686 721,177
B Uk H)ZH@‘% ENETR#S) Dividend received from associates 87,851 32,443
[ B 2 N B BVt Advances to associates 937,000 1,481,580
ST BB #5 Bh Receipt of government grants 53,040 111,552
BEMX BERKEEE Purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment (2,523,237) (2,279,455)
REBTEE Purchase of intangible assets (478,948) (346,434)
REFHAEESE Purchase of right-of-use assets (130,530) (114,173)
UBEKT B A A) - IR B U (B fF)Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash
e received/(paid) 646,533 (917,768)
AR IR B R Payments for equity investment = (2,611,800)
HEBERATREERE Disposal of associates and joint ventures 24,000 14,053
HERBERNRIREEE Investments in associates and joint ventures (82,650) (105,520)
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂm@]%mﬂﬁ@ Purchases of other current financial assets (24,069,289) (26,344,419)
RETEFTAMNBESREFSE  Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,067,287) (819,239)
£ 144 % 300 BB AR iR o — 5o The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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mERERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEZT-=F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
(UARBZ7)  (Expressed in RMB)

2023 2022

B &% AR¥T R ARETT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
(B E3)
(Restated)
RESEE Financing activities
RITERFTERIA Proceeds from bank borrowings 25(b) 83,183,860 86,174,664
BITESFFTS A Proceeds from issuances of bonds 25(b) 2,000,000 2,000,000
(BERMEBRARER),F M (Repayment of)/proceeds from loans from
Ly /N mﬁﬁ?%?ﬂ intermediate holding companies 25(b) (5,212,976) 2,303,862
BITHH 7'53* K AFEFHFT1S Proceeds from issue of perpetual securities
I8 classified as equity - 2,997,669
ERSEREANEHIA Redemption of financial instruments classified
as equity - (3,017,636)
IR FEE Capital contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 3,629,523 758,792
FE 12 I 2 B AN EI R Capital reduction by non-controlling interests = (863,218)
EERITER Repayment of bank borrowings 25(b) (80,169,884) (90,342,443)
EEEMNES Repayment of bonds payable - (1,000,000)
BESHELFMERES Proceeds from/(repayment of) asset-backed
(EREEXHES) securities 1,146,130 (539,682)
YHRHEEEaRE Payments of lease liabilities 25(b) (627,943) (554,803)
EScAalipa Repayment of related parties 25(b) (1,628,194) (1,986,573)
EARHE Interest paid (2,643,778) (1,936,531)
EIIRE Dividend paid 25(b) (879,965) (813,072)
B IEE R AR R AR B Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders ~ 25(b) (2,345,257) (1,892,929)
BB o] Y B8 2 R A 19 Repurchase of shares of a subsidiary (516,835) (414,170)
BMEETHFFARSRERHE Net cash flows used in financing activities (4,065,319) (9,126,070)
BERREESEYEMFEEE Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,417,280 875,829
—A—BHWERERESLEMEY Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 15,223,726 14,315,973
SNEEXSEHNEZE  F8 Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net 9,664 31,924
+TZA=+—HMEER Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
ReZEY 24,650,670 15,223,726

%1442 300 BRI ST A SRR A — 305 ©

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

The notes on pages 144 to 300 form part of these financial statements.
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e M EHRRNEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZZT-=F+-A=+—HIFE Fortheyearended 31 December 2023
(BIFE B - B AU REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 REAIREEEHR 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
ZEHBEEBEBERAR(ARAD R K China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“the Company”) is a
REBTFMRZOKROERAAE - HEKG public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are
REABEXZMARAR LM - BZF listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 28
—RNFETAZTNBRER - AEZEFR October 2016. Its immediate holding company is CRH (Pharmaceutical)
NAREREE (B ARAR([EEHE Limited (“CRHP"), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(B — xR EBREAHES ([HE (“BVI”) and its ultimate holding company is China Resources Company
BZES)FMEIHRA)  MEREK Limited (“CRCL"), a state-owned enterprise established in the People’s
ERARAPRHEBER AT ([FEHE Republic of China (the “PRC").

Bl —RRPEARKME (THE]) K
VEBEBRE)

AR AR EE P B E st A A 3 2 S B The address of the registered office and the principal place of business
EEEBETABE2REBRELE of the Company is Room 4104-05, 41/F, China Resources Building, 26
4104-05 % ° Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
ARAB—RREERRAA - ARG RA The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
MEAR((AER]) TEXEEBHELRE subsidiaries (“the Group”) is principally engaged in the manufacture,
mEELE - DERTE - distribution and retail of pharmaceutical and healthcare products.
BB E L RANER Information about subsidiaries
ARAREZMBERATMFEBET : Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as follows:
EMAL/ BRTEER/
GRS Rl ES R A AAREEERRER AL TEEH
Percentage of effective equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ interest attributable to the
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital Company Principal activities
2023 2022
ZEEERRERLA hE/TEAL B 18,507,000,000 0 100% 100% BAREK
(=B (W 200)
China Resources Pharmaceutical PRC/Mainland China RMB18,507,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited Company
("CR Pharmaceutical Holdings")
(Note (2)(c)
EERERBERLA hE/TEAL AR 3,500,000,0007C 100% 100% BAREK
(FEREEREA] QW)
China Resources Pharmaceutical PRC/Mainland China RMB3,500,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Company Limited
("CR Pharmaceutical Investment”)
(Note (2)(o)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financia

Statements

F+ZRA=+—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2023

(BIEE B0 - B AN RIEZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

BRITEER/

RRER BB YES EfRA ARAEEERRERD L
Percentage of effective equity
interest attributable to the

Company

IRER

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital

Name of company

Principal activities

EB-NBERNERAR

(MER=AD (W) RQ)ID)

China Resources Sanjiu Medical &

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ("CR Sanjiu")

(Notes (1) and (2)(d))
ERFMWE (M Qb))
China Resources Dong-E-E-Jiao

(Note (2)(b)

RAMBRAERAR

(TREEB L) () - Qd RG)

Dong-E-E-Jiao Company Limited
("Dong-E-E-Jiao")
(Notes (1), (2)(d) and (3))

HRBEEEARRELF ()

Beijing Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(Note (2)(a)

EHIPREEREMALT

([ERTHEE]) (HEQ0)

China Resources Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.

("CR Jiangzhong Group") (Note (2)(b))

THRER (W) QdRE)
Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical
(Notes (1), (2)(d) and (3))

EHEBERRNERAR

([ERLE]) (HE() RQI)

China Resources Double-Crane
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
("CR Double-Crane")
(Notes (1) and (2)(d))

hE/ AR

PRC/Mainland China

RE/RE R
PRC/Mainland China

hE/ AR

PRC/Mainland China

RE/RE R
PRC/Mainland China

hE/ AR

PRC/Mainland China

RE/RE R
PRC/Mainland China

HE/HER

PRC/Mainland China

AR%988,184,000 T

RMB988, 184,000

ARE422,T1,675T
RMB422,771,675

ARH 643,976,824

RMB643,976,824

AR%2,320,000,0007C
RMB2,320,000,000

AR 252,441,045

RMB252,441,045

AR%629,356,958 T
RMB629,356,958

AR1,039,740,001 7T

RMB1,039,740,001

2023

63%

63%

56.62%
56.62%

2231%

2231%

100%
100%

60.55%

60.55%

26.08%
26.08%

60.19%

60.19%

2022

62.99%

62.99%

56.62%
56.62%

2231%

2231%

100%
100%

51.34%

51.34%

22.11%
22.11%

59.99%

59.99%

EREEREE
Manufacture and sale of

pharmaceutical products

REZR
Investment holding
EREERHEE

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products

REER

Investment holding
BREERHE
Manufacture and sale of

pharmaceutical products

EREEREE
Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products

BRAERHE

Manufacture and sale of
pharmaceutical products

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZZT-=F+-A=+—HIFE Fortheyearended 31 December 2023
(BIFE B - B AU REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 RAIREEEHR (&) 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
BEMBLARNER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
HMAL/ BRTLER/
RRER BB YES EfRA RAREEERRER AL TEEH
Percentage of effective equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ interest attributable to the
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital Company Principal activities
2023 2022
FEREEZEEERAA HE/HEA AR 17,419,759,142 7 86.11% 100% #REHE
(rEEBEEx]) (FEQb)
China Resources Pharmaceutical PRC/Mainland China RMB17,419,759,142 86.11% 100%  Trading of pharmaceutical
Commercial Group Co., Ltd. products
("CR Pharmaceutical Commercial”)
(Note (2)(b)
RIER-NEEEFERLA HE/HEA AR 60,000,000 63% 6299% Em#HE
(FF3E (2)(b))
Shenzhen Huarun Sanjiu Medicine PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 63% 62.99%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Trading Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
AIZBAFEXERADNEQW0) FE/ PEA ARH497,019,0007T 63% 6299% EREE
Shenzhen Huarun Jiuxin Pharmaceutical  PRC/Mainland China RMB497,019,000 63% 62.99%  Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) pharmaceutical products
ZHURBEARLAT(WEQL)  HE/HERS AR 1,572,860,0007T 86.11% 100% ERHE
China Resources Shandong PRC/Mainland China RMB1,572,860,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
ZEREREARLAF(MEQL)  FE/HERS AR 1,004,100,0007T 86.11% 100% ERHE
China Resources Liaoning Pharmaceutical ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,004,100,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
ZETEBEARLR(WEQL)  FE/HERS ARH2,191,496,8007T 86.11% 100% ERHE
China Resources Henan Pharmaceutical ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB2,191,496,800 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZT-=F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
(BIEE B0 - B AN RIEZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

NRIREEER () 1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

EEMBLRANESR (&)

HREL/ BRTEER
RRER BiEE S EHHHM ARAEEERRERD L TEEH
Percentage of effective equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ interest attributable to the
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital Company Principal activities
2023 2022
THEBEXAREALANEQW) +E/ PEAKL AR 182,608,670 60.19% 59.99% EmEERHEE
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical (Anhui) PRC/Mainland China RMB82,608,670 60.19% 59.99%  Manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) pharmaceutical products
IREBEXLEARATLA HE/TARS AR¥59,327,096 T 60.19% 5099% ERHE
(FiF3E (2)(0))
Double-Crane (Beijing) Pharmaceutical PRC/Mainland China RMB59,327,096 60.19% 59.99%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Management Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
ZRERBEARLA(MEQL)  FE/HERS AR %223,100,0007C 86.11% 100% ERHEE
China Resources Nantong Pharmaceutical - PRC/Mainland China RMB223,100,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
ZRTLBEARLR(HEQL)  FE/HERS AR 553,216,707 86.11% 100% ERHEE
China Resources Hebei Pharmaceutical ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB553,216,707 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
ZRTHBEARLA(MEQL)  FE/HERS ARH1,762,970,0007C 86.11% 100% ERHEE
China Resources Jiangsu Pharmaceutical ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,762,970,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
EEECORIR)EEERAF (30 v/ HEM AR 246,620,000 86.11% 100% EmiHE
(o))
China Resources Purenhong (Beijing) PRC/Mainland China RMB246,620,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
ZRRRBEARLA(MEQL)  PE/HERS AR 842,120,000 86.11% 100% ERHEE
China Resources Tianjin Pharmaceutical  PRC/Mainland China RMB842,120,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b) products
ZENLBEARAR(EEMLBE ) A/ PENY AR 352,000,000 70 51.67% 60% EmiE
(FiF3E (2)(0))
China Resources Hubei Pharmaceutical ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB352,000,000 51.67% 60%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. ("CR Hubei Pharmaceutical ) products
(Note (2)(o)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZZT-=F+-A=+—HIFE Fortheyearended 31 December 2023
(BIFE B - B AU REZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 RAIREEEHR (&) 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
BEMBLARNER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
HMAL/ BRTLER/
RRER BB YES Ef A ARAEEERRERD L TEEH
Percentage of effective equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ interest attributable to the
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital Company Principal activities
2023 2022

ZENREAREARLANEQWL) +E/ PEAL AR 220,000,000 86.11% 100% ERHE

China Resources Hunan Shuangzhou PRC/Mainland China RMB220,000,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products

FEERBEERLA HE/HEA AR H405,755,0007C 60.28% 0% ERHE
(rERREE]) (I3 2)0)

China Resources Guangdong PRC/Mainland China RMB405,755,000 60.28% 70%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. products
("CR Guangdong Pharmaceutical”)
(Note (2)(a)

ZERE(LE)BRAAMEQL) +E/PEA AR 70,000,000 60.28% 0% ERHE

China Resources (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB70,000,000 60.28% 70%  Sale of pharmaceutical
(Note (2)(b) products

ZENERRBEARLDNEQW) +&/PEAL AR 151,000,000 43.92% 51% Em#EE

China Resources Hunan Ruige PRC/Mainland China RMB151,000,000 43.92% 51%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. products
(Note (2)(b)

ZRERBREARLA(MEQW)  HE/HEMY AR% 219,630,000 86.11% 100% EmiEE

China Resources Qingdao PRC/Mainland China RMB219,630,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products

FREMBEARLT (MEQW)  HE/HERY AR % 575,000,000 86.11% 100% EmiEE

China Resources Jilin Pharmaceutical PRC/Mainland China RMB575,000,000 86.11% 100%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products

FRENERBERREELF HE/HEA AR 130,000,000 60.19% 59.99%  Em#EE
(FF3E (2)(0))

Beijing Saike Changsheng Pharmaceutical  PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 60.19% 59.99%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Company Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZT-=F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
(BIEE B0 - B AN RIEZ )  (Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

RNAREBER (F) 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
BREMBLARNER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
HMAL/ BRTLER/
RRER BB YES EfRA RAREEERRER AL TEEH
Percentage of effective equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ interest attributable to the
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital Company Principal activities
2023 2022
EEME(R) BEERAT HE/HEA AR 51,000,000 51.67% 60% EmHE
(& Qb))
China Resources Xinlong (Shanxi) PRC/Mainland China RMB51,000,000 51.67% 60%  Sale of pharmaceutical
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) products
EREBEAEXARADNEQW) +E/ PEA AR 88,067,000 63% 6299% EREE
China Resources Shenghuo PRC/Mainland China RMB88,067,000 63% 62.99%  Manufacture of
Pharmaceutical Holdings, Inc. pharmaceutical products
(Note (2)(b)
YEEZ(80)BRELLT HE/HEA AR 150,000,000 7T 60.19% 59.99% EREE
(& Qb))
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical (Hainan) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 60.19% 59.99%  Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. (Note (2)(b)) pharmaceutical products
Bk (B HEBRAR HE/HEA AR 51,000,000 63% 6299% EREE
(MREEE]) (W Qb)
Aonuo (China) Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB51,000,000 63% 62.99%  Manufacture of
("Aonuo Pharmaceutical”) pharmaceutical products
(Note (2)(b)
EERRLYHESERAERAT  HE/ PEAR ARIES04,248,738 1 29.28% 2928% EREE
(a1 R Q)
China Resources Boya Bio-pharmaceutical - PRC/Mainland China RMB504,248,738 29.28% 29.28%  Manufacture of
Group Company Limited pharmaceutical products
("CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical”)
(Notes (1) and (2)(d))
BRENNBEEREARA HE/HEA AR H600,000,0007T 30.16% 3006% EmiE - £EREE
(HEQb RE)
Shenzhou Biology & Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB600,000,000 30.16% 30.06%  Research and development,
Co., Ltd. (Notes (2)(b) and (3)) production and sale of
pharmaceutical products
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1 QAAKREEEH (&) 1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
BEMBLARNER () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
HREL/ BETLER/
RRER BiEE S Ef A ARAEEERRERD L TEEH
Percentage of effective equity
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ interest attributable to the
Name of company registration and business  registered share capital Company Principal activities
2023 2022
EEEERNERLA HE/HEA A% 758,255,769 17.65% TER By LEREE
(TREERE ) (H:E0) 20) &3)
KPC Pharmaceuticals, Inc ("KPC") PRC/Mainland China RMB758,255,769 17.65% N/A - Research and development,
(Note (1), 2(d) and 3) production and sale of
pharmaceutical products

BT Notes:

(1) EH=N EMMBREREEEYTY (1) CR Sanjiu, Dong-E-E-Jiao and CR Boya Bio-pharmaceutical are listed on
RENBEZGH LT MEPELS - the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and CR Double-Crane, Jiangzhong
THEYGEEEBR TR EEBELETS Pharmaceutical and KPC are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.

B B e

2 RPBEKIHMRBATINEERERER (2)  For those subsidiaries established in the PRC, their legal entity types are as
UNNE follows:

(@ FIHNEEEERTA (a)  Sino-foreign equity joint venture
by ABAREFEAF (b)  Limited liability company

(0 HNEBERF (©  Wholly foreign owned enterprise
(d  BHERLQA (d)  Joint-stock limited company

(3) RATBBIETENB AT ELEE (3) These entities are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the Company’s
SERIEE] - BEEAMB AT control over them through non-wholly-owned subsidiaries.

BEEEam g ARNAT HEREN 0 L Except for CR Pharmaceutical Holdings, which is held directly by the

MFEBHB AT ANATIMERES - Company, the remaining subsidiaries above are held indirectly by the

Company.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Material accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting period reflected
in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
rounded to the nearest thousand, while the functional currency
of the Company is Hong Kong dollars (“HK$").

Change of presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements were presented in HK$ in
prior years. Starting from the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group changed its presentation currency for the preparation of
its consolidated financial statements from HK$ to RMB. The
directors of the Company considered that the majority of the
Group's transactions are denominated and settled in RMB. This
enables shareholders and potential investors of the Company to
have a more accurate understanding of the Group’s financial
performance and therefore the directors of the Company
considers that it is more appropriate to adopt RMB as the
presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

The change in presentation currency have been applied
retrospectively. The Group has also presented the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 without
related notes.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

Change of presentation currency (continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in RMB, the assets and liabilities for the
consolidated statement of financial position are translated into
RMB at the closing rate at the respective reporting dates. Income
and expenses for the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group’s interest in associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

— investment property, including interests in leasehold land
and buildings held as investment property where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see Note
2(k);

— investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(0)).

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell (see
Note 2(1)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(9

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(continued)

Change of presentation currency (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies
(i) New and amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and amended
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements
for the current accounting period:

. HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

o Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred
tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a
single transaction

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(1)

New and amended HKFRSs (continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the new and
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

HKFRS 17, which replaces HKFRS 4, sets out the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
requirements applicable to issuers of insurance contracts.
The standard does not have a material impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not have contracts
within the scope of HKFRS 17.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

The amendments provide further guidance on the
distinction between changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates. The amendments do not
have a material impact on these financial statements as the
Group’s approach in distinguishing changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates is consistent
with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information and provide guidance on
applying the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosure. The Group has revisited the accounting policy
information it has been disclosing and considered it is
consistent with the amendments.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(1)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

New and amended HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not apply to
transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary
differences on initial recognition such as leases and
decommissioning liabilities. For leases and decommissioning
liabilities, the associated deferred tax assets and liabilities
are required to be recognised from the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings or
other components of equity at that date. For all other
transactions, the amendments are applied to those
transactions that occur after the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply the
initial recognition exemption to lease transactions and had
recognised the related deferred tax, except that the Group
previously determined the temporary difference arising
from a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability on a
net basis on the basis they arise from a single transaction.
Following the amendments, the Group has determined the
temporary differences in relation to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. The change primarily impacts
disclosures of components of deferred tax assets and
liabilities in Note 30(a), but does not impact the overall
deferred tax balances presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as the related deferred tax
balances qualify for offsetting under HKAS 12.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(9

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(1)

(i)

New and amended HKFRSs (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: International tax
reform — Pillar Two model rules

The amendments introduce a temporary mandatory
exception from deferred tax accounting for the income tax
arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
("OECD") (income tax arising from such tax laws is
hereafter referred to as “Pillar Two income taxes”),
including tax laws that implement qualified domestic
minimum top-up taxes described in those rules. The
amendments also introduce disclosure requirements about
such tax including the estimated tax exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes. The amendments are immediately effective
upon issuance and require retrospective application. The
adoption of this amendments does not have a material
impact on the Group.

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
"Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to mandatory provident fund (“MPF"”) scheme to reduce
the long service payment (“LSP") in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date (the abolition
of the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in
respect of the service before the Transition Date will be
calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the years of
service up to that date.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

(i)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
(continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. In particular, the guidance
indicates that entities may account for the accrued benefits
derived from mandatory MPF contributions that are
expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to an
employee as deemed contributions by that employee
towards the LSP.

However, applying this approach, upon the enactment of
the Amendment Ordinance in June 2022, it is no longer
permissible to apply the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 that previously allowed such deemed
contributions to be recognised as reduction of service cost
(negative service cost) in the period the contributions were
made; instead these deemed contributions should be
attributed to periods of service in the same manner as the
gross LSP benefit.

The adoption of this new guidance does not have a
material impact on the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control
commences until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or
losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests (“NCI"”) either at fair value or at the
NCl's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets. NCI are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. NCI in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of NCI and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with Note 2(r) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and
other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.
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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note
2(h)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal Group classified as held for sale).

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require the
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates or joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments
in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint
ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates or joint ventures.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(e)

(f)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture,
the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or
joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets include an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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(continued)
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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

()

(9)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
Level T —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly

or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

Level 3 —

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties and non-current assets/a disposal group classified as
held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for
impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(h)

(i)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
a. the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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% (4&) (i) Related parties (continued)
ZARFEUNTAEMNBEANE b.  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

i
g -

@

(i)

ZEREAEBEER—
SEMKERA

—HXEBAAS RER
IR —REBWNER
CIRNN = PNCE A e

—~

)

applies:

@

(ii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

BAAE) M E RTINS
B
(iii) uxg\ﬁfiﬁi$%li’]ﬁbﬂ (i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
FZTMEERE: same third party;

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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(iv)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

MEELE ME—K other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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(vi)

(vii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or a jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence

ﬁ‘%ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%%ﬁi% over the entity or is a member of the key
ZERE (K VEE“E’J! management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
AEEEEERKE of the entity); and

ZEBAEEMEBRK

(viii)

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

BERAEIREBETEEEA part, provides key management personnel services to
ERBTAEEIAE the Group or to the parent of the Group.

EASYNS

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further explained
in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
estimated useful lives of Property, plant and equipment are as
follows:

Building 20-35 years

Machinery and equipment ~ 5-10 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 5 years

Motor vehicles 2-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 3-10 years
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

)
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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(k)

)

Investment properties (continued)

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a
property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-
use asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference at
that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to
be the case, the asset or disposal group must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal
groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values
less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, such as certain
trademarks, are tested for impairment annually either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Except for certain capitalised development costs not yet available
for use, intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods: Intangible assets are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The principal estimated
useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Patents and licences
Non-patent technology

5 to 20 years
51to 10 years

Trademarks 5 to 20 years
Customer relationships 10 to 20 years
Others 5to 10 years
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Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of
their stand-alone prices. A practical expedient is available to a
lessee, which the Group has adopted, not to separate non-lease
components and to account for the lease and the associated non-
lease components (e.g., property management services for leases
of properties) as a single lease component.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n) Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Building
Other equipment

2 to 60 years
2 to 50 years
1to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of
a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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(n)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of buildings, machinery
and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(n)

China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised
over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in
which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is
capitalised at the present value of the lease payments and related
payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a
receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
The finance income on the net investment in the lease is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of return over the lease terms.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(o)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive